

LUND UNIVERSITY

Stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors

Bexell, Daniel

2008

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Bexell, D. (2008). *Stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Neurosurgery]. Avd för Neurokirurgi, Inst för kliniska vetenskaper, Medicinska fakulteten, Lunds Universitet.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Download date: 04. Jul. 2025

Akademisk avhandling

Stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors

Mesenchymal and neural precursor cells as migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas

av

Daniel Bexell

Som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i Segerfalksalen, Wallenberg Neurocentrum, Lunds Universitet, Lund.

Onsdagen den 17:e december kl.09.15

Avdelningen för Neurokirurgi Institutionen för kliniska vetenskaper Medicinska fakulteten Lunds Universitet



LUNDS UNIVERSITET

Fakultetsopponent: Professor Bengt Westermark Rudbecklaboratoriet Institutionen för genetik och patologi Uppsala Universitet

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Division of Neurosurgery	Date of issue
Lund Stem Cell Center	
	Sponsoring organization
Lund University, Lund, Sweden	
Author(s) Daniel Bexell	

Title and subtitle Stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors Mesenchymal and neural precursor cells as migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas

Abstract Malignant brain tumor is a highly invasive and vascularized cancer. Current forms of therapy are not curative and can, at best, prolong survival for patients with this disease. The mean survival is only around 15 months. The aims of the present thesis have been to develop and explore a stem cell based vector system for delivery of therapeutic transgenes to experimental gliomas.

First, we investigated the frequency and properties of cancer stem cell (CSC)-like cells in the rat glioma models used in the present thesis. Virtually all cells within both glioma models concomitantly express CD133, nestin as well as the neural lineage markers glial fibrillary acidic protein, βIII-tubulin and CNPase *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Unsorted tumor cells displayed very high clonogenic capacity *in vitro* and robust tumorigenicity *in vivo*. Thus, CSC-like cells do not reside within a rare sub-population of cells in these glioma models but constitute most, or all, cells.

We next examined the subventricular zone (SVZ) response to growth of malignant glioma. Tumor growth resulted in decreased numbers of SVZ proliferating cells, increased SVZ neuroblast immunoreactivity, and migration of striatal neuroblasts from the SVZ toward glioma. Although endogenous neuroblast migration toward gliomas was of moderate magnitude, this indicates a region specific reparative mechanism in response to tumor growth. We continued by implanting rat SVZ-derived neural precursor cells (NPCs) and rat multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) into gliomas. Intratumorally implanted NPCs and MSCs migrated specifically within gliomas and largely avoided normal brain tissue. Importantly, implanted NPCs and MSCs did not proliferate within tumors. This indicates a low risk of development of secondary malignancies. A comparative analysis revealed higher survival and better intratumoral migratory capacity of implanted MSCs, compared to NPCs.

Intratumorally implanted MSCs migrated to the majority of the invasive glioma extensions and to a substantial fraction of distant tumor microsatellites. Furthermore, implanted MSCs integrated into tumor blood vessel walls and expressed pericyte markers but not endothelial cell markers. The pericyte marker expression profile and perivascular location of implanted MSCs indicate that these cells act as pericytes within tumors. MSC implantation did not, however, affect tumor microvessel density or the survival of glioma-bearing animals.

In summary, gliomas can attract endogenous striatal neuroblasts from the SVZ. However, intratumoral implantation of NPCs and MSCs yields a much more powerful, and tumor-specific, infiltration within gliomas. In particular, pericytelike MSCs represent a well suited vector system for the delivery of therapeutic transgenes to vascularized and invasive gliomas.

Key words: cancer, glioma, rat, cancer stem cell, subventricular zone, neuroblast, mesenchymal stem cell, neural stem cell, pericyte

Classification system and/or index termes (if any):

Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language English
ISSN and key title:		ISBN
1652-8220		978-91-86059-76-7
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	

Distribution by (name and address)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Bexell

Date 2008-11-10

Academic dissertation

Stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors

Mesenchymal and neural precursor cells as migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas

by

Daniel Bexell

Division of Neurosurgery Department of Clinical Sciences Lund Stem Cell Center Lund University, Lund, Sweden



Cover: Tissue section of a rat brain demonstrating rat eGFP+ multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs, green) implanted into established N29dsRed glioma (red). 10 days after implantation, MSCs migrate along invasive tumor extensions and to distant tumor microsatellites but not to normal brain tissue. Modified version of the original image. Cover artwork by Bengt Mattsson and Daniel Bexell.

ISBN 978-91-86059-76-7 © Daniel Bexell 2008 Printed by Grahns Tryckeri AB, Lund, Sweden

Till min familj

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	11
SUMMARY	13
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING	19
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	23
ABBREVIATIONS	25
BACKGROUND	29
MALIGNANT BRAIN TUMORS	29
Introduction to malignant brain tumors	29
Histopathology	29
Genetics and epigenetics	30
Invasive growth	30
Role of tumor stroma in tumor growth	30
Angiogenesis	31
EXPERIMENTAL ANIMAL MODELS OF BRAIN TUMORS	32
STEM CELLS	33
Introduction to adult stem cells	33
Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells	33
Adult neural stem cells and neurogenesis	34
CANCER STEM CELLS	35
Cancer stem cells in human brain tumors	35
Cancer stem cells in experimental glioma models	37
TREATMENT OF MALIGNANT BRAIN TUMORS	38
Challenges in the treatment of malignant brain tumors	38
Conventional treatment	38
Immunotherapy	39
Molecular targeting	40
Gene therapy	40
Stem cell tropism to gliomas	40

Factors involved in stem cell tropism to gliomas Requirements of stem cells in glioma therapy	41 42
AIMS	45
RESULTS AND COMMENTS	49
DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	59
Methodology: Can the results be trusted?	59
Can cancer stem cells be assessed in experimental glioma cell lines?	59
Are N29 and N32 rat gliomas relevant models of human brain tumors?	61
What is the magnitude of endogenous neuroblast migration toward gliomas? What are the possible functions of endogenous neuroblast migration toward	63
gliomas?	64
Which type of cell is most efficient as a migratory delivery vehicle in gliomas?	65
Why do stem cells migrate toward and within tumors?	65
How should stem cells be administered?	66
How does implantation of multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells affect tumor	
growin?	6/
Can implanted stem cells form secondary malignancies?	68
What should stem cells deliver to gliomas?	68
Stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors – will it work in patients?	69
REFERENCES	73
ORIGINAL ARTICLES	83
I. CD133+ Tumor initiating cells dominate in N29 and N32 experimental gliomas	85
Shorings	05
II. Characterization of the subventricular zone neurogenic response to rat ma- lignant brain tumors	101
III. Comparative analysis of rat bone marrow-derived and subventricular zone- derived precursor cells as cellular vectors in glioma gene therapy	113
IV. Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells act as pericyte-like migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas	127

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The making of a doctoral thesis is dependent on the help of many. I wish to acknowledge the contributions of several people:

First, I thank my supervisor, Associate Professor **Johan Bengzon**, for memorable years! I was absolutely not expecting four years of intense research under your supervision when auscultating at one of your calls at the Neurosurgery clinic five years ago, but I am indeed happy it turned out this way. These years have been exciting, developing and rewarding. Thank you for providing a balance of both support and freedom. Your sharp ideas, concise scientific thoughts and writing skills have been inspiring. I appreciate all the challenging scientific discussions we have had.

I also thank my co-supervisor, Associate Professor **Peter Siesjö**, for sharing your vast knowledge in neuro-oncology and in tumor immunology, and for intriguing discussions.

The help of **Salina Gunnarsson** has been very valuable to my work. You have taken much time to help me with different parts of the projects. I am grateful for this as well as for fun and great traveling.

Professor Leif G. Salford, founder of the Rausing laboratory for experimental neurooncology, deserves special mention for continuous generosity, enthusiasm and support. The creation of a center for translational glioma research has been very important for the work of this thesis.

I am grateful to Professor **Olle Lindvall** for constructive comments on my half-time seminar and for generously letting me work in your laboratory.

All past and present members of the Rausing laboratory at the department of Neurosurgery have contributed to a friendly and helpful environment. Thank you Anna Darabi for good collaboration and very valuable technical help; Catarina Blennow and Susanne Strömblad for excellent laboratory assistance; my room-mate Oscar Persson for fun, numerous inspiring discussions and scientific ideas which, if implemented, will keep us busy for the next decade; Wiaam Badn, Sofia Eberstål, Anna Edqvist, Karin Enell Smith, Xiaolong Fan, Sara Fritzell, Linda Geironsson, Shorena Janelidze, Nivedita Nagachar, Henrietta Nittby, Johan Rebetz, Seema Rosqvist, Anna Rydelius, Professor Hans Olov Sjögren, Gunnar Skagerberg, Andreas Svensson, Edward Visse and Professor Bengt Widegren. My thanks are due also to the former students in our group: Jenny Nordquist, Sofia Andersson and Petra Bergmann.

12 Acknowledgments

Thank you, Gunilla Moullin and Gunnar Gunnarsson for continuous support.

Much work has been done at the Wallenberg Neuroscience Centre, which is a very stimulating scientific environment. Thank you for always being generous and supportive: Professor Anders Björklund, Ulla Jarl and Bengt Mattsson; Cilla Lundberg for constructive comments on my half-time seminar; everyone who in their own way contributed to the scientific atmosphere: Henrik Ahlenius, Andreas Arvidsson, Sara Bonde, Alex Danilov, Christine Ekdahl Clementson, Ursula Heldmann, Robert Iosif, Marie Jönsson, Katie Jakubs, Therése Kallur, Irene Kanter-Schlifke, Merab Kokaia, Zaal Kokaia, Pär Thored and James Wood. Thank you, James, for proofreading of the thesis.

In addition, **Tomas Björklund** has been a companion in interesting discussions and great travel to San Diego. **Anders Tingström** and my labdesk neighbors **Johan Hell-sten**, **Malin Wennström**, **Joakim Ekstrand**, **Linda Jansson** and **Karin Orre** have also stood for fun, technical advice and novel scientific ideas.

Members of the Lund Stem Cell Center have provided a fruitful scientific environment. In particular, I thank **Ulrike Nuber** for many brilliant lectures and seminars.

To Stefan Scheding, Ariane Tormin, Gesine Paul, Laurent Roybon, Anna Catarina Oliveira and David Gisselsson, I wish to extend my thanks for excellent collaboration.

My thanks are due also to **Jeppe Stridh**, **Michael Kindler** and **Susanne Geres** for taking good care of the animals.

The financial contributions of the Hans and Märit Rausing Charitable Trust, Lund University Hospital Foundations, the Medical Faculty at Lund University, the Royal Physiographic Society in Lund, and the Elsa Schmitz' foundation have made this dissertation possible and are gratefully acknowledged. The Lund Stem Cell Center is supported by a Center of Excellence Grant from the Swedish foundation for Strategic Research.

Thank you, my parents **Göran** and **Ingrid** and my sister **Magdalena** for constant support, encouragement, and for unsurpassed advice on non-scientific matters in science. My deepest gratitude goes to my beloved **Elisabet** for being enormously understanding, patient, and supportive at the same time. You enrich my life in so many ways! Finally, our daughter **Sofia** provides highlights every day through her pure existence and sunshine-like smiles.

SUMMARY

SUMMARY

Malignant brain tumor is a highly invasive and vascularized cancer. Current forms of therapy are not curative and can, at best, prolong survival for patients with this disease. The mean survival is only around 15 months. The aims of the present thesis have been to develop and explore a stem cell based vector system for delivery of therapeutic transgenes to experimental gliomas.

First, we investigated the frequency and properties of cancer stem cell (CSC)like cells in the rat glioma models used in the present thesis. Virtually all cells within both glioma models concomitantly express CD133, nestin as well as the neural lineage markers glial fibrillary acidic protein, β III-tubulin and CNPase *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Unsorted tumor cells displayed very high clonogenic capacity *in vitro* and robust tumorigenicity *in vivo*. Thus, CSC-like cells do not reside within a rare sub-population of cells in these glioma models but constitute most, or all, cells.

We next examined the subventricular zone (SVZ) response to growth of malignant glioma. Tumor growth resulted in decreased numbers of SVZ proliferating cells, increased SVZ neuroblast immunoreactivity, and migration of striatal neuroblasts from the SVZ toward glioma. Although endogenous neuroblast migration toward gliomas was of moderate magnitude, this indicates a region specific reparative mechanism in response to tumor growth. We continued by implanting rat SVZ-derived neural precursor cells (NPCs) and rat bone marrow-derived multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) into gliomas. Intratumorally implanted NPCs and MSCs migrated specifically within gliomas and largely avoided normal brain tissue. Importantly, implanted NPCs and MSCs did not proliferate within tumors. This indicates a low risk of development of secondary malignancies. A comparative analysis revealed higher survival and better intratumoral migratory capacity of implanted MSCs, compared to NPCs.

Intratumorally implanted MSCs migrated to the majority of the invasive glioma extensions and to a substantial fraction of distant tumor microsatellites. Furthermore, implanted MSCs integrated into tumor blood vessel walls and expressed pericyte markers but not endothelial cell markers. The pericyte marker expression profile and perivascular location of implanted MSCs indicate that these cells act as pericytes within tumors. MSC implantation did not, however, affect tumor microvessel density or the survival of glioma-bearing animals.

In summary, gliomas can attract endogenous striatal neuroblasts from the SVZ. However, intratumoral implantation of NPCs and MSCs yields a much more powerful, and tumor-specific, infiltration within gliomas. In particular, pericyte-like MSCs represent a well suited vector system for the delivery of therapeutic transgenes to vascularized and invasive gliomas.

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Cancer drabbar ca 50 000 personer varje år i Sverige. En del cancerformer kan man behandla med gott resultat men elakartad hjärntumör är en speciellt farlig och svårbehandlad cancer. Denna sjukdom drabbar ca 400 personer varje år och få patienter överlever mer än 2 år trots befintlig behandling som består av kirurgi, strålning och cellgifter.

Varför kan man inte bota elakartad hjärntumör?

Det finns många orsaker till att befintlig behandling inte kan bota patienter med elakartad hjärntumör. En orsak är tumörens invasiva växtsätt. Detta innebär att så kallade tumörutlöpare, likt bläckfiskarmar, växer från tumören in i den normala hjärnvävnaden och etablerar så kallade tumörmikrosatelliter som är avskilda från huvudmassan av tumören. Förekomsten av tumörutlöpare och tumörmikrosatelliter i kombination med tumörens placering i hjärnan komplicerar behandlingen eftersom man givetvis vill undvika att skada omkringliggande normal hjärnvävnad. Det finns alltså ett stort behov av nya behandlingsformer mot denna sjukdom.

Är stamceller intressanta för behandling av hjärntumör?

Stamceller är celler som har förmåga att dela sig upprepade gånger och därmed förnya sig själva. Dessutom kan en stamcell ge upphov till olika celltyper. Med stamceller försöker man reparera och ersätta skadade celler i kroppen. Vissa typer av stamceller kan också förflytta sig, migrera, specifikt i riktning mot vissa sjukdomsprocesser som till exempel cancer. Därmed skulle stamceller kunna användas som transportmedel för att leverera substanser som kan döda tumörcellerna. Den här avhandlingen undersöker just stamcellers migrerande förmåga i experimentell hjärntumör för att ta reda på om stamceller kan användas i framtida behandling av denna sjukdom.

Hur reagerar hjärnans egna stamceller på förekomst av hjärntumör?

Avhandlingen visar att det sker migration av neuroblaster (celler som härstammar från stamceller och är på väg att utvecklas till nervceller) från ett visst område i hjärnan specifikt mot hjärntumören. Neuroblasterna migrerar normalt sett enbart längs en speciell bana i hjärnan men förekomsten av hjärntumör gjorde att neuroblasterna delvis avvek från banan och sökte sig mot tumören. Vi vet emellertid inte vilken funktion de migrerande neuroblasterna har och om de motverkar eller gynnar tumörväxten. En hypotes är att neuroblasterna skulle kunna ersätta de nervceller som dött pga. tumörens växt. Migration av hjärnans egna neuroblaster mot tumören visade sig dock vara av måttlig mängd. Vi fortsatte därför att undersöka om man istället kan transplantera stamceller in i tumören.

Vad händer om man transplanterar stamceller in i hjärntumören?

Vi undersökte om två olika typer av stamceller, tagna från benmärgens stödjevävnad eller från hjärnan, kan användas som transportmedel av tumöravdödande substanser. Därför isolerade vi och odlade upp stamceller i stora mängder. Stamcellerna transplanterades sedan in i hjärntumörer. Avhandlingen visar att båda typerna av stamceller sprider ut sig snabbt inne i tumören och undviker normal hjärnvävnad. Fynden talar för att stamceller lämpar sig väl som transportmedel av tumöravdödande substanser som kan angripa tumörcellerna specifikt utan att skada normala hjärnceller. Det är också viktigt att veta att de transplanterade stamcellerna i sig inte bildar en ny tumör i hjärnan och förvärrar situationen. Det visade sig att de transplanterade stamcellerna inte fortsätter att dela sig inne i tumören vilket tyder på att det finns en mycket liten risk att stamcellerna ger upphov till en ny tumör. Avhandlingens resultat visar dessutom att benmärgsstamcellerna överlever och migrerar i tumören i större utsträckning än stamcellerna från hjärnan. Därför fortsatte vi att i detalj studera transplantation av benmärgsstamceller till hjärntumör.

Hur kan benmärgsstamceller användas som transportmedel i hjärntumör?

När benmärgsstamceller transplanterades rakt in i hjärntumören migrerade stamcellerna till en stor del av tumörutlöparna och till en mindre del av tumörmikrosatelliterna. Samtidigt undvek stamcellerna nästan helt normal hjärna. Detta visar att stamcellerna har förmågan att söka upp de mikroskopiska delar av tumören dit kirurgisk behandling inte når. Dessutom verkar benmärgsstamcellerna dras specifikt till tumörens blodkärl och i vissa fall integreras de i kärlväggen. Avhandlingen påvisar även likheter mellan benmärgsstamcellerna och en sorts celler i kärlväggen, pericyter, som är involverade i blodförsörjningen till tumören. Blodkärlsnybildningen är nödvändig för tumörens överlevnad och de transplanterade stamcellerna är därmed strategiskt väl placerade för att attackera tumörens kärlförsörjning.

Kommer stamceller att kunna användas i behandling av cancerpatienter?

Den här avhandlingen visar att stamceller som transplanterats in i experimentell hjärntumör sprider ut sig specifikt inne i tumören och förflyttar sig till nybildade tumörblodkärl. Därmed skulle stamcellerna kunna användas som transportmedel av substanser som motverkar tumörens växt. Det återstår att se om transplanterade stamceller migrerar även i mänsklig hjärntumör. Dessutom behövs mer forskning för att ta reda på vilken tumöravdödande substans som stamcellerna ska laddas med och leverera inne i tumören för att på bästa sätt minska tumörväxten. Avhandlingen behandlar specifikt hjärntumör men transplantation av stamceller, som bärare av tumöravdödande substanser, har visat sig framgångsrikt även vid behandling av många andra cancertyper. Därför kan avhandlingens fynd vara av generellt intresse för utvecklingen av nya behandlingsmetoder också mot andra cancerformer. Figur 1 visar ett tänkbart framtida behandlingsscenario för patienter med elakartad hjärntumör.



Figur 1. Ett tänkbart framtida behandlingsscenario för patienter med elakartad hjärntumör.

(1) Först tas ett benmärgsprov från en donator. (2) Ur benmärgsprovet isoleras stamceller från benmärgens stödjevävnad fram. Stamcellerna beväpnas med en substans som verkar mot tumörceller. Därefter odlas stamcellerna upp i stora mängder. (3) I samband med operation av hjärntumören sprutas stamcellerna in i kvarvarande tumör. (4) De beväpnade stamcellerna sprider ut sig inne i tumören och även till invasiva tumörceller. Stamcellerna levererar den tumöravdödande substansen och motverkar därmed tumörens växt vilket leder till förlängd överlevnad eller bot av patienten.

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

I. CD133+ Tumor Initiating Cells Dominate in N29 and N32 Experimental Gliomas (2008)

Bexell D*, Gunnarsson S*, Siesjö P, Bengzon J‡ and Darabi A‡ *shared first authorship, ‡shared senior authorship *International Journal of Cancer, conditionally accepted*

II. Characterization of the subventricular zone neurogenic response to rat malignant brain tumors (2007)
Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Nordquist J and Bengzon J Neuroscience, 147(3):824-32, 2007

III. Comparative analysis of rat bone marrow-derived and subventricular zone-derived precursor cells as cellular vectors in glioma gene therapy (2008)Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Tormin A, Oliveira AC, Paul G, Scheding S and Bengzon J *Manuscript*

IV. Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells act as pericyte-like migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas (2008)

Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Tormin A, Darabi A, Gisselsson D, Roybon L, Scheding S and Bengzon J

Molecular Therapy, in press

ABBREVIATIONS

α-sma	α-smooth muscle actin
BBB	blood-brain barrier
BrdU	5-bromodeoxyuridine
CNPase	2',3'-cyclic nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase
CSC	cancer stem cell
DCx	doublecortin
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGF	epidermal growth factor
eGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
EPC	endothelial progenitor cell
ENU	ethyl-nitrosourea
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization
GBM	glioblastoma multiformae
GEM	genetically engineered model
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
i.v.	intravenous
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MGMT	O ⁶ -methylguanine methyltransferase
MSC	multipotent mesenchymal stroma cell
NG2	neuron glia 2
NeuN	neuronal nuclei
NPC	neural precursor cell
NSC	neural stem cell
OB	olfactory bulb
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PDGFR	platelet-derived growth factor-receptor
PSA-NCAM	polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule
RECA	rat endothelial cell antigen
RMS	rostral migratory stream
SDF-1a	stromal derived factor-1a
SVZ	subventricular zone
TUNEL	terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated fluorescein-dUTP
	nick-end labelling
VE-Cadherin	vascular endothelial cadherin
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor

BACKGROUND

BACKGROUND

MALIGNANT BRAIN TUMORS

Introduction to malignant brain tumors

A tumor is "an abnormal mass of tissue that results when cells divide more than they should or do not die when they should. Tumors may be benign (not cancerous), or malignant (cancerous)"¹. Cancer is "a term used for diseases in which abnormal cells divide without control and are able to invade other tissues"¹. Cancer is characterized by alterations in cell physiology which include self-sufficiency in growth signals (i.e. growth factor production and autocrine stimulation), insensitivity to antigrowth signals, resistance to apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis and tissue invasion and metastasis². In Sweden, cancer is the second most common cause of death³.

The most common types of brain tumors are malignant gliomas, meningiomas, vestibular schwannomas and pituitary adenomas. The malignant gliomas are most common and encompass Glioblastoma multiformae (GBM), anaplastic astrocytoma, anaplastic oligodendroglioma, anaplastic oligoastrocytoma and other less common types of malignancies⁴. GBM is the most severe form and accounts for 60-70% of the malignant gliomas⁴. Secondary GBM develops from a previously known less malignant tumor while primary GBM is diagnosed *de novo* without knowledge of a preexisting tumor. It is, however, possible that primary GBM can undergo the same genetic and cellular changes as secondary GBM, but it is not diagnosed until progression to GBM has occurred⁵. The symptoms of GBM vary and include headache, epileptic seizures, focal neurological deficits, confusion, memory loss and personality changes⁶.

Histopathology

The World Health Organization classifies, on the basis of histopathological hallmarks, astrocytomas into four prognostic grades where GBM corresponds to grade IV. As the name *glioblastoma multiformae* indicates, this disease exhibits an extremely variable morphology. The histopathological features of GBM are poorly differentiated cells, nuclear atypia, mitotic activity, microvascular proliferation (i.e. endothelial cell proliferation) and necrosis. There are two main types of necrosis: (1) large central necrotic areas which may comprise 80% of the total tumor mass and can be seen as non-enhanced areas by neuroimaging, and (2) multiple small irregular necrotic areas surrounded by densely packed radially oriented tumor cells (pseudopalisades)⁷.

Genetics and epigenetics

The malignant transformation of astrocytes/precursor cells into tumor cells is driven by genetic and epigenetic alterations. In the development of high-grade astrocytomas from low-grade tumors there is a sequential acquisition of genetic alterations which means that GBM displays the highest numbers of genetic changes. Common mechanisms in tumor development are over-expression and amplification of proto-oncogenes and in-activation of tumor suppressor genes leading to loss of cell-cycle control. Gliomas are characterized by mutations of tumor suppressor genes PTEN, TP53, p16^{Ink4a}/p14^{ARF}, Rb and over-expression and/or amplification of epidermal growth factor-receptor (EGFR) and platelet-derived growth factor-receptor (PDGFR)- α^7 . In addition to genetic mutations, epigenetic changes like DNA methylation and histone deacetylation contribute to silencing of genes involved in DNA repair, tumor suppression and cell-cycle control⁸. Epigenetic silencing by methylation of the DNA repair gene O⁶-methylguanine methyltransferase (MGMT), which protects tumor cells from chemotherapy-induced DNA damage, is found in a subset of GBM patients and they show improved response to alkylating agents (e.g. Temozolomide)⁹.

Invasive growth

Invasion is a hallmark of malignant brain tumors which makes therapy very challenging. GBM typically grows with infiltrative tumor extensions along white matter fiber tracts and along blood vessels. The tumor extensions can reach far into the normal brain parenchyma. Distant tumor microsatellites, presumably separated from the main tumor, can be found several centimeters away from the main tumor mass. It has been suggested that more than 50% of untreated malignant brain tumors have reached the contralateral hemisphere at the time of diagnosis¹⁰. The process of cancer cell invasion includes cytoskeleton rearrangements, alterations in cell-cell adhesion molecules, changes in integrin expression, production and activation of extracellular matrix (ECM)-degrading proteases and production of specific ECM components which facilitate invasion^{2, 11}. Molecules involved in GBM cell invasion include CD44, integrins, cadherins, neural cell adhesion molecules, matrix metalloproteinases 2, 9 and 12, and ECM components tenascin C, vitronectin and laminin¹¹.

Role of tumor stroma in tumor growth

A solid tumor consists not only of tumor cells but also of tumor stroma. The major stromal components of GBM are reactive astrocytes, immune cells, endothelial cells, pericytes and ECM proteins. The growth and invasion of a malignant tumor is dependent on a close interaction between tumor cells and stromal components. Stromal cells can promote tumor growth and invasion by production of growth factors and ECM-

degrading enzymes but stromal cells might also inhibit tumor growth through other mechanisms¹². Several studies have shown that therapeutic targeting of tumor stroma can decrease tumor growth. Stromal cells are presumably not genetically unstable (as tumor cells) and these cells might therefore be less prone to develop drug resistance¹². The GBM vasculature consists of endothelial cells which form the inner lining of vessels and pericytes. Pericytes are perivascular cells which surround endothelial cells and are important for stabilization and functional maturation of newly formed blood vessels for example by production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)¹³.

Angiogenesis

Solid tumors are dependent of neovascularization to grow beyond a certain size¹⁴. Initially, GBM cells grow by *co-option* of pre-existing blood vessels. As the tumor grows, blood vessels become compressed and destabilized leading to reduced perfusion. Subsequently, hypoxia and cell death occurs which induce angiogenesis, i.e. new blood vessel formation from pre-existing endothelial cells. Up-regulation of hypoxia inducible factor 1- α and VEGF are key regulators in this process. In addition, circulating bone marrow-derived cells are believed to form new tumor vessels, a process called vasculogenesis¹³. Impaired recruitment of bone marrow-derived endothelial cells leads to inhibition of tumor angiogenesis and decreases tumor growth¹⁵. Depletion of tumor pericytes causes dysfunctional tumor vessels and increased apoptosis of tumor endothelial cells¹⁶. However, the contribution of bone marrow endothelial cells to tumor endothelium is controversial with reports ranging between $0 - 90\%^{17-20}$. Raiantie et al. showed that the main contribution of bone marrow to tumor vessels is to provide periendothelial vascular mural cells and not endothelial cells²¹. This was further supported by Bababeygy et al. showing that hematopoietic stem cell-derived pericytic cells become integrated in glioma vessels²².

GBM blood vessels are tortuous, disorganized and highly permeable/leaky which results in an abnormal and non-uniform blood flow. The abnormality of GBM vessels has been ascribed to transcellular and intercellular openings of endothelial cells²³ and to deficiencies in pericyte coverage^{13,24}. Vessel leakiness causes increased interstitial fluid pressure and heterogenous tumor blood flow. This makes efficient delivery of systemically administered drugs to tumors complicated¹³. Infiltrating tumor cells often make use of the existing brain vasculature (i.e. co-option) which has an intact blood-brain barrier²⁵.

EXPERIMENTAL ANIMAL MODELS OF BRAIN TUMORS

The clinical significance of the results from experimental animal studies depends on the models used to mimic the disease. Several experimental tumor models do not necessarily correlate with clinical features and may therefore yield false-positive results²⁶. In fact, most experimental glioma therapies, which have shown very potent results in animal models, have shown no or minimal effects in clinical GBM trials^{27, 28}. Accordingly, it is important to use tumor models that are relevant for the scientific question in focus.

The major strategies used to model malignant brain tumors *in vivo* are 1) chemical mutagen-induced models, 2) xenograft transplantation models, and 3) genetically engineered models (GEMs). Each model has its advantages and limitations and the choice of model should depend on the nature of the study²⁹.

In most chemical mutagen-induced models, gliomas are induced either by direct or transplacental exposure of a nitrosourea-derivate. Nitrosoureas are DNA alkylating agents which cause point mutations resulting in glioma formation. Rat glioma cell lines developed by nitrosourea injections include 9L, C6, F98, RG2, N29, and N32^{30, 31}. The genetic mutation that caused the tumors as well as the cell-of-origin are unknown al-though recent data suggest that cells from the subventricular zone (SVZ) are involved in tumor formation following nitrosourea injection³².

In the present thesis, the N29 and N32 glioma models are used. The models were originally developed by transplacental injection of ethyl-nitrosourea (ENU) to pregnant Fischer344 rats³³. The N29 tumor arose in the right hemisphere of a female offspring and the N32 tumor arose in the right hemisphere of a male offspring³³. Both N29 and N32 tumor cells proliferate rapidly *in vitro* and *in vivo*. N29 tumors exhibit GBM-like features including nuclear atypia, mitotic figures, neovascularization, necrosis and display a highly invasive growth pattern with infiltrative tumor extensions and distant tumor microsatellites³¹. N32 tumor cells give rise to a less invasive, although highly vascularized, tumor which resembles some of the features of human anaplastic astrocytoma³¹. Like human malignant brain tumors, N29 and N32 tumor cells produce the immunosuppressive factors nitric oxide and transforming growth factor- β^{31} .

A major limitation using rat glioma cell lines to model GBM is that tumor formation does not resemble the process of human GBM initiation and subsequent development. Human GBM acquires sequential genetic changes during months or years and exhibits a broad genetic heterogeneity. Rat glioma cell lines are thought to lack extensive genetic heterogeneity^{34, 35}. The advantages of using these models include high penetrance, high reproducibility and rapid tumor development²⁹. N29 and N32 have, in contrast

to many other experimental glioma models like the rat C6 glioma, a syngeneic host (i.e. the Fischer344 rat). This implies that N29 and N32 gliomas are non or only very weakly immunogenic *in vivo*. While findings from the use of the C6 glioma might be associated with immunogenicity of implanted tumor cells, N29 and N32 gliomas are much less associated with this risk.

In xenograft transplantation models, primary tumor cells or cell lines are implanted subcutaneously or orthotopically (i.e. into native tumor site). Human tumor cells are often implanted into immunosuppressed or immunodeficient mice. Xenograft models are reproducible and can form tumors rapidly. Human cells used in xenograft studies have often been passaged for years and these cells do, due to selection pressure, therefore not represent the genetics and histology of the original tumor³⁶. However, human xenografts taken directly from patient explants can potentially represent the genetic hetereogeneity of human malignant brain tumors³⁷. A limitation in using xenograft models is that immunological interactions between tumor and host are lacking²⁹.

GEMs can form spontaneous tumors due to GBM-associated gene mutations. Using GEMs, the initiating genetic lesion is known, the mice are immunocompetent and GEMs can recapitulate some of the complex biological processes involved in GBM formation and growth. However, many GEMs display low reproducibility, low tumor penetrance and latency of tumor formation²⁹.

STEM CELLS

Introduction to adult stem cells

Adult stem cells exhibit two fundamental criteria; *self-renewal* (the ability to divide and generate an identical daughter cell), and *multipotency* (multipotent differentiation capacity)^{38, 39}. Stem cells have an unlimited/very high capacity for self-renewal and the ability to give rise to multiple mature cell types. A stem cell can generate a *progenitor*, which is a cell with limited self-renewal capacity and a more restricted differentiation potential. Progenitor cells are usually highly proliferative and can therefore expand the pool of newly formed cells. The progenitors in turn generate differentiated cells. Sometimes the term *precursor* is used to more vaguely describe a cell with self-renewal and multipotency capacity that includes both stem cells and progenitors.

Multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells

Multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs), or mesenchymal stem cells, are thought to be the precursors of the bone marrow stroma. Cultured MSCs possess the capacity to differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes following exposure to spe-

34 Background

cific differentiation supplements. MSCs can be isolated by their adherent growth in culture and by expression of certain surface markers. There is, at present, no single marker that specifically identifies MSCs. A combination of markers including CD73, CD90, CD105, CD146, CD271, STRO-1, SH2 and SH3 are often used to identify MSCs⁴⁰. In addition, MSCs lack expression of the hematopoietic antigens CD34 and CD45⁴⁰.

It has been suggested that human MSCs constitute approximately 0,001 - 0,01% of the cells of the bone marrow⁴¹. The lack of specific MSC markers and the low frequency of MSCs *in vivo* make studies of MSCs complicated and most data is based on *in vitro* experiments of expanded cells, which are presumed to act as MSCs *in vivo*. In addition to bone marrow, MSCs have also been isolated from most other organs including adipose tissue, the synovial membrane, the dental pulp, umbilical cord blood and fetal liver and lung⁴⁰.

There are multiple functions of MSCs; bone marrow MSCs form the hematopoietic microenvironment which supports the long-term maintenance and differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells⁴². MSCs also possess immunosuppressive properties by modulation of cytotoxic T-cells, antigen-presenting cells, natural killer cells and B-cells⁴³. Because of the immunosuppressive properties, MSCs have been successfully used for treatment of severe graft-versus-host disease in cancer patients following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation⁴⁴. Furthermore, MSCs can promote angiogenesis and contribute to wound repair by production of pro-angiogenic factors like VEGF^{45, 46}.

Adult neural stem cells and neurogenesis

Adult neural stem cells (NSCs) are undifferentiated cells which divide and can generate neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes⁴⁷. The formation of new neurons from neural stem cells is called *neurogenesis*, a process that consists in division of a precursor cell, migration, differentiation, survival and functional maturation. NSCs reside in two main neurogenic regions of the adult brain; the SVZ and the subgranular zone in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus⁴⁸. This thesis focuses on the use of endogenous and exogenous SVZ-derived NSCs and neural precursor cells (NPCs).

The SVZ, or the subependymal layer, lines the lateral wall of the lateral ventricles. The wall of the lateral ventricles consists of a layer of ciliated ependymal cells (E-cells). These cells can express CD133 and are mainly quiescent but can be activated and possibly act as NSCs upon brain injury⁴⁹. The B-cell is slowly-dividing, expresses the intermediate filament protein glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and is by many regarded as the adult NSC⁵⁰. The B-cell generates the C-cell which is the rapidly dividing transit-amplifying progenitor cell and thus expands the pool of newly formed cells. The
C-cell gives rise to the A-cell, the migrating neuroblast (neuronal progenitor), which expresses the neuronal lineage markers Doublecortin (DCx) and Polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM). The A-cells migrate from the SVZ, along the rostral migratory stream (RMS), towards the olfactory bulb (OB), where these cells differentiate into granular or periglomerular interneurons^{48, 51}. Many of the newly formed cells die within the SVZ, RMS or in the OB, but a fraction of these cells survive and display electrophysiological characteristics of neuronal maturation in the OB⁵².

The E-B-C-A system has been described in the context of the adult mouse brain. In the adult rat brain, the B-cell is thought to directly generate the A-cell⁵³. The adult human SVZ consists of a ribbon of GFAP+ cells that proliferate *in vivo* and display multipotency capacity (i.e. the formation of neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes) *in vitro*⁵⁴. In the adult human brain, proliferating PSA-NCAM+ neuroblasts migrate from the SVZ along the RMS and towards the OB⁵⁵.

In the intact rodent brain, migration of SVZ neuroblasts (A-cells) is thus restricted to the RMS / OB. Following a lesion in the rodent brain (e.g. ischemic stroke in the striatum), there is an increase in SVZ cell proliferation and the newly formed neuroblasts leave the SVZ / RMS and migrate towards the lesion in the striatum^{56, 57}. Here, the newly formed cells differentiate into mature neurons and display the same phenotype as the neurons that died due to the insult, suggesting that endogenous SVZ precursors contribute to neuronal cell replacement⁵⁶.

Less is known about the SVZ response to growth of malignant brain tumors. Glass et al. found that nestin+ cells surround and infiltrate experimental gliomas. A fraction of these cells were reported to co-express the neuronal markers DCx and PSA-NCAM⁵⁸. Findings from *in vitro* experiments suggest that NPCs could induce apoptosis of glioma cells⁵⁸. In contrast, Staflin et al. found no evidence of endogenous NPC migration toward experimental gliomas⁵⁹.

CANCER STEM CELLS

Cancer stem cells in human brain tumors

The previously held assumption on the growth of tumors was that most, if not all, tumor cells can maintain tumor growth. The cancer stem cell (CSC) hypothesis implies that only a distinct subset of tumor cells are capable of extensive self-renewal and tumor maintainance and that most cells within the tumor do not have this ability^{60, 61}. A CSC can be defined as "a cell within a tumor that possess the capacity to self-renew and to cause the heterogenous lineages of cancer cells that comprise the tumor"⁶². The term tumor-initiating cell refers to the cell from which the cancer arose. This cell might be

36 Background

distinct from the CSC. That CSCs exist in solid tumors is, however, a hypothesis and remains to be proven^{61, 63}. If the hypothesis turns out to be correct, it would have very important implications for the development of novel cancer therapy.

Putative CSCs, have been isolated from human malignant brain tumors including GBM, medulloblastoma and ependymoma⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. Singh et al. have shown that 100 CD133+ human GBM cells were sufficient to initiate tumor growth following injection into immunodeficient mice, whereas injection of 10⁵ CD133-negative cells was not⁶⁴. The established tumor recapitulated the histology of the original tumor⁶⁴. This indicates that there is a sub-population of GBM cells (i.e. CD133+ cells) that are responsible for the maintenance of GBM growth. However, other groups have reported the existence of CD133-negative tumor-initiating GBM cells^{67, 68}. The value of CD133 as a specific CSC marker of GBM is therefore questionable.

The CSC hypothesis is thus based on experimental findings where a subset of human tumor cells have been isolated and transplanted to immunodeficient rodents where the cells give rise to tumors that recapitulate the features of the original tumor. One inherent limitation of these studies is that tumor-initiating capacity *in vivo* has been assessed by xeno-implantation of human cancer cells into immunodeficient rodents. Tumor growth is dependent on the tumor microenvironment¹² and putative CSCs interact with their microenvironment within the tumor⁶⁹. There is, however, a lack of appropriate interaction between putative human CSCs and tumor microenvironment in glioma-bearing immunocomprised mice²⁹. The findings of putative CSCs therefore rather demonstrate the capacity of a population of human (CD133 positive or negative) cancer cells that possess the capacity to engraft and establish tumors in a foreign environment (i.e. immunodeficient mice or rats)⁶³. These cells are not necessarily the same cells that propagate tumor growth in patients. Furthermore, a concern has been raised that preparation of cell suspensions with enzyme treatment could affect the marker expression of genetically unstable tumor cells⁶³. In addition, the putative CSC marker CD133 is expressed in up to 70% of human GBM cells⁷⁰. This is inconsistent with the view that CSCs are a rare subset of cells within the tumor. In contrast to the CSC hypothesis, tumor growth might be sustained by one dominant clone or multiple clones of tumor cells^{63, 71}.

If the CSC hypothesis is correct, it would have very important implications for the development of novel glioma therapy. Conventional treatment targeting dividing cells in general can decrease tumor growth by killing the majority of cancer cells within the tumor. However, putative CSCs might be more resistant to conventional treatment and these cells can therefore survive treatment and contribute to tumor re-growth despite eradication of the main tumor mass. For instance, putative CSCs are predicted to be slowly-dividing and to express high levels of drug export proteins making them re-

sistant to conventional treatment⁶¹. Novel therapy should thus be specifically directed against putative CSCs⁶⁰. Complete eradication of human tumors based on targeting of specific markers, signaling pathways or genes in a defined subset of tumor cells, would provide final proof for the CSC hypothesis.

For long, the glioma cell-of-origin was thought to be a dedifferentiated astrocyte. Similarities between neural stem/progenitor cells and glioma cells have led to the hypothesis that the glioma cell-of-origin is a transformed SVZ precursor cell. However, it is presently unclear which cell or cells initiate GBM growth in humans⁶¹.

Cancer stem cells in experimental glioma models

Support for the notion that experimental glioma models contain a rare subset of CSCs was presented in the rat 9L gliosarcoma model and in the mouse GL261 glioma model^{72, 73}. In both studies, sphere formation was used to enrich for CSC-like cells^{72, 73}. It was claimed that implantation of sphere-forming cells, as compared to adherently growing cells, forms larger tumors *in vivo* and results in shorter survival of animals. Furthermore, sphere-generated 9L cells were reported to exhibit increased expression of anti-apoptosis and drug resistance related genes⁷². Mouse GL261 glioma cells grown as spheres display increased expression of nestin and of radial glia related genes as compared to adherently growing cells. In addition, cells within the GL261 line were reported to down-regulate nestin expression and up-regulate expression of neural lineage markers upon growth in differentiation conditions *in vitro*. Rat 9L cells were found to aberrantly co-express the stem/progenitor marker Nestin with GFAP and the neuronal lineage marker MAP2⁷².

Both studies indirectly suggested the existence of a sub-population of tumor cells within the cell line that exhibit certain characteristics of CSC-like cells^{72, 73}. However, in contrast to studies of putative CSCs in human brain tumors, the authors were not able to identify and isolate a subset of tumor cells that are the only cells that can propagate/ initiate tumor growth.

Contradictory results were described in the C6 rat glioma model where the vast majority of cells were found to possess CSC-like features. Single C6 glioma cells consistently generated clones *in vitro* and the clone-forming cells were capable of tumor formation upon xenografting into immunodeficient mice. CSC features were found in both CD133+ and CD133- cells⁷⁴.

TREATMENT OF MALIGNANT BRAIN TUMORS

Challenges in the treatment of malignant brain tumors

There have been few significant advances in the treatment of GBM for the last decades⁷⁵. The shortcomings of GBM treatment have been ascribed to 1) the localization of the tumor in the brain; 2) the invasive growth pattern; 3) increased interstitial fluid pressure within tumor leading to low concentrations of systemically delivered drugs; 4) intrinsic drug resistance of tumor cells; 5) acquired drug resistance; and 6) neurotoxicity of treatment⁷⁵.

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) constitutes a formidable barrier for systemic drug delivery to the brain. Breakdown and dysfunction of the BBB is a well-known feature of GBM but invasive tumor cells are often protected by an intact BBB²⁵. Although several attempts have been made to overcome the difficulties of BBB penetration, the barrier still presents a challenge for systemic administration of drugs directed against GBM⁷⁶.

Another challenge in the development of successful GBM therapy is that several experimental glioma models constitute suboptimal models for human GBM; *in vitro* models of glioma (i.e. glioma cell lines) do not exhibit the complex genetic heterogeneity found in human GBM³⁴. In addition, xenograft models do not accurately resemble the growth, invasion, gene expression profiling and stromal microenvironment interactions of human GBM. In animal studies, there is also often a short interval (often only a few days) between tumor implantation and treatment. This time-course is completely different from the clinical situation where tumors have been present for months or years and thus exhibit broad heterogeneity. Many preclinical glioma models are therefore non-predictive for the evaluation of certain clinical treatment modalities^{27, 28}.

Successful GBM therapy should 1) target the invasive tumor cells; 2) target tumor cells with different genetic aberrations; and 3) selectively target tumor cells relative to normal neural cells^{75, 76}.

Conventional treatment

Standard treatment of GBM patients is surgical resection, radiotherapy and chemotherapy⁴. Surgery of GBM implies resection of the main tumor mass (i.e. debulking). Complete surgical resection is almost impossible to achieve due to microscopic infiltrative tumor extensions and tumor microsatellites located far away from the main tumor mass. Recurrence of the tumor in the contralateral hemisphere has been observed even following a procedure as extensive as hemispherectomy⁷⁷. Surgery is, however, necessary to manage the acute symptoms of intracerebral tumor growth and to obtain biopsies for diagnosis. The long-term benefit of extensive tumor resection alone is disputed⁷⁸, but evidence suggests a beneficial effect on survival⁷⁹. In addition, debulking of the main tumor mass will likely be important to facilitate other treatment modalities which can target the remaining tumor cells.

Focal radiotherapy is administered to a volume defined by magnetic resonance imaging and to an additional rim of 2 cm outside the tumor mass in order to encompass most of the infiltrating tumor cells. Radiotherapy can prolong survival for GBM patients undergoing surgical resection but tumor growth recurs in almost every patient. Several attempts have been made to sensitize tumor cells to radiotherapy but none of these attempts have been clinically successful²⁵.

The present choice of chemotherapy is Temozolomide, an alkylating agent that crosses the blood-brain barrier. Temozolomide in combination with radiotherapy prolong median survival of GBM patients to 14,6 months compared to 12,1 months for radiotherapy alone⁸⁰. The 2-year survival rate has improved from 10,4% for radiotherapy alone to 26,5% with temozolomide plus radiotherapy⁸⁰. A subset of GBM patients whose tumors contain epigenetic silencing of the DNA repair gene MGMT benefit more from Temozolomide and their median survival is 21,7 months⁹.

Accordingly, conventional treatment can prolong survival for GBM patients by several months. However, treatment outcome is still unsatisfactory. Current treatment is also non-specific, which means that it targets both malignant and non-malignant cells. Therefore, there is clearly a great need to develop novel specific and effective therapies for malignant brain tumors.

Immunotherapy

Human gliomas evade and suppress the patient's antitumor immune response through several mechanisms, e.g. through production of immunosuppressive factors⁶. In glioma immunotherapy, attempts are made to enhance the endogenous immune response against the tumor. One example of glioma immunotherapy is peripheral immunization with irradiated autologous tumor cells transduced to overexpress the pro-inflammatory cytokine interferon- γ . Immunization leads to increased infiltration of cytotoxic T-cells and NK-cells into tumors and concomitant decreased tumor growth^{81, 82}. An ongoing clinical GBM trial using immunization with interferon- γ producing autologous tumor cells has demonstrated increased immune cell infiltration into tumors. The results point to a prolonged survival of patients⁸³.

Molecular targeting

Novel insights into the molecular biology of GBM have provided targeted therapy against critical signaling pathways that regulate tumor cell proliferation, invasion, apoptosis, tumor angiogenesis and sensitivity to chemo- and radiotherapy⁷⁶. The EGFR is overexpressed in human GBM and there is a constitutively active variant of the EGFR (EGFR vIII). Several EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors have therefore been developed but they show limited effect on GBM. Other targeted therapies include mono-clonal antibodies against VEGF, VEGF-receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitors, inhibition of the PDGFR and of various intracellular signaling pathways. In light of the genetic heterogeneity of GBM, successful targeted therapy should most likely include a combination of molecular targets⁷⁶. In addition, proteins involved in downstream signaling are often mutated in GBM. These proteins may drive GBM signaling pathways despite inhibition of their upstream receptors⁸⁴.

Gene therapy

Gene therapy has been extensively explored as a treatment for experimental glioma and human GBM. Viral vectors have been administered either systemically or directly into the tumor following surgical resection. Transgenes that inhibit tumor angiogenesis, stimulate an anti-tumor immune response, correct genetic defects (e.g. introduction of the tumor suppressor TP53 gene), and encode prodrug-activating enzymes have been used in glioma gene therapy^{85, 86}.

Gene therapy utilizing viral vectors as delivery vehicles have been successful in many experimental glioma studies, but clinical studies have had very limited success²⁸. Inefficient spread of vectors to the invasive tumor cells and low transduction efficiency of tumor cells are two reasons for this failure²⁸. However, gene therapy clinical trials have often been initiated at a very late stage of tumor development when patients already are "beyond cure"²⁸. Earlier onset of treatment could potentially improve the outcome of gene therapy in clinical GBM trials.

Stem cell tropism to gliomas

A novel approach to deliver cytotoxic substances to gliomas through intracranial implantation of genetically modified NSCs was presented by Aboody et al. and Benedetti et al.^{87, 88}. Implanted NSCs were shown to migrate throughout normal brain tissue toward experimental gliomas where NSCs delivered a cytotoxic substance, which could decrease tumor growth^{87, 88}. Aboody et al. made use of a suicide gene system; immortalized murine C17.2 NSCs were engineered to deliver the pro-drug converting enzyme cytosine deaminase which converts the systemically administered non-toxic substance 5-Fluorocytosine to the cytotoxic drug 5-Fluorouracil within tumors⁸⁷. Benedetti et al. showed that implantation of interleukin-4 producing NSCs prolong survival of gliomabearing animals⁸⁸.

The above-mentioned initial studies were followed by several studies using either neural, bone marrow-derived mesenchymal, endothelial, hematopoietic, umbilical-cord blood derived and skin-derived precursor cells as therapeutic delivery vehicles in glioma therapy⁸⁹⁻¹⁰⁰.

Nakamura et al. were the first to demonstrate a therapeutic effect of genetically modified bone marrow-derived MSCs⁹⁷. Implanted rat MSCs, engineered to produce enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP), were reported to prolong survival of glioma-bearing animals. The therapeutic effect was further enhanced by implantation of interleukin-2 producing MSCs which can support an immune response within tumors. This study demonstrated proof-of-principle that rat MSCs can be used as delivery vehicles to gliomas⁹⁷. The implantation of MSCs was, however, performed either by co-injection with tumor cells or three days after glioma cell implantation. This makes it difficult to assess the true potential of MSCs in glioma therapy.

The use of MSCs in glioma treatment was further strengthened by a study of Nakamizo et al. demonstrating glioma tropic migratory capacity of human MSCs. Human MSCs distributed themselves specifically within gliomas of immunocompromised mice following injections into the ipsilateral or the contralateral carotid artery. In contrast, intraarterial injections of fibroblasts resulted in death of the animals. Intra-arterially injected mouse MSCs were also attracted to gliomas suggesting that the findings were not due to species-specific interactions between human glioma cells and human MSCs in mice, but rather to inherent properties of MSCs. Furthermore, a beneficial therapeutic effect by interferon- β producing MSCs was observed upon intratumoral and intra-arterial injections into glioma-bearing mice⁹⁶.

Factors involved in stem cell tropism to gliomas

Most studies investigating the mechanisms of stem cell migration toward gliomas have utilized an *in vitro* transwell assay to determine which factors can attract stem cells. The transwell assay is an artifical and simplified system which does not resemble the complex microenvironment of the tumor and its surroundings. Despite this, some clues as to which factors that govern stem cell migration to and within tumors have emerged. Glioma-produced factors that attract NSCs *in vitro* are VEGF¹⁰¹, scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor, fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2, transforming growth factor- α^{102} and stromal derived factor- 1α (SDF- 1α)¹⁰³. Tumor-produced ECM proteins

(e.g. laminin and tenascin-C) have been suggested to facilitate NSC tropism towards tumor¹⁰⁴. Growth factors that mediate tropism of human bone-marrow derived MSCs towards glioma are platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), SDF1 α^{96} , VEGF-A¹⁰⁵, interleukin-8, transforming growth factor- β 1 and neurotrophin-3¹⁰⁶. In addition, soluble chemoattractants produced by inflammatory cells might direct implanted stem cells towards the tumor. Activated microglial cells within gliomas¹⁰⁷ have the capacity to attract NPCs¹⁰⁸. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), produced by activated microglia, plays an important role in directing neural progenitors to sites of neuroinflammation¹⁰⁹.

Novel insights into the molecular factors and pathways modulating the tumor tropism of stem cells have contributed to the development of genetically modified stem cells that display increased migratory capacity towards malignant brain tumors. Bone marrow-derived MSCs transfected with the EGFR exhibit enhanced *in vitro* and *in vivo* migration towards glioma as compared to non-transfected MSCs¹¹⁰. Over-expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR3 in HiB5 cells (a neural progenitor cell line derived from the embryonic hippocampus) results in enhanced glioma-specific migratory capacity of these cells as compared to non-CXCR3 over-expressing cells¹¹¹. These abovementioned studies demonstrate an approach to enhance the migratory capacity of implanted stem cells in glioma therapy.

Requirements of stem cells in glioma therapy

The concept of stem cell therapy of gliomas can be broken down into three critical requirements. Stem cells should be able to 1) migrate extensively within tumors and specifically to invasive glioma cells, 2) deliver a tumoricidal substance which can decrease tumor growth, and 3) not cause any substantial harm to the patient. There has been an intense focus on finding novel tumoricidal substances that stem cells can deliver, and on elucidating factors that mediate stem cell migration to tumors. However, in light of the shortcomings of multiple gene therapy glioma trials, the concept of stem cell therapy of gliomas raises and falls with the migratory capacity of stem cells within tumors. While initial studies^{87, 97} reported that stem cells potentially could track invasive glioma cells, the extent of this crucial property has not been investigated. Furthermore, it is unknown which cell-type would act as the most efficient vector, or which mode of administration would provide the most extensive infiltration of tumors.

AIMS

AIMS

The general aims of the present thesis have been to develop and explore a cellular vector system for the treatment of experimental malignant glioma.

The specific aims were:

- 1. to examine the clonogenic capacity, *in vivo* tumorigenicity, phenotype and differentiation capacity of N29 and N32 glioma cells in order to estimate the frequency of CSC–like cells in the glioma models used in papers II-IV (paper I);
- 2. to explore the subventricular zone neurogenic response to growth of experimental malignant glioma with emphasis on endogenous NPC migration toward glioma (paper II);
- 3. to examine and compare the magnitude and specificity of migration of NPCs and MSCs upon implantation into or at a distant site to experimental malignant gliomas (paper III);
- 4. to determine the proliferation rate of intratumorally implanted NPCs and MSCs (paper III);
- 5. to investigate the capacity of intratumorally implanted MSCs to migrate specifically to invasive glioma cells (paper IV);
- 6. to explore the phenotype of MSCs *in vitro* and upon implantation into gliomas (paper IV); and
- 7. to determine the association between intratumorally implanted MSCs and glioma vasculature, the effects of implanted MSCs on tumor microvessel density, and the effect of implanted MSCs on survival of glioma-bearing animals (paper IV).

RESULTS AND COMMENTS

RESULTS AND COMMENTS

Here follows a summary of the results of the thesis. Please refer to the original articles for further details.

1. Cancer stem cell-like cells in N29 and N32 rat glioma models (paper I)

The N29 and N32 rat glioma models have previously been explored with respect to their histopathological features and immunosuppressive properties³¹. Here, we assessed the frequency of CSC-like cells of the N29 and N32 glioma models.

N29 and N32 glioma cells both formed free-floating tumorspheres upon growth in stem cell medium (including EGF and FGF-2) and following extensive confluent growth in ordinary cell culture medium. Tumorspheres were mechanically dissociated into single cells, which could form new spheres. Spheres were passaged multiple times and the new spheres retained their protein expression profile and *in vitro* growth pattern.

We next analyzed expression of certain stemness- and lineage related proteins. Surprisingly, both N29 and N32 glioma cells expressed the putative CSC marker CD133, neural stem and progenitor marker nestin concomitantly with the neural lineage markers DCx, β III-tubulin (neuronal markers), GFAP (astrocyte and NSC marker) and 2',3'-cyclic nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase (CNPase, oligodendrocyte marker). Immunocytochemistry and flow cytometric analysis revealed that the expression profile was homogenously found in the vast majority, if not all, of the tumor cells. There was no difference in the expression profile between adherently growing tumor cells and tumorspheres.

In order to elucidate potential differentiation capacity of N29 and N32 glioma cells, tumorspheres or adherently growing cells were exposed to differentiation-promoting conditions (i.e. removal of growth factors and addition of serum). Neither cell type changed phenotype or morphology when subjected to differentiation conditions *in vitro*. To determine differentiation capacity *in vivo*, tumor cells were implanted into syngeneic Fischer344 rats. The established tumors largely retained their phenotype *in vivo*.

To functionally assess N29 and N32 glioma cells with respect to CSC-like properties, we investigated *in vitro* clone-forming capacity and *in vivo* tumorigenicity upon orthotopic implantation. In order to investigate clone-forming capacity, adherently growing N29 and N32 cells were diluted to achieve the concentrations of 0.5, 1 and 5 cells per

50 Results and comments

well. The percentage of N29 colony formation was 33% for the concentration of 0.5 cells, 55% for the concentration of 1 cell and 94% for 5 cells per well. N32 colony formation was 30% for the concentration of 0.5 cells per well, 54% for 1 cell and 99% for 5 cells per well. *In vivo* tumorigenicity was examined by stereotactic intracerebral inoculation of N29 and N32 cells. Intracerebral tumors were established in 100%, 78% and 75% of the animals upon implantation of 1000, 100 and 10 N29 cells, respectively, and in 100%, 25% and 25% of the animals receiving 1000, 100 and 10 N32 cells. Accordingly, as few as 10 adherently grown unsorted N29 and N32 cells, respectively, were sufficient to establish intracerebral tumors. This demonstrates powerful tumorigenic abilities of N29 and N32 glioma cells.

The results indicate that the N29 and N32 glioma models consist of homogenous populations of tumor cells. Importantly, both tumor cell types are highly clonogenic *in vitro* and tumorigenic *in vivo*.

2. Characterization of the subventricular zone neurogenic response to malignant brain tumor (paper II)

We investigated the endogenous response of the SVZ to growth of N32 malignant brain tumor in the striatum. For this purpose, N32 tumor cells were transduced to express the dsRed protein which allows for visualization *in vivo*. N32dsRed tumors were established in the striatum of adult Fischer344 rats. The SVZ neurogenic response was investigated on days 9, 16, 23 and 30 following tumor cell implantation.

We found high numbers of nestin+ cells that surrounded the periphery of tumors and scattered nestin+ cells infiltrated into tumors. Animals receiving cell medium inoculations also displayed nestin immunoreactivity along the needle track. The numbers of nestin+ cells within the SVZ did not differ between animals with tumors and animals receiving medium inoculations. In addition, there was no increase in migratory nestin+ cells in the area between the SVZ and the peritumoral rim of nestin+ cells. Nestin+ cells that surrounded and infiltrated tumors exhibited a stellate morphology and were co-labelled with the astrocytic marker GFAP, suggesting that they were reactive astrocytes¹¹².

We next assessed changes in SVZ cell proliferation and cell death in response to glioma growth. The numbers of cells expressing the cell-cycle marker Ki-67 within the SVZ were counted. In addition, 5-Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) was given once a day for seven days in order to estimate the numbers of SVZ proliferating cells. Both Ki-67 and BrdU labeling demonstrated that striatal brain tumor growth caused a decrease in the numbers of proliferating cells in the SVZ. The effect was noticeable first on day

30 when tumors occupied most of the striatum. Hence, the decrease in SVZ cell proliferation seems to depend on tumor size or on proximity of tumor to the SVZ. Tumor growth caused, however, no apparent effect on SVZ apoptotic cell death, as detected by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated fluorescein-dUTP nick-end labelling (TUNEL) immunoreactivity.

Despite the decrease in SVZ cell proliferation, we found a concomitant increase of DCx and PSA-NCAM expression in the SVZ. These findings represent increased areas of neuroblast immunoreactivity and not necessarily increased numbers of neuroblasts within the SVZ. The actual numbers of neuroblasts are difficult to assess due to lack of specific nuclear markers. However, there was no apparent difference in the numbers of Hoechst-stained nuclei (representing all cells) in the SVZ between glioma-bearing animals and animals receiving cell medium inoculation.

In line with the increased neuroblast immumoreactivity, we found DCX+ and PSA-NCAM+ cells in the area between the SVZ and the tumor. DCX+ and PSA-NCAM+ cells displayed neuroblast morphology (i.e. bipolar cells with elongated processes). Migratory neuroblasts were mainly located in the striatum but also along the corpus callosum and on the lateral side of the tumor in the striatum. Infiltration of neuroblasts into tumors was rare. Most DCx+ cells outside the SVZ expressed Pbx, a transcription factor for immature striatal neurons. Because of the higher density of neuroblasts found in proximity to the SVZ, it is likely that the neuroblasts originated from the SVZ. Furthermore, previous tracing experiments have shown that neuroblasts attracted to ischemic stroke are derived from the SVZ¹¹³. Taken together, striatal tumors are capable of attracting region-specific neuroblasts, most likely originating from the SVZ.

The region-specific phenotype of the neuroblasts suggests that they are on their way to differentiate into mature striatal neurons. We found, however, no signs of neuroblast differentiation into mature neurons. In this experiment, BrdU was administered twice daily for 14 days following tumor cell implantation and animals were sacrificed after an additional 14 days. We did not observe any BrdU+ cells that co-localized with NeuN (a marker for mature neurons) in the striatum, pointing against substantial neuronal maturation. However, because of limitations in the experimental set-up, we cannot exclude the possibility that tumor-attracted SVZ-derived neuroblasts can undergo neuronal maturation.

Figure 2 shows the endogenous cellular response to the growth of malignant brain tumor.



Figure 2. Multifaceted endogenous cellular response to the growth of malignant brain tumor.

The figure shows a coronal section of a rat cerebral hemisphere with malignant brain tumor growth in the striatum. (1) Tumor growth results in decreased numbers of SVZ proliferating cells. (2) DCx+ neuroblasts migrate from the SVZ towards the tumor area but neuroblasts do not infiltrate into tumors. (3) Nestin+/ GFAP+ reactive astrocytes accumulate around and within gliomas. The endogenous cellular response to gliomas also includes microglia activation, infiltration of blood-borne immune cells, and infiltration of bone marrow-derived perivascular cells into tumors.

3. Comparative analysis of rat bone marrow- and subventricular zone- derived precursor cells as cellular vectors in glioma gene therapy (paper III)

Although both MSCs and NPCs have been used for delivery of therapeutic transgenes to gliomas, the efficiency of these two vector systems has not been compared. In order to choose the most efficient vector system, we therefore analyzed the migratory patterns and survival of intratumorally implanted bone marrow-derived MSCs and SVZ-derived NPCs. In addition, we determined the proliferation rate of intratumorally implanted MSCs and NPCs.

Isolation and characterization of adult rat MSCs is described in paper IV. Adult rat SVZ-derived NPCs were grown as neurospheres and expressed stem/progenitor marker nestin *in vitro*. Importantly, both MSCs/NPCs and tumor cells were syngeneic to the host. For visualization *in vivo*, MSCs and NPCs were transduced to express enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) using a retroviral vector. More than 90% of the transduced MSCs and NPCs expressed eGFP *in vitro*.

eGFP+ MSCs or eGFP+ NPCs were implanted on day 14 into established N32 gliomas. One day after implantation, MSCs/NPCs were found mainly within the graft at the inoculation site. On day four, MSCs and NPCs were seen within the graft and at the tumor periphery. An additional four days later, MSCs and NPCs had localized both in the tumor periphery and in the tumor core. Importantly, migration of intratumorally implanted cells into normal brain tissue was extremely rare. Thus, intratumorally implanted MSCs and NPCs displayed extensive migratory capacities specifically within gliomas.

Semiquantitative analysis showed that the numbers of eGFP+ MSCs within tumors were much higher compared to the numbers eGFP+ NPCs. For further comparison, we quantified the amount of eGFP within tumors. This showed that the amount of eGFP within tumors receiving MSCs was approximately 11-fold higher compared to tumors receiving NPCs. The analysis performed gives an estimation of the relative cell numbers within tumors and cannot be used for detection of minor differences in cell numbers. Nevertheless, the magnitude of the difference in GFP amounts clearly suggests that implanted eGFP+ MSCs persist in much higher numbers within tumors as compared to eGFP+ NPCs.

In contrast to the widespread migration of intratumorally implanted cells, we found virtually no migration of eGFP+ MSCs or eGFP+ NPCs toward tumors upon implantation at a distant site in normal brain tissue. Instead, implanted eGFP+ cells localized at the implantation site. In addition to the analysis of eGFP+ cells, we analyzed the expression of certain endogenous markers that are expressed by the implanted cells (neuron

54 Results and comments

glia 2, NG2, and α -smooth muscle actin, α -sma, for MSCs, and nestin and DCx for NPCs). There was no evidence of NG2 or α -sma expressing cells with spindle-shaped morphology migrating from MSC grafts toward tumors. Neither did we detect any nestin or DCx+ cells with migratory morphology between NPC grafts and tumors. Taken together, implanted MSCs and NPCs do not seem to migrate throughout normal brain tissue toward gliomas.

In order to evaluate tumorigenicity of implanted precursor cells, we assessed their proliferation rate within tumors. For this purpose, confocal microscopy was used to determine co-expression of the cell-cycle marker Ki-67 and eGFP. 100 eGFP+ MSCs and NPCs, respectively, were analyzed. We did not find a single eGFP+ cell that expressed Ki-67. Accordingly, more than 99%, if not all, of the intratumorally implanted MSCs and NPCs are non-cycling.

4. Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells act as pericyte-like migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas (paper IV)

In light of the findings of paper III, we continued by investigating the use of bone marrow-derived MSCs as cellular vectors in the invasive N29 glioma model. In addition, we studied the association of implanted MSCs with tumor blood vessels.

MSCs were derived from the bone marrow of adult Fischer344 rats and isolated based on their adherent growth *in vitro*. MSCs displayed spindle-shaped morphology and possessed the capacity to differentiate into adipocytes and osteoblasts *in vitro*. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that MSCs were positive for CD73 and CD90 and negative for the hematopoietic marker CD45.

In order to assess the capacity of MSCs to migrate to tumor extensions and to distantly located tumor micro satellites, we implanted eGFP+ MSCs into established N29dsRed tumors. MSCs were implanted intratumorally 10 days after tumor cell implantation. MSC migratory capacity was evaluated 5, 10 and 15 days later. Serial section analysis revealed that a single MSC injection results in MSC migration to approximately 70% of the tumor extensions and to approximately 30% of the distant tumor micro satellites. Importantly, implanted MSCs were largely retained within tumor tissue and only single eGFP+ MSCs were found within normal brain tissue. MSC tumor specific capacity was further validated by Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) where male-derived MSCs (carrying the Y chromosome) were implanted into female hosts carrying N29 tumors (established in a female animal). Expression of eGFP was unfortunately lost due to heavy enzymatic pretreatment of the tissue sections. We were therefore unable to co-localize eGFP with signals from the Y chromosomes (i.e. MSCs). However, we

could, based on signals from the Y chromosomes, differentiate MSCs from N29 tumor cells and host cells. Findings from FISH analysis support the finding that intratumorally implanted MSCs are restricted within tumors.

Co-labeling with GFP and rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA) revealed that high numbers of implanted eGFP+ MSCs closely localized to glioma vasculature. To investigate whether MSCs contribute to tumor endothelium, we used confocal microscopic analysis to determine co-expression of eGFP with RECA and vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-Cadherin). We found no co-expression of eGFP with RECA or VE-Cadherin *in vitro* or *in vivo*. Thus, implanted MSCs migrate along, and possibly integrate into, tumor vessels but do not directly contribute to tumor endothelium.

The phenotype of MSCs was further investigated. We found that more than 99% of the MSCs expressed pericyte markers α -sma, NG2 and PDGFR- β *in vitro*. The expression pattern was largely retained upon intratumoral implantation. The pericyte marker expression profile and perivascular location of implanted MSCs indicate that these cells might act as pericytes within tumors. Because of the functional effects of pericytes on tumor vessels²⁴, we studied the effect of MSC implantation on the tumor vasculature. We found, however, no effect of MSCs on tumor microvessel density. Neither did intratumoral MSC implantation apparently affect survival of glioma-bearing animals.

To shed further light on MSCs association with tumor vessels, we implanted MSCs into gliomas and treated the animals p.o. with Sunitinib, which is an anti-angiogenic drug. Specifically, Sunitinib inhibits multiple tyrosine kinase receptors including PDGFR- α and - β , VEGF-receptor-1 and-2, stem cell factor receptor, KIT, and Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3 receptor¹¹⁴. Treatment with Sunitinib caused a decrease in the number of tumor microvessels as well as in the volume of tumors. Concomitantly, the number of MSCs migrating from the graft at the site of implantation to tumor periphery decreased. In addition, implanted MSCs migrated from the graft to the tumor core in vehicle-treated animals while virtually no MSCs were found within the tumor core in Sunitinib-treated animals. Because of the broad inhibitory effect of Sunitinib we cannot exclude that the observed effect was, in part, due to decreased survival of implanted MSCs following Sunitinib treatment. Nevertheless, MSCs persisted in high numbers at the implantation site and their migratory pattern was radically changed by Sunitinib. This indicates that angiogenic signaling factors and, possibly, tumor vascularization *per se* are important mediators of MSC migration within tumors.

We injected MSCs intravenously (i.v.) via the tail vein to glioma-bearing animals on day 14 after tumor cell implantation. We found no evidence of eGFP+ MSCs within the tumors 2 or 7 days later. Thus, i.v. administration seems inefficient as a delivery route of MSCs to gliomas.



Figure 3. Towards a stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors.

Either NPCs (1a) or MSCs (1b), are implanted directly into experimental malignant glioma. (2) Implanted NPCs and MSCs migrate within the tumor but not to normal brain tissue. MSCs persist in higher numbers than NPCs. (3) MSCs migrate to invasive tumor extensions and to distant tumor microsatellites. (4) Implanted MSCs migrate along, and possibly integrate into, tumor blood vessels. MSCs could be used as migratory vehicles for delivery of therapeutic transgenes to invasive and vascularized tumors.

Figure 3 summarizes the findings of papers III and IV.

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Methodology: Can the results be trusted?

The tracking of implanted cells *in vivo* is associated with certain methodological issues. In the work process of the present thesis, MSCs and NPCs were transduced to express eGFP using a retroviral vector which infects dividing cells. However, transgene silencing upon intracranial implantation of *in vitro* transduced precursor cells is common^{115, 116}. Hence, there is a potential risk to underestimate the number of implanted MSCs and NPCs within and outside tumors.

We used two methods to examine whether potential eGFP-transgene silencing *in vivo* contributed to erroneous interpretations. First, FISH was performed to label malederived MSCs implanted into female hosts carrying female-derived tumors. Malederived MSCs were discerned from female-derived tumor cells and host cells based on signals from the Y chromosome. Results from the FISH analysis supported the finding that intratumorally implanted MSCs are restricted within tumors. Second, we analyzed *in vivo* expression of endogenous markers (α -sma and NG2 for MSCs¹¹⁷ and nestin and DCx for NPCs) that are expressed by the implanted cells. Although the expression of the endogenous markers can be down-regulated in vivo, this assay provides an independent method which supports the findings of the eGFP-expression pattern. Nevertheless, it is important to remember that the implanted cells that are analyzed in many experiments in papers III and IV are the cells that express eGFP. MSCs and NPCs that potentially have down-regulated eGFP are not included in the analysis.

Notably, findings from our studies using N29 and N32 glioma cells transduced to produce the DsRed protein^{117, 118}, which allows visualization *in vivo*, were validated by similar findings obtained by the use of N29wt and N32wt tumor cells (own unpublished results). Accordingly, production of the DsRed protein by N29 and N32 glioma cells did not significantly influence the results presented in papers II and IV.

Can cancer stem cells be assessed in experimental glioma cell lines?

The analysis of putative CSC-like cells in N29 and N32 glioma models was associated with a number of conceptual issues. First, it has been suggested that a sub-population of CSC-like cells reside in the experimental glioma cell lines rat 9L and mouse GL261^{72, 73}. However, with respect to murine experimental glioma cell lines, there is yet no evidence for the existence of a rare subset of tumor cells that are the only cells that propagate tumor growth *in vivo*. In contrast, based on clonogenic and tumorigenic properties, Zheng et al. argued that the rat C6 line was composed of a dominant clone

of CSC-like cells⁷⁴. The latter findings are in line with our results from the N29 and N32 glioma models. The five above-mentioned glioma cell lines have been cultured in serum-containing medium for decades. Lee et al. has shown that serum-culturing of Glioblastoma cells favors the development of a clone of tumor cells and not a heterogenous population¹¹⁹. This could explain our findings of a homogenous population of tumor cells in the N29 and N32 glioma models. However, it also raises questions on how a fraction of CSC-like cells can persist in the 9L and GL261 glioma models despite years of culturing in serum-containing medium.

Second, putative CSCs in human tumors exhibit aberrant differentiation properties. It has been suggested that rat 9L cells and mouse GL261 cells also can be induced to exhibit a neuronal and glia-like phenotype upon differentiation conditions in vitro. In contrast, our findings show that the N29 and N32 cell lines do not change their phenotype upon growth in differentiation conditions in vitro or upon in vivo implantation. In line with our findings, it has been shown that serum-culturing of Glioblastoma cells causes an aberrant phenotype and irreversible loss of differentiation capacity¹¹⁹. It would be interesting to understand how serum-cultured 9L and GL261 glioma cells can maintain their capacity for differentiation after years in culture. In addition, the fact that all, or almost all, N29 and N32 cells already express common differentiation markers makes it problematic to assess differentiation in our model system.

Third, we found that most, if not all, N29 and N32 cells express both nestin and CD133 as well as DCx, BIII-tubulin, GFAP and CNPase¹²⁰. The presence of undifferentiated markers and lineage markers in the same cells might look confusing in the eyes of a neural stem cell biologist. However, the expression of DCx in human brain tumors is associated with invasiveness¹²¹. DCx expression may thus indicate invasive properties rather than a neuronal phenotype of glioma cells. Similarly, nestin expression is found in many tumors and correlates with high-grade malignancy and invasiveness¹²². ¹²³. βIII-tubulin is commonly used as a neuronal specific marker but βIII-tubulin is also expressed in many types of human non-neural cancers including breast cancer, lung cancer and ovarian cancer¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. Thus, protein expression in cancer cells does not necessarily represent the same phenotype as in normal neural cells. Accordingly, conclusions based on the expression of certain "stemness" or "lineage" associated proteins in glioma cell lines and in human cancers should be interpreted with caution.

Fourth, it has been suggested that CSC-like cells in the 9L and GL261 models accumulate in free-floating spheres as compared to monolayers. As discussed by Singec et al., nearly all dividing cells can form spheres when grown in serum-free media. This implies that neurospheres consist not only of stem cells but also of proliferative progenitors¹²⁷. At best, the studies of 9L and GL261 cell lines demonstrate that the cell lines consist of a heterogenous set of tumor cells which respond and behave differently with regard to sphere growth as compared to adherent growth^{72, 73}. We found that adherently growing cells are highly clonogenic, and that as few as 10 unsorted adherently growing cells can initiate tumors upon orthotopic implantation. This indicates that sphere formation is not crucial for enrichment of CSC-like cells. However, direct comparisons between sphere-forming cells and monolayer cells, with respect to clonogenic capacity and *in vivo* tumorigenicity, were not performed in our study.

Fifth, putative CSCs in human solid tumor are supposed to possess self-renewal capacity. N29 and N32 glioma cells have been cultured for decades, still being highly proliferative *in vitro* as well as *in vivo*. Hence, N29 and N32 glioma cells do certainly possess extensive, and possibly unlimited, proliferative capacities. Moreover, glioma cells could be passaged multiple times and still retain their phenotype and *in vitro* growth pattern. One could possibly infer that the N29 and N32 models possess self-renewal capacity with respect to *in vitro* clonogenicity. On the other hand, one could also argue that assessment of self-renewal becomes relevant first in the context of a heterogenous population of cells (such as a GBM cell suspension). Further experiments to assess selfrenewal include serial single-cell transplantation of tumor cells between animals.

Irrespectively of whether N29 and N32 glioma cells form free-floating spheres, possess true self-renewal capacity or express certain markers, the most important functions of the models are that they display extensive proliferative capacity *in vitro* and very robust tumorigenicity *in vivo*.

Are N29 and N32 rat gliomas relevant models of human brain tumors?

A comparison between human GBM and N29 and N32 experimental gliomas is presented in table 1. In both N29 and N32 cell lines, all cells, or a dominant clone of cells, are capable of tumor formation upon orthotopic implantation¹²⁰. This is in contrast to the CSC hypothesis where only a subset of cells can sustain tumor growth. Alternatively, it has been suggested that the growth of human tumors is also sustained by a dominant clone or by all cells¹²⁸. Irrespectively of whether the CSC hypothesis is correct or not, the models are highly tumorigenic *in vivo* and curative treatment directed against N29 and N32 gliomas probably needs to eradicate virtually all tumor cells.

The significance of the results obtained by *in vivo* implantation of glioma cells is associated with one arbitrary factor, which is the time-interval between tumor cell implantation and initiation of treatment. In our studies, precursor cells were implanted or injected usually between 10 and 14 days following tumor cell implantation^{117, 129}. At these time-points, N29 tumors display characteristic GBM growth (i.e. invasive

_	GBM	N29	N32
lethal to host	yes	yes	yes
infiltrative growth	yes	yes	no
highly proliferative	yes	yes	yes
neovascularization	yes	yes	yes
central necrosis	yes	yes	yes
tumor stroma	yes	yes	yes
cellular heterogeneity	yes	no	no
genetic heterogeneity	yes	no	no
immunosuppression	yes	yes	yes
refractory to radio- and chemotherapy	yes	likely (similar ENU-induced models are)	likely (similar ENU-induced models are)

Table 1. The table shows a comparison between human GBM and N29 and N32 experimental gliomas.

growth, neovascularization and often central necrosis). Our findings that approximately 70% of the tumor extensions and 30% of the distant tumor microsatellites were infiltrated by implanted MSCs must be interpreted in light of the time-interval between tumor cell implantation and MSC implantation. MSC implantation three days after tumor cell implantation would most likely yield higher numbers of MSCs migrating to invasive tumor cells. Conversely, extending the time-interval would likely result in lower numbers of tumor extensions infiltrated by MSCs. In most studies using experimental glioma cell lines, there is often a very short interval (between one to five days) between tumor cell implantation and onset of treatment. At these time-points, the tumor is often poorly developed and does not display the characteristic features of GBM. The outcome of these studies is most likely very different from when treatment is initiated around day 10 or later when the tumor has established its typical growth. Thus, the clinical relevance of the findings obtained when using experimental glioma models increases with increasing the time-interval between tumor cell implantation and onset of treatment and onset of treatment.

Arguably, the genetic heterogeneity and genetic instability of human GBM lead to development of treatment-associated resistance through selection pressure of specific clones. The lack of heterogeneity found in experimental glioma cell lines complicates the prediction of the efficiency of certain treatment modalities, e.g. molecular targeting or gene therapy of specific GBM-associated genetic changes. Experimental glioma cell lines may instead be more useful for studies on general GBM features like neovascularization and immunosuppression, and for the development of anti-angiogenic therapy and immunotherapy.

To summarize, the clinical relevance of the use of N29 and N32 glioma models depends on the scientific question and the experimental set-up.

What is the magnitude of endogenous neuroblast migration toward gliomas?

Glass et al. reported abundant numbers of endogenous SVZ-derived neuroblasts that completely surround and infiltrate G261 mouse malignant brain tumors⁵⁸. We found moderate numbers of endogenous neuroblasts in the area between the SVZ and N32 tumors. Virtually no neuroblasts were infiltrating into tumors. In both studies, high numbers of nestin+ cells were found to surround tumors. Nestin is an intermediate filament protein expressed in a variety of cells, including NSCs, endothelial cells and reactive astrocytes^{112, 130}. Glass et al. suggested that the nestin+ cells that surround tumors are neuroblasts originating from the SVZ, based on uptake of BrdU and on DiI tracing experiments⁵⁸. However, BrdU+/nestin+ cells might as well represent proliferating nestin+ reactive astrocytes residing in the parenchyma. In addition, no migratory Dil-labelled cells (presumed to originate from the SVZ) were found in the area between the SVZ and tumor⁵⁸. Furthermore, Glass et al. estimated that 10% of the nestin+ cells co-expressed DCx and 30% of nestin+ cells co-expressed PSA-NCAM⁵⁸. These results are surprising in light of the finding that nestin is largely down-regulated in migrating neuroblasts¹³¹ and that DCx expression almost completely overlaps with the expression of PSA-NCAM¹³². In contrast, we counted the actual numbers of nestin+ cells in the area between the SVZ and tumors at four time-points. We found no increase of nestin+ cells in the area between the SVZ and the tumor. This implies that the absolute majority of nestin+ cells surrounding malignant brain tumors originate from the brain parenchyma rather than from the SVZ. Furthermore, based on their star-shaped morphology and concomitant expression of GFAP, we considered the nestin+ cells to represent reactive astrocytes. Our finding of moderate numbers of DCx+ neuroblasts in the area between the SVZ and tumors points to a more limited SVZ response to tumors.

Another study by Staflin et al. found no evidence of DCx+ neuroblasts migrating from the SVZ toward N29 brain tumor⁵⁹. Our findings when using N32 tumors indicate that the SVZ neurogenic response to tumors is dependent on tumor size and on the proximity of the tumor to the SVZ. It would be interesting to investigate the SVZ response to N29 tumor growth at later time-points than was done by Staflin et al.

The different results from the above-mentioned studies are probably due to differences in methodology and experimental set-up. Alternatively, endogenous neuroblast migration toward tumors may be dependent on the tumor type.

What are the possible functions of endogenous neuroblast migration toward gliomas?

NPCs anti-glioma effect, as described by Glass et al.⁵⁸, gained attention because of the potential therapeutic implication. In this study, the authors argued that the increased tumor volume, found in old animals as compared to young animals, was caused by a concomitant decrease in nestin+ cells (putative NPCs) around tumors⁵⁸. The increased tumor growth found in aged animals can, however, be associated with many factors including a declining anti-tumor immune response. In addition, our findings indicate that the vast majority of the tumor-associated nestin+ cells are not NPCs but reactive astrocytes¹¹⁸. Additional experiments conducted by Glass et al. demonstrate anti-glioma properties of NPCs under certain experimental conditions, but they do not say anything about the effect of endogenous NPCs on tumor growth *in vivo*. In contrast, it has been hypothesized that SVZ-derived NPCs can contribute to glioma growth, directly or indirectly by production of growth factors¹³³. As pointed out in this article, this is a theoretical proposal not supported by experimental evidence¹³³.

Our findings demonstrating that the majority of the migrating neuroblasts express Pbx, a region-specific marker of immature neurons, could point to an attempt by the SVZ to regenerate neurons that died as a result of tumor growth¹¹⁸. Migratory tumor-associated neuroblasts could potentially contribute to neuronal replacement, as has been shown for SVZ-derived neuroblasts following ischemic stroke⁵⁶. Obviously, neuronal replacement is not the primary interest for the GBM patient of today. However, given the development of successful glioma therapy, neuronal replacement by endogenous NPCs could provide a role in the prevention or treatment of tumor-associated neurological complications.

In summary, limited numbers of studies of glioma-attracted endogenous neuroblasts exist and notions of their possible effects *in vivo* are speculative. Still, if migratory endogenous neuroblasts exhibit a direct anti-tumor effect, as suggested by Glass et al., one would like to modify the endogenous SVZ response in order to increase the numbers of neuroblasts with anti-tumor effects. This would need to be very carefully designed in order to avoid stimulation of glioma cell growth or migration, and to avoid negative effects on the SVZ. For instance, intracerebroventricular infusions of EGF lead to formation of hyperplasias in the SVZ¹³⁴. Identification of signalling factors that specificially stimulate NPC migration and not glioma cell migration would facilitate such functional studies.

Which type of cell is most efficient as a migratory delivery vehicle in gliomas?

Current knowledge in the field has mainly emerged from the use of immortalized NSC lines, such as the murine NSC line C17.2 or the human fetal NSC line HB1.F3¹³⁵. In our and other studies, primary isolated precursor cells, derived from the adult SVZ or the adult bone marrow, were used^{97, 117, 129}. The present thesis suggests that adult intratumorally implanted MSCs are more efficient as migratory vehicles than adult NPCs. This may be due both to superior survival and migration of implanted MSCs.

Immortalized NSCs can migrate throughout the normal brain parenchyma toward a distant tumor^{87, 99}. Our results show that adult primary NPCs and MSCs, syngeneic to the host and tumor, need to be implanted into or in close proximity to tumors to achieve widespread migration within tumors. We found, however, that NPCs, when implanted into the corpus callosum, can migrate along the corpus callosum toward a distant tumor (own unpublished observations). NPC migration along the corpus callosum was also found when NPCs were implanted intracranially in the absence of tumor, implying that their migratory capacity throughout normal brain tissue was not specific to tumors. It is not clear from the initial study by Aboody et al. if migration of immortalized NSCs along the corpus callosum is specific for tumors or if it also occurs in the absence of tumor growth. Still, the capacity of immortalized NSCs to migrate throughout normal brain tissue toward tumors makes them potentially more efficient delivery vehicles compared to adult MSCs and NPCs. However, implantation of immortalized NSCs into the brain can evoke an immune response. This implies that the immune system might neutralize implanted cells and negatively effect their survival and migration to tumor microsatellites. HLA-matched allogeneic stem/precursor cells, as used in our studies, are immunologically compatible and this may favor their survival and migration within tumors. Future studies need to compare the efficiency in survival and intratumoral migration between adult MSCs and immortalized NSCs.

In addition, alternative types of precursor cells, not investigated in the present thesis, might serve as potent vehicles in gliomas. Human skin-derived stem cells can migrate to human gliomas in immunodeficient mice, reduce tumor angiogenesis and decrease glioma growth. Interestingly, a fraction of the implanted skin-derived stem cells adopt a pericytic phenotype⁹⁸. I.v. injected endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) can integrate into tumors but intracranial implantation of EPCs does not result in migration toward gliomas⁹⁸.

Why do stem cells migrate toward and within tumors?

Our results demonstrate that implanted MSCs migrate along tumor blood vessels *in vivo*. Furthermore, inhibition of signaling factors involved in tumor vessel formation is associated with decreased numbers of implanted MSCs within tumors¹¹⁷. Previous

findings using *in vitro* assays have shown that angiogenic cytokines like VEGF-A. interleukin-8, transforming growth factor- β 1 and neurotrophin-3 are involved in the recruitment of MSCs to gliomas^{105, 106}. The pericyte-like phenotype of MSCs indicates that endothelial interactions and specifically PDGF- β , sphingosine-1-phosphate and angiopoietin-1 mediate MSC recruitment to tumors since these factors contribute to recruit pericytes to tumor vessels^{24, 136}. Recent findings have demonstrated strong in vitro and in situ links between human MSCs and human pericytes¹³⁷. This study shows that MSCs are members of the pericyte family, although all pericytes are not MSCs. Thus, MSCs reside within a perivascular niche in the bone marrow and localize to the perivascular niche upon implantation to gliomas. It is conceivable that similar factors attract MSCs to their bone marrow perivascular niche and to glioma vessels. MSCs also home to wounds where they contribute to wound healing^{46, 138}. Tumors, which can be considered as "wounds that never heal"¹³⁹, provide a site with neovascularization, high numbers of inflammatory cells and cytokines that can attract MSCs. Hence, it is possible that the extensive intratumoral migration capacity of implanted MSCs represents a stereotypic response to injury-induced inflammation.

Why do NPCs migrate within tumors? The literature suggests that VEGF, hepatocyte growth factor, SDF-1 α and MCP-1 are important factors^{102, 109}. We found that implanted NPCs are able to localize closely to tumor vessels, but not to the same extent as MSCs do (own unpublished observations). Interestingly, it has been suggested that tumor-produced ECM proteins (such as laminin and tenascin-C) facilitate NSC migration to tumors¹⁰⁴. This could explain why implanted stem and precursor cells possess the capacity to migrate to invasive tumor cells and avoid normal brain tissue.

How should stem cells be administered?

The work in the present thesis focuses primarily on administration of precursor cells through intratumoral delivery. This mode of delivery seems to be an efficient and tumor specific way for delivery of precursor cells to and within gliomas^{117, 129}. Nakamizo et al. reported incorporation of human MSCs into human gliomas in immunodeficient mice upon intra-arterial injections via the ipsilateral or contralateral carotid artery⁹⁶. No systematic study has been performed to compare the efficiency of MSC distribution upon intratumoral *vs*. intra-arterial delivery. Neither is it known whether intra-arterial injections of MSCs result in infiltration to distantly located tumor microsatellites with an intact blood-brain barrier.

Work with the NSC line C17.2 suggest that these cells possess the capacity to infiltrate gliomas following i.v. delivery, although at a low frequency⁸⁷. We performed MSC i.v. injections into glioma-bearing animals and we found no evidence of MSC incorpora-

tion in vascularized gliomas¹¹⁷. In contrast, Studeny et al. reported that i.v. administered MSCs home to subcutaneously growing melanomas. Infiltration into melanomas was inefficient since five MSC injections during a 20-day period infiltrated only a fraction of the established tumors¹⁴⁰. Intratumoral delivery seems more promising compared to i.v. delivery in light of the low efficiency and the potential side-effects of i.v. injected MSCs. Intra-arterial administration, although also possessing potential side-effects, remains a possible alternative to intratumoral delivery.

How does implantation of multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells affect tumor growth?

Implantation of MSCs, not modified to produce a therapeutic transgene but often modified to allow for visualization e.g. by eGFP transduction, has been reported to either decrease tumor growth, favor tumor growth or to give no effect. We found no apparent effect on tumor growth following intratumoral implantation of eGFP+ MSCs¹¹⁷. Nakamura et al. reported that implanted rat GFP+ MSCs prolong survival of glioma-bearing animals, but no mechanistic effect was presented⁹⁷. In another study, conditioned media from human MSCs was found to inhibit human cancer cell proliferation *in vitro* by down-regulation of the transcription factor NF- $\kappa\beta^{141}$.

In contrast, MSCs can favor tumor growth through production of immunosuppressive factors and inihibition of lymphocyte proliferation¹⁴². Additionally, one could imagine that implantation of pericyte-like MSCs would favor tumor angiogenesis and thereby facilitate tumor growth, but our results indicate that MSC implantation has no apparent effect on tumor microvessel density within gliomas¹¹⁷. It is, however, possible that implanted MSCs can influence tumor blood flow without affecting the number of tumor vessels.

The different effects of implantations/injections of MSCs on tumor growth are striking. It is possible that heterogeneity of cultured MSCs (i.e. multiple MSC sub-populations with different properties)¹⁴³, differences in tumor cells and models, species-specific interactions between tumor cells, MSCs and hosts account for some of the different effects on tumor growth. The findings illustrate the complexity of the role of MSCs in cancer. Our findings indicate that MSCs need to be genetically modified to express a therapeutic transgene in order to decrease tumor growth¹¹⁷, but the opposing results from other groups justify further studies.

Can implanted stem cells form secondary malignancies?

Transplantation of stem cells into the pathological brain is associated with potential risks of tumor formation¹⁴⁴. MSCs are candidate cells for the origin of sarcomas, and SVZ-derived NPCs might be associated with glioma development^{145, 146}. In addition, a concern when using retroviral vectors is the risk of insertional mutagenesis and tumorigenic development of the transduced cells¹⁴⁷.

Importantly, we found no signs of development of secondary malignancies of retrovirally transduced adult eGFP+ MSCs/NPCs after implantation into established malignant brain tumors or into normal brain tissue. Using confocal microscopy to detect co-labelling of GFP and the cell-cycle marker Ki67, we found no evidence of proliferation of implanted MSCs or NPCs within highly proliferative tumors up to 30 days after MSC/NPC implantation¹²⁹. This findings speaks against tumor formation of MSCs and NPCs although one cannot exclude transformation of these cells *in vivo* at later time-points. In contrast, Shah et al. reported that approximately 2% of implanted immortalized NSCs continue to proliferate following implantation into malignant brain tumors¹⁴⁸. There is an obvious risk that expression of the gene (e.g. the proto-oncogene v-*myc*) used to immortalize the cell line can contribute to malignant transformation of stem cells.

In addition, long-term culture of stem cells can be associated with malignant transformation. It has been shown that human MSCs can be cultured safely for standard expansion periods (6-12 weeks)^{149, 150}. However, long-term (i.e. five months) *in vitro* culturing can transform MSCs into a malignant phenotype¹⁵⁰. Conflicting data exist regarding transformation of expanded NPCs. Foroni et al. demonstrated that mouse adult SVZ-derived NSCs can be propagated for more than a year and still maintain a stable phenotype¹⁵¹. In contrast, another group showed that rat SVZ-derived NPCs can develop into tumorigenic cells briefly upon *in vitro* expansion¹⁵². The different results may be explained by heterogeneity of the isolated cells, species differences, and by differences in culturing methods.

What should stem cells deliver to gliomas?

MSCs association and integration into tumor vessels offer several opportunities for therapeutic targeting of gliomas. The tumor neovasculature is critical for tumor growth¹⁴ and implanted MSCs may act as vehicles for delivery of anti-angiogenic substances to vascularized tumors. Furthermore, combinatorial targeting of both tumor endothelium and tumor pericytes can diminish tumor vascularization in a synergistic way and concomitantly decrease tumor growth¹⁵³. The vessel association of MSC implies that an approach to locally target both tumor endothelial cells and tumor pericytes is possible.

Implanted MSCs are also strategically located to deliver substances that can attack putative CSCs, which may reside within a perivascular niche⁶⁹.

The close association of implanted MSCs with tumor vessels may also explain their robust capacity to attract blood-borne immune cells to tumors. MSCs, genetically modified to produce pro-inflammatory substances like interleukin-2, interferon- β and interleukin-23 can decrease tumor growth and prolong survival of tumor-bearing animals^{96, 97, 154}. The therapeutic effect correlates with increased infiltration of blood-borne immune cells, e.g. cytotoxic T-cells and NK-cells, into tumors^{96, 97, 154}. It would be interesting to see if systemic immunotherapy in combination with intratumoral implantation of immunomodulatory MSCs could act synergistically in glioma treatment.

The capacity of MSCs to target infiltrative tumor cells suggests that implanted or injected MSCs can be used to deliver anti-invasive substances to prevent further disseminating growth. Identification of substances that specifically can target migration of glioma cells without affecting intratumoral MSC migration would be important for this purpose. Alternatively, an inducible drug delivery system, like a pro-drug converting enzyme, would allow MSCs to migrate to invasive tumor extensions and then, upon induction, deliver anti-invasive substances.

Can MSCs achieve therapeutic benefit without delivery of a tumoricidal substance? The pericytic phenotype and perivascular location of MSCs indicate that implanted MSCs could possibly function as pericytes within tumors. Tumor pericytes contribute to vascular normalization which in turn enhances the influx of immune effector cells, which can lead to decreased tumor growth¹⁵⁵. Accordingly, it would be interesting to see if implanted MSCs can contribute to normalization of tumor vasculature and facilitate immunotherapy of tumors. In addition, Xian et al. demonstrated that tumor pericytes can limit tumor cell metastasis¹⁵⁶. In contrast, another group showed that, when mixed with breast cancer cells, MSCs can increase the metastatic potential of the cancer¹⁵⁷. Because of the infiltrative growth of human GBM, it will be important to investigate the role of implanted MSCs in glioma cell invasion.

Stem cell based therapy of malignant brain tumors - will it work in patients?

The literature provides abundant reports of novel successful experimental glioma therapies but the clinical outcome remains unsatisfactory. As discussed above, it is clear that most experimental glioma models do not exhibit the same genetic heterogeneity as human GBM. Experimental scientists often treat a one to five days old brain tumor while clinicians indeed face a more challenging task. So, why would implantation of genetically modified stem/precursor cells prevail against brain tumors? The present thesis shows that MSC intratumoral migration is associated with a general GBM feature, i.e. tumor neovascularization, and not with specific genetic pathways. In addition, efficient and tumor specific migratory capacity of MSCs and NPCs was demonstrated after implantation into gliomas that previously were allowed to grow for a certain timeperiod and establish their characteristic growth pattern. It is therefore conceivable that implanted human precursors will migrate within vascularized tumors of patients too. Importantly, implanted MSCs can, in contrast to most other experimental glioma therapies, specifically target the invasive tumor cells. The success of stem cell implantation in glioma therapy will, however, depend not only on their migratory capacity but also on availability, safety issues and the choice of therapeutic transgenes.

A prospect for stem cell based therapy of glioma patients includes implantation of genetically modified stem cells into the remaining tumor at the time of surgical resection. This would probably involve injections at multiple co-ordinates within the tumor. Subsequent intratumoral implantations of stem cells could be undertaken at later timepoints using image-guided stereotaxic techniques. Future studies need to determine the migratory and proliferative capacity of implanted human MSCs or NPCs within gliomas of patients. In addition, concomitant radio- and chemotherapy will most likely influence the survival and migration of implanted precursor cells. Interestingly, a recent study shows that tumor irradiation enhances the migration of implanted MSCs toward tumors¹⁵⁸, suggesting a combined, and possibly synergistic, approach to the treatment of gliomas.

Finally, implantation and injection of genetically modified stem and precursor cells have shown promise in different types of experimental cancer models, including malignant melanoma, ovarian cancer, Kaposi's sarcoma, melanoma brain metastases and lung metastases^{135, 159, 160}. The findings of the present thesis may therefore contribute to the development of therapy not only against primary brain tumors but also against other types of cancers.
REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. www.cancer.gov: National Cancer Institute, US National Institute of Healths.
- 2. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100:57-70.
- 3. Ringborg U, Dalianis T, Henriksson R. Onkologi; 2008.
- 4. Wen PY, Kesari S. Malignant gliomas in adults. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:492-507.
- 5. Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science. 2008;321:1807-1812.
- 6. Kaye AH, Laws E.R. Brain Tumors; 1995.
- 7. Kleihues P, Cavenee W, eds. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System. 2 ed: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- 8. Martinez R, Schackert G. Epigenetic aberrations in malignant gliomas: an open door leading to better understanding and treatment. Epigenetics. 2007;2:147-150.
- Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T, et al. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:997-1003.
- 10. Matsukado Y, Maccarty CS, Kernohan JW. The growth of glioblastoma multiforme (astrocytomas, grades 3 and 4) in neurosurgical practice. J Neurosurg. 1961;18:636-644.
- 11. Demuth T, Berens ME. Molecular mechanisms of glioma cell migration and invasion. J Neurooncol. 2004;70:217-228.
- 12. Joyce JA. Therapeutic targeting of the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2005;7:513-520.
- 13. Jain RK, di Tomaso E, Duda DG, et al. Angiogenesis in brain tumours. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2007;8:610-622.
- 14. Hanahan D, Folkman J. Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. Cell. 1996;86:353-364.
- 15. Lyden D, Hattori K, Dias S, et al. Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth. Nat Med. 2001;7:1194-1201.
- 16. Song S, Ewald AJ, Stallcup W, et al. PDGFRbeta+ perivascular progenitor cells in tumours regulate pericyte differentiation and vascular survival. Nat Cell Biol. 2005;7:870-879.
- 17. De Palma M, Venneri MA, Roca C, et al. Targeting exogenous genes to tumor angiogenesis by transplantation of genetically modified hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med. 2003;9:789-795.
- 18. Machein MR, Renninger S, de Lima-Hahn E, et al. Minor contribution of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitors to the vascularization of murine gliomas. Brain Pathol. 2003;13:582-597.
- Purhonen S, Palm J, Rossi D, et al. Bone marrow-derived circulating endothelial precursors do not contribute to vascular endothelium and are not needed for tumor growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:6620-6625.
- 20. Rafii S, Lyden D, Benezra R, et al. Vascular and haematopoietic stem cells: novel targets for antiangiogenesis therapy? Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2:826-835.
- Rajantie I, Ilmonen M, Alminaite A, et al. Adult bone marrow-derived cells recruited during angiogenesis comprise precursors for periendothelial vascular mural cells. Blood. 2004;104:2084-2086.
- 22. Bababeygy SR, Cheshier SH, Hou LC, et al. Hematopoietic Stem Cell-Derived Pericytic Cells in Brain Tumor Angio-Architecture. Stem Cells Dev. 2008;17:11-18.

- 23. Hashizume H, Baluk P, Morikawa S, et al. Openings between defective endothelial cells explain tumor vessel leakiness. Am J Pathol. 2000;156:1363-1380.
- 24. Bergers G, Song S. The role of pericytes in blood-vessel formation and maintenance. Neuro Oncol. 2005;7:452-464.
- 25. Rowland, ed. Merritt's Neurology. 11 ed; 2005.
- 26. Talmadge JE, Singh RK, Fidler IJ, et al. Murine models to evaluate novel and conventional therapeutic strategies for cancer. Am J Pathol. 2007;170:793-804.
- 27. Holland EC, Martuza. Experimental models for brain tumor. Brain Tumor Progress Review: NINDS. NIH; 2005.
- 28. Pulkkanen KJ, Yla-Herttuala S. Gene therapy for malignant glioma: current clinical status. Mol Ther. 2005;12:585-598.
- 29. Fomchenko EI, Holland EC. Mouse models of brain tumors and their applications in preclinical trials. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:5288-5297.
- Barth RF. Rat brain tumor models in experimental neuro-oncology: the 9L, C6, T9, F98, RG2 (D74), RT-2 and CNS-1 gliomas. J Neurooncol. 1998;36:91-102.
- 31. Janelidze S, Bexell D, Badn W, et al. Two rat brain tumor models with characteristics of human glioblastoma and anaplastic astrocytoma. Submitted manuscript. 2008.
- 32. Savarese TM, Jang T, Low HP, et al. Isolation of immortalized, INK4a/ARF-deficient cells from the subventricular zone after in utero N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea exposure. J Neurosurg. 2005;102:98-108.
- 33. Siesjo P, Visse E, Lindvall M, et al. Immunization with mutagen-treated (tum-) cells causes rejection of nonimmunogenic rat glioma isografts. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 1993;37:67-74.
- Li A, Walling J, Kotliarov Y, et al. Genomic changes and gene expression profiles reveal that established glioma cell lines are poorly representative of primary human gliomas. Mol Cancer Res. 2008;6:21-30.
- 35. Sibenaller ZA, Etame AB, Ali MM, et al. Genetic characterization of commonly used glioma cell lines in the rat animal model system. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19:E1.
- 36. Becher OJ, Holland EC. Genetically engineered models have advantages over xenografts for preclinical studies. Cancer Res. 2006;66:3355-3358, discussion 3358-3359.
- 37. Sausville EA, Burger AM. Contributions of human tumor xenografts to anticancer drug development. Cancer Res. 2006;66:3351-3354, discussion 3354.
- 38. van der Kooy D, Weiss S. Why stem cells? Science. 2000;287:1439-1441.
- Weissman IL, Anderson DJ, Gage F. Stem and progenitor cells: origins, phenotypes, lineage commitments, and transdifferentiations. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2001;17:387-403.
- 40. Baksh D, Song L, Tuan RS. Adult mesenchymal stem cells: characterization, differentiation, and application in cell and gene therapy. J Cell Mol Med. 2004;8:301-316.
- 41. Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science. 1999;284:143-147.
- 42. Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, et al. Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning *in vitro* and retransplantation *in vivo*. Transplantation. 1974;17:331-340.

- Jones BJ, McTaggart SJ. Immunosuppression by mesenchymal stromal cells: from culture to clinic. Exp Hematol. 2008;36:733-741.
- 44. Le Blanc K, Frassoni F, Ball L, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graft-versus-host disease: a phase II study. Lancet. 2008;371:1579-1586.
- 45. Chen J, Zhang ZG, Li Y, et al. Intravenous administration of human bone marrow stromal cells induces angiogenesis in the ischemic boundary zone after stroke in rats. Circ Res. 2003;92:692-699.
- 46. Wu Y, Chen L, Scott PG, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance wound healing through differentiation and angiogenesis. Stem Cells. 2007;25:2648-2659.
- Reynolds BA, Weiss S. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science. 1992;255:1707-1710.
- 48. Gage FH. Mammalian neural stem cells. Science. 2000;287:1433-1438.
- 49. Coskun V, Wu H, Blanchi B, et al. CD133+ neural stem cells in the ependyma of mammalian postnatal forebrain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:1026-1031.
- 50. Doetsch F, Caille I, Lim DA, et al. Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. Cell. 1999;97:703-716.
- 51. Alvarez-Buylla A, Garcia-Verdugo JM. Neurogenesis in adult subventricular zone. J Neurosci. 2002;22:629-634.
- 52. Carlen M, Cassidy RM, Brismar H, et al. Functional integration of adult-born neurons. Curr Biol. 2002;12:606-608.
- 53. Danilov AI, Leal WG, Ahlenius H, et al. Ultrastructural and antigenic properties of neural stem cells and their progeny in adult rat subventricular zone. Glia. 2008.
- 54. Sanai N, Tramontin AD, Quinones-Hinojosa A, et al. Unique astrocyte ribbon in adult human brain contains neural stem cells but lacks chain migration. Nature. 2004;427:740-744.
- 55. Curtis MA, Kam M, Nannmark U, et al. Human neuroblasts migrate to the olfactory bulb via a lateral ventricular extension. Science. 2007;315:1243-1249.
- 56. Arvidsson A, Collin T, Kirik D, et al. Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke. Nat Med. 2002;8:963-970.
- 57. Yamashita T, Ninomiya M, Hernandez Acosta P, et al. Subventricular zone-derived neuroblasts migrate and differentiate into mature neurons in the post-stroke adult striatum. J Neurosci. 2006;26:6627-6636.
- 58. Glass R, Synowitz M, Kronenberg G, et al. Glioblastoma-induced attraction of endogenous neural precursor cells is associated with improved survival. J Neurosci. 2005;25:2637-2646.
- 59. Staflin K, Lindvall M, Zuchner T, et al. Instructive cross-talk between neural progenitor cells and gliomas. J Neurosci Res. 2007;85:2147-2159.
- 60. Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, et al. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature. 2001;414:105-111.
- 61. Stiles CD, Rowitch DH. Glioma stem cells: a midterm exam. Neuron. 2008;58:832-846.
- 62. Clarke MF, Dick JE, Dirks PB, et al. Cancer stem cells--perspectives on current status and future directions: AACR Workshop on cancer stem cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66:9339-9344.
- 63. Hill RP. Identifying cancer stem cells in solid tumors: case not proven. Cancer Res. 2006;66:1891-1895; discussion 1890.

- 64. Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature. 2004;432:396-401.
- 65. Taylor MD, Poppleton H, Fuller C, et al. Radial glia cells are candidate stem cells of ependymoma. Cancer Cell. 2005;8:323-335.
- 66. Yuan X, Curtin J, Xiong Y, et al. Isolation of cancer stem cells from adult glioblastoma multiforme. Oncogene. 2004;23:9392-9400.
- 67. Beier D, Hau P, Proescholdt M, et al. CD133(+) and CD133(-) glioblastoma-derived cancer stem cells show differential growth characteristics and molecular profiles. Cancer Res. 2007;67:4010-4015.
- 68. Wang J, Sakariassen PO, Tsinkalovsky O, et al. CD133 negative glioma cells form tumors in nude rats and give rise to CD133 positive cells. Int J Cancer. 2008;122:761-768.
- 69. Calabrese C, Poppleton H, Kocak M, et al. A perivascular niche for brain tumor stem cells. Cancer Cell. 2007;11:69-82.
- Rebetz J, Tian D, Persson A, et al. Glial progenitor-like phenotype in low-grade glioma and enhanced CD133-expression and neuronal lineage differentiation potential in high-grade glioma. PLoS ONE. 2008;3:e1936.
- Kelly PN, Dakic A, Adams JM, et al. Tumor growth need not be driven by rare cancer stem cells. Science. 2007;317:337.
- 72. Ghods AJ, Irvin D, Liu G, et al. Spheres isolated from 9L gliosarcoma rat cell line possess chemoresistant and aggressive cancer stem-like cells. Stem Cells. 2007;25:1645-1653.
- 73. Pellegatta S, Poliani PL, Corno D, et al. Neurospheres enriched in cancer stem-like cells are highly effective in eliciting a dendritic cell-mediated immune response against malignant gliomas. Cancer Res. 2006;66:10247-10252.
- 74. Zheng X, Shen G, Yang X, et al. Most C6 cells are cancer stem cells: evidence from clonal and population analyses. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3691-3697.
- 75. Fine HA, Kun LE. Treatment. Brain Tumor Progress Review: NINDS, NIH; 2005.
- 76. Rich JN, Bigner DD. Development of novel targeted therapies in the treatment of malignant glioma. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2004;3:430-446.
- 77. Bell E, Jr., Karnosh LJ. Cerebral hemispherectomy; report of a case 10 years after operation. J Neurosurg. 1949;6:285-293.
- 78. Mitchell P, Ellison DW, Mendelow AD. Surgery for malignant gliomas: mechanistic reasoning and slippery statistics. Lancet Neurol. 2005;4:413-422.
- 79. Sanai N, Berger MS. Glioma extent of resection and its impact on patient outcome. Neurosurgery. 2008;62:753-764; discussion 264-756.
- 80. Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:987-996.
- Visse E, Johansson AC, Widegren B, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis of glioma-infiltrating leucocytes after peripheral therapeutic immunization with interferon-gamma-transfected glioma cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2000;49:142-151.
- Visse E, Siesjo P, Widegren B, et al. Regression of intracerebral rat glioma isografts by therapeutic subcutaneous immunization with interferon-gamma, interleukin-7, or B7-1-transfected tumor cells. Cancer Gene Ther. 1999;6:37-44.

- 83. Salford LG, Ask E, Siesjo P, et al. Immunization with autologous glioma cells transfected with IFN-g gene significantly prolongs survival in GBM-patients older than 50 years. Abstract, World Federation of Neuro-Oncology Meeting. 2005.
- 84. McLendon R, Friedman A, Bigner D, et al. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature. 2008.
- 85. Aghi M, Chiocca EA. Gene therapy for glioblastoma. Neurosurg Focus. 2006;20:E18.
- Lawler SE, Peruzzi PP, Chiocca EA. Genetic strategies for brain tumor therapy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2006;13:225-233.
- 87. Aboody KS, Brown A, Rainov NG, et al. Neural stem cells display extensive tropism for pathology in adult brain: evidence from intracranial gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97:12846-12851.
- Benedetti S, Pirola B, Pollo B, et al. Gene therapy of experimental brain tumors using neural progenitor cells. Nat Med. 2000;6:447-450.
- Ehtesham M, Kabos P, Gutierrez MA, et al. Induction of glioblastoma apoptosis using neural stem cell-mediated delivery of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. Cancer Res. 2002;62:7170-7174.
- 90. Ehtesham M, Kabos P, Kabosova A, et al. The use of interleukin 12-secreting neural stem cells for the treatment of intracranial glioma. Cancer Res. 2002;62:5657-5663.
- 91. Herrlinger U, Woiciechowski C, Sena-Esteves M, et al. Neural precursor cells for delivery of replication-conditional HSV-1 vectors to intracerebral gliomas. Mol Ther. 2000;1:347-357.
- 92. Kim SK, Cargioli TG, Machluf M, et al. PEX-producing human neural stem cells inhibit tumor growth in a mouse glioma model. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:5965-5970.
- Kim SK, Kim SU, Park IH, et al. Human neural stem cells target experimental intracranial medulloblastoma and deliver a therapeutic gene leading to tumor regression. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:5550-5556.
- 94. Li S, Tokuyama T, Yamamoto J, et al. Bystander effect-mediated gene therapy of gliomas using genetically engineered neural stem cells. Cancer Gene Ther. 2005;12:600-607.
- 95. Moore XL, Lu J, Sun L, et al. Endothelial progenitor cells' "homing" specificity to brain tumors. Gene Ther. 2004;11:811-818.
- 96. Nakamizo A, Marini F, Amano T, et al. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas. Cancer Res. 2005;65:3307-3318.
- 97. Nakamura K, Ito Y, Kawano Y, et al. Antitumor effect of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells in a rat glioma model. Gene Ther. 2004;11:1155-1164.
- 98. Pisati F, Belicchi M, Acerbi F, et al. Effect of human skin-derived stem cells on vessel architecture, tumor growth, and tumor invasion in brain tumor animal models. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3054-3063.
- 99. Staflin K, Honeth G, Kalliomaki S, et al. Neural progenitor cell lines inhibit rat tumor growth *in vivo*. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5347-5354.
- 100. Tabatabai G, Bahr O, Mohle R, et al. Lessons from the bone marrow: how malignant glioma cells attract adult haematopoietic progenitor cells. Brain. 2005;128:2200-2211.
- 101. Schmidt NO, Przylecki W, Yang W, et al. Brain tumor tropism of transplanted human neural stem cells is induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. Neoplasia. 2005;7:623-629.

- Heese O, Disko A, Zirkel D, et al. Neural stem cell migration toward gliomas *in vitro*. Neuro-oncol. 2005;7:476-484.
- 103. Ehtesham M, Yuan X, Kabos P, et al. Glioma tropic neural stem cells consist of astrocytic precursors and their migratory capacity is mediated by CXCR4. Neoplasia. 2004;6:287-293.
- 104. Ziu M, Schmidt NO, Cargioli TG, et al. Glioma-produced extracellular matrix influences brain tumor tropism of human neural stem cells. J Neurooncol. 2006;79:125-133.
- 105. Schichor C, Birnbaum T, Etminan N, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor A contributes to glioma-induced migration of human marrow stromal cells (hMSC). Exp Neurol. 2006;199:301-310.
- 106. Birnbaum T, Roider J, Schankin CJ, et al. Malignant gliomas actively recruit bone marrow stromal cells by secreting angiogenic cytokines. J Neurooncol. 2007;83:241-247.
- 107. Morris CS, Esiri MM. Immunocytochemical study of macrophages and microglial cells and extracellular matrix components in human CNS disease. 1. Gliomas. J Neurol Sci. 1991;101:47-58.
- 108. Aarum J, Sandberg K, Haeberlein SL, et al. Migration and differentiation of neural precursor cells can be directed by microglia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:15983-15988.
- Belmadani A, Tran PB, Ren D, et al. Chemokines regulate the migration of neural progenitors to sites of neuroinflammation. J Neurosci. 2006;26:3182-3191.
- 110. Sato H, Kuwashima N, Sakaida T, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor-transfected bone marrow stromal cells exhibit enhanced migratory response and therapeutic potential against murine brain tumors. Cancer Gene Ther. 2005;12:757-768.
- 111. Honeth G, Staflin K, Kalliomaki S, et al. Chemokine-directed migration of tumor-inhibitory neural progenitor cells towards an intracranially growing glioma. Exp Cell Res. 2006;312:1265-1276.
- 112. Krum JM, Rosenstein JM. Transient coexpression of nestin, GFAP, and vascular endothelial growth factor in mature reactive astroglia following neural grafting or brain wounds. Exp Neurol. 1999;160:348-360.
- Ohab JJ, Fleming S, Blesch A, et al. A neurovascular niche for neurogenesis after stroke. J Neurosci. 2006;26:13007-13016.
- 114. Sakamoto KM. Su-11248 Sugen. Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2004;5:1329-1339.
- 115. Lundberg C, Horellou P, Mallet J, et al. Generation of DOPA-producing astrocytes by retroviral transduction of the human tyrosine hydroxylase gene: *in vitro* characterization and *in vivo* effects in the rat Parkinson model. Exp Neurol. 1996;139:39-53.
- 116. Lundberg C, Martinez-Serrano A, Cattaneo E, et al. Survival, integration, and differentiation of neural stem cell lines after transplantation to the adult rat striatum. Exp Neurol. 1997;145:342-360.
- 117. Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Tormin A, et al. Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells act as pericyte-like migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas. Molecular Therapy, in press. 2008.
- 118. Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Nordquist J, et al. Characterization of the subventricular zone neurogenic response to rat malignant brain tumors. Neuroscience. 2007;147:824-832.
- 119. Lee J, Kotliarova S, Kotliarov Y, et al. Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. Cancer Cell. 2006;9:391-403.
- Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Siesjö P, et al. CD133+ Tumor Initiating Cells Dominate in N29 and N32 Experimental Gliomas. Conditionally accepted, International Journal of Cancer. 2008.

- 121. Daou MC, Smith TW, Litofsky NS, et al. Doublecortin is preferentially expressed in invasive human brain tumors. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 2005;110:472-480.
- 122. Ehrmann J, Kolar Z, Mokry J. Nestin as a diagnostic and prognostic marker: immunohistochemical analysis of its expression in different tumours. J Clin Pathol. 2005;58:222-223.
- 123. Strojnik T, Rosland GV, Sakariassen PO, et al. Neural stem cell markers, nestin and musashi proteins, in the progression of human glioma: correlation of nestin with prognosis of patient survival. Surg Neurol. 2007;68:133-143; discussion 143-134.
- 124. Gan PP, Pasquier E, Kavallaris M. Class III beta-tubulin mediates sensitivity to chemotherapeutic drugs in non small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67:9356-9363.
- 125. Mozzetti S, Ferlini C, Concolino P, et al. Class III beta-tubulin overexpression is a prominent mechanism of paclitaxel resistance in ovarian cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:298-305.
- 126. Tommasi S, Mangia A, Lacalamita R, et al. Cytoskeleton and paclitaxel sensitivity in breast cancer: the role of beta-tubulins. Int J Cancer. 2007;120:2078-2085.
- 127. Singec I, Knoth R, Meyer RP, et al. Defining the actual sensitivity and specificity of the neurosphere assay in stem cell biology. Nat Methods. 2006;3:801-806.
- 128. Adams JM, Strasser A. Is tumor growth sustained by rare cancer stem cells or dominant clones? Cancer Res. 2008;68:4018-4021.
- Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Tormin A, et al. Comparative analysis of rat bone marrow derived- and subventricular zone-derived precursor cells as cellular vectors in glioma gene therapy. Manuscript. 2008.
- Lendahl U, Zimmerman LB, McKay RD. CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. Cell. 1990;60:585-595.
- 131. Couillard-Despres S, Winner B, Schaubeck S, et al. Doublecortin expression levels in adult brain reflect neurogenesis. Eur J Neurosci. 2005;21:1-14.
- Nacher J, Crespo C, McEwen BS. Doublecortin expression in the adult rat telencephalon. Eur J Neurosci. 2001;14:629-644.
- 133. Klassen H. Recruitment of endogenous neural progenitor cells by malignant neoplasms of the central nervous system. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. 2007;2:113-119.
- 134. Kuhn HG, Winkler J, Kempermann G, et al. Epidermal growth factor and fibroblast growth factor-2 have different effects on neural progenitors in the adult rat brain. J Neurosci. 1997;17:5820-5829.
- Aboody KS, Najbauer J, Danks MK. Stem and progenitor cell-mediated tumor selective gene therapy. Gene Ther. 2008;15:1072.
- 136. Bergers G, Benjamin LE. Tumorigenesis and the angiogenic switch. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3:401-410.
- Crisan M, Yap S, Casteilla L, et al. A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;3:301-313.
- 138. Sasaki M, Abe R, Fujita Y, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells are recruited into wounded skin and contribute to wound repair by transdifferentiation into multiple skin cell type. J Immunol. 2008;180:2581-2587.
- 139. Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med. 1986;315:1650-1659.

- Studeny M, Marini FC, Champlin RE, et al. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells as vehicles for interferon-beta delivery into tumors. Cancer Res. 2002;62:3603-3608.
- 141. Qiao L, Zhao TJ, Wang FZ, et al. NF-kappaB downregulation may be involved the depression of tumor cell proliferation mediated by human mesenchymal stem cells. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2008;29:333-340.
- 142. Djouad F, Plence P, Bony C, et al. Immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stem cells favors tumor growth in allogeneic animals. Blood. 2003;102:3837-3844.
- Phinney DG. Building a consensus regarding the nature and origin of mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Biochem Suppl. 2002;38:7-12.
- 144. Lindvall O, Kokaia Z, Martinez-Serrano A. Stem cell therapy for human neurodegenerative disorders-how to make it work. Nat Med. 2004;10 Suppl:S42-50.
- 145. Riggi N, Cironi L, Provero P, et al. Development of Ewing's sarcoma from primary bone marrowderived mesenchymal progenitor cells. Cancer Res. 2005;65:11459-11468.
- Sanai N, Alvarez-Buylla A, Berger MS. Neural stem cells and the origin of gliomas. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:811-822.
- 147. Daniel R, Smith JA. Integration site selection by retroviral vectors: molecular mechanism and clinical consequences. Hum Gene Ther. 2008;19:557-568.
- 148. Shah K, Hingtgen S, Kasmieh R, et al. Bimodal viral vectors and *in vivo* imaging reveal the fate of human neural stem cells in experimental glioma model. J Neurosci. 2008;28:4406-4413.
- 149. Bernardo ME, Zaffaroni N, Novara F, et al. Human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells do not undergo transformation after long-term *in vitro* culture and do not exhibit telomere maintenance mechanisms. Cancer Res. 2007;67:9142-9149.
- 150. Rubio D, Garcia-Castro J, Martin MC, et al. Spontaneous human adult stem cell transformation. Cancer Res. 2005;65:3035-3039.
- 151. Foroni C, Galli R, Cipelletti B, et al. Resilience to transformation and inherent genetic and functional stability of adult neural stem cells *ex vivo*. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3725-3733.
- 152. Siebzehnrubl FA, Jeske I, Muller D, et al. Spontaneous *In Vitro* Transformation of Adult Neural Precursors into Stem-Like Cancer Cells. Brain Pathol. 2008.
- 153. Bergers G, Song S, Meyer-Morse N, et al. Benefits of targeting both pericytes and endothelial cells in the tumor vasculature with kinase inhibitors. J Clin Invest. 2003;111:1287-1295.
- 154. Yuan X, Hu J, Belladonna ML, et al. Interleukin-23-expressing bone marrow-derived neural stemlike cells exhibit antitumor activity against intracranial glioma. Cancer Res. 2006;66:2630-2638.
- 155. Hamzah J, Jugold M, Kiessling F, et al. Vascular normalization in Rgs5-deficient tumours promotes immune destruction. Nature. 2008.
- 156. Xian X, Hakansson J, Stahlberg A, et al. Pericytes limit tumor cell metastasis. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:642-651.
- 157. Karnoub AE, Dash AB, Vo AP, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature. 2007;449:557-563.
- 158. Zielske SP, Livant DL, Lawrence TS. Radiation Increases Invasion of Gene-modified Mesenchymal Stem Cells into Tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008.

- 159. Khakoo AY, Pati S, Anderson SA, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells exert potent antitumorigenic effects in a model of Kaposi's sarcoma. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1235-1247.
- 160. Komarova S, Kawakami Y, Stoff-Khalili MA, et al. Mesenchymal progenitor cells as cellular vehicles for delivery of oncolytic adenoviruses. Mol Cancer Ther. 2006;5:755-766.

CD133+ TUMOR INITIATING CELLS DOMINATE IN N29 AND N32 EXPERIMENTAL GLIOMAS

CD133+ Tumor Initiating Cells Dominate in N29 and N32 Experimental Gliomas

Daniel Bexell^{1,2†*}, Salina Gunnarsson^{1,2†}, Peter Siesjö¹, Johan Bengzon^{1,2‡}, Anna Darabi^{1‡}

¹The Rausing Laboratory, BMC D14, Division of Neurosurgery, Dept. of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden ²Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy, BMC B10, Lund University. SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden

†The authors share first authorship ‡The authors share last authorship

The present study was designed to critically evaluate the notion that cancer stem cell (CSC)like cells constitute a sub-population of cells within experimental gliomas. Virtually all cells within the N29 and N32 rat glioma models homogenously expressed the putative CSC marker CD133, the stem/progenitor marker nestin as well as the neural lineage markers glial fibrillary acidic protein, BIII-tubulin, and CNPase in vitro. The phenotype was largely retained upon exposure to conditions promoting differentiation in vitro and after intracranial implantation of tumor cells into syngeneic hosts. Unsorted adherently grown cells displayed very high clonogenicity in vitro and robust tumorigenicity in vivo. Single N29 and N32 tumor cells invariably formed clones in vitro, and intracerebral inoculation of as few as 10 adherently growing N29 and N32 tumor cells, respectively, gave rise to a tumor. These results provide an alternative view on CSC-like cells in glioma models: sphere-formation is not a prerequisite for accumulation of tumorigenic cells, and CSCs do not reside within a rare sub-population of cells in these glioma models. N29 and N32 gliomas may be used for the development of treatment strategies directed specifically against a practically pure population of brain tumor-initiating CSC-like cells.

Keywords: cancer stem cell, glioma, rat, tumor Abbreviations: AP, anterior-posterior; bFGF, basic fibroblast growth factor; BSA, bovine serum albumin; CC, corpus callosum, CNPase, 2',3'-cyclic nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase; CSC, cancer stem cell; DV, dorso-ventral; ECL, ependymal cell layer; EGF, epidermal growth factor; ENU, ethylnitrosourea; FBS, fetal bovine serum; GBM, glioblastoma multiformae; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; LV, lateral ventricle; ML, medial-lateral; NSC, neural stem cell; RECA, rat endothelial cell antigen, SCM, stem cell medium; SVZ, subventricular zone

It has been proposed that glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) in humans contain a subset of cells, so called cancer stem cells (CSCs), which are responsible for maintenance of the entire tumor^{1, 2}. Although experimental findings suggest the existence of CSCs within human GBM, this hypothesis is not proven^{3,5}. Alternatively, all or the majority of cancer cells might maintain brain tumor growth⁶. If the CSC hypothesis is correct, it implies that successful tumor treatment can only be achieved if this cell population is eliminated⁵. This is a therapeutic challenge since putative CSCs seem to be more resistant to conventional treatment strategies such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy, compared to the majority of the GBM cells⁷⁻¹⁰.

CSCs within experimental glioma models have recently been investigated. Support for the idea that

*Correspondence to: Daniel Bexell

Dept. of Clinical Sciences, Lund University

SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden

Tel: +46 46 17 12 73

Fax: +46 46 18 81 50

E-mail address: daniel.bexell@med.lu.se

Rausing Laboratory, Division of Neurosurgery

No Disclaimers

CSCs reside within a small fraction of cells were found in the rat 9L gliosarcoma and the mouse GL261 glioma models. Formation of free-floating tumor cell spheres was used as a selection tool to enrich cells with CSC properties in experimental gliomas11, 12. In the 9L cell line, sphere-forming cells expressed stem cell markers nestin and Sox2 and displayed increased tumor growth in vivo, but slower growth in vitro, as compared to 9L cells grown as monolayers. Sphere-generated 9L cells also seemed to be more chemoresistant and exhibited increased expression of anti-apoptosis and drug resistance related genes¹¹. Mouse GL261 glioma cells grown as spheres displayed increased protein expression of nestin and expression of radial glia related genes as compared to adherently growing GL261 cells. Sphere-forming cells were capable of clone formation and generated larger tumors in vivo12. However, contradictory results were found in the C6 rat glioma model where most cells were found to possess CSC-like features¹³.

We chose to address the issue of CSC-like cells in experimental glioma models using two rat brain tumor models, N29 and N32, previously induced by in utero transplacental ethyl-nitrosourea (ENU) administration¹⁴. The N29 glioma model mimics the histological appearance of human GBM and exhibits an invasive growth pattern, large areas of necrosis and neovascularization. The N32 tumor is highly proliferative and displays a more circumscribed growth pattern. Both N29 and N32 glioma cells are syngeneic to the host when implanted into Fischer344 rats. The tumor cells are therefore non or only very weakly immunogenic following implantation in vivo and the models can be used for the development of e.g. glioma immunotherapy^{15,} ¹⁶. Here, we characterized the expression profile of CD133, nestin and a selection of neural lineage markers in vitro and in vivo, clonogenic capacity in vitro and in vivo tumorigenicity of these glioma models. With respect to these parameters, our study provides striking alternative findings compared to other experimental glioma models.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Tumor cell lines and culture

The rat glioma cell lines N29 and N32, syngeneic with the Fischer344 rat were originally induced by transplacental injection of ENU to pregnant rats whose offsprings developed malignant brain tumors¹⁴. The cells were maintained in R10 medium, consisting of: RPMI 1640 medium (1X) with L-glutamine supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (VWR, West Chester, PA, USA), 10 mM HEPES buffer solution, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 50 μ g/ml gentamicin (all chemicals except FBS from GIBCO-Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

Cells were thawed and transferred to cold R10 medium, spun down and re-suspended in 5 ml R10 medium and transferred to a T25 flask. Cultured cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and detached using trypsin-EDTA (0.25% trypsin with EDTA) 1X (GIBCO-Invitrogen), resuspended in R10 medium and transferred to a new flask at every other passage. R10 medium was changed every 2-3 days and passaged about twice a week when kept in culture. Cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 6.0% CO₂. Before inoculation *in vivo* the cells were washed and re-suspended in medium without FBS and gentamicin (referred to as R0 medium).

Tumor sphere culture

The N29 and N32 cells were detached from monolayer cultures in R10, washed two times in R0 and re-suspended in stem cell medium (SCM) for sphere culture. The SCM consists of DMEM, F-12, B27, 10 mM HEPES, Penicillin-Streptomycin (GIBCO-Invitrogen), NaHCO3 7.5%, (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, Missouri, USA), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) 10 ng/ml, and epidermal growth factor (EGF) 20 ng/ml (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, M.N, USA). Fresh medium was added to the cultures every second day, and spheres were mechanically passaged every fifth day.

Subventricular zone neurosphere culture

Brains of male Fischer 344 rats (8 weeks old) were dissected, placed into ice-cold Pipes-buffer and kept on ice. The subventricular zone (SVZ) was dissected under sterile conditions and pieces collected in ice-cold Pipes-buffer. Tissue pieces were enzymatically digested in papain solution for 30 minutes at 37°C. The supernatant was carefully removed and the tissue resuspended in 1 ml control media containing DMEM/F12 (GIBCO-Invitrogen), 30% glucose, 1 M HEPES, N2 and penicillin/ streptomycin and 1 mg/ml DNAse, mechanically triturated and spun for 10 minutes at 1000 RPM and then resuspended in 1 ml proliferation media. Proliferation medium contains control medium, bovine serum albumin, heparin solution and 10 ng/ml bFGF and 20 ng/ml EGF.

Cells were counted using a Bürker chamber and plated at 100 000/ml on uncoated T25 flasks in proliferation medium and incubated at 37°C and 5.0% CO_2 . Cells were grown as neurospheres and new growth factors were added every other day. Spheres were collected with media, allowed to settle, the supernatant was aspirated and 1 ml fresh medium was added. Cells were mechanically triturated, counted and plated at desired density in T25 flasks for further studies.

Differentiation assay of spheres

Spheres obtained from culturing in SCM were seeded into multi-chamber culturing slides (BD Pharmingen, Franklin Lakes, N.J, USA) in either SCM devoid of mitogens with the addition of 1.5% FBS or R10. After 4-5 days the cells were stained using immunocytochemistry.

Immunocytochemistry

Tumor cells and SVZ derived cells were grown for 4-5 days in multi-chamber culture slides (BD Pharmingen) before staining. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 minutes, and permeabilized using 0.3% Triton X-100 for 5 min. The cells were blocked with 5% goat serum (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc., West Grove, P.A, USA) for 20 minutes and incubated with the primary antibodies; rabbit polyclonal anti-CD133, 10µg/ ml, (Abcam, Cambridge, U.K), rabbit polyclonal anti-nestin, 5µg/ml, (Abcam), mouse monoclonal anti-CNPase, 10µg/ml, (Chemicon, Temecula, C.A. USA), mouse monoclonal anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), 5µg/ml, (BD Pharmingen), mouse monoclonal anti-ß III-tubulin, 5µg/ml, (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Louis, Missouri, USA), mouse anti-rat TCR $\alpha\beta$, 5µg/ml (BD Pharmingen), and mouse anti-rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA), MCA970R, 5 µg/ml, (Serotec, Oxford, UK) for 2.5 hours at 37°C. Cells were incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C with the secondary antibodies; goat antimouse or goat-anti rabbit conjugated to Alexa 488 or Alexa 594, 5µg/ml, (Molecular Probes, Eugene,

Oregon, USA). The chamber-slides were mounted wet using Pro-Long Gold anti-fading reagent, (Molecular Probes), with nuclear staining (DAPI). PBS was used in all washing steps as well as a diluent for reagents. As negative control, the primary antibody was omitted.

Flow cytometry

Adherent N29 and N32 cells were detached and at least 400.000 cells were used for flow cytometric analysis. Cells were fixed and permeabilized using a BD Cytifix/Cytoperm[™]-kit (BD Pharmingen) according to manufacturers instruction before being stained with the same primary primary antibodies as stated above. Cells were washed twice in BD Perm/Wash™ Buffer before the secondary antibodies (goat-anti rabbit-FITC, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc., USA) was added for 30 minutes at 4°C. Goat serum (5%) (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc.) was included in all steps to avoid unspecific binding of the secondary antibody. As negative control, the primary antibody was omitted. Fluorescence was measured on a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD, Heidelberg, Germany) and analysis of the data was performed using CellQuest software (BD).

Single-cell cloning

The N29 and N32 cells were grown in R10 until semi confluent. Cells were then detached, counted and diluted to achieve the concentrations of 0.5 cell, 1 cell and 5 cells respectively in 200 μ l R10 per well in 96-well plates. Cell suspensions were counted using a Bürker chamber at high magnification before seeding into 96-well plates and no cell aggregates were visible, only cells. Each well in the 96-well plate dish was examined microscopically to validate the presence of single cells. The cells were incubated for 22 days in 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 6.0% CO₂ in order for colonies to form. Single-cell cloning was done twice.

Animal procedure and experimental design

Adult male Fischer 344 rats (8-9 weeks old) from Scanbur, Stockholm, Sweden were used. Animal procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee for Use of Laboratory Animals at Lund University, Sweden. Animals were anaesthetized with Isoflurane (2.5% in O₂, Forene, Abbott Scan-



Figure 1. N29 and N32 tumor cells exhibit sphere formation.

Tumor spheres were obtained by culturing the N29 (A) and the N32 (B) rat glioma cells in SCM. Spheres were visible after 4-5 days in culture and could be mechanically dissociated into single cells and passaged for at least five times. Scale bar is 100μ m.

dinavia AB, Solna, Sweden) and placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, USA). The following coordinates were used for tumor cell inoculation, (relative to the bregma): anterior-posterior (AP): +1.7, medial-lateral (ML) -2.5 and dorso-ventral (DV) -5.0. The tooth bar was set at -3.3 mm. Either 10, 100, or 1000 N29 tumor cells or 10, 100 or 1000 N32 tumor cells in 3 μ l medium were inoculated at 0.5 μ l/min, using a 10 μ l Hamilton syringe. After tumor cell inoculation, the needle was kept in place for 5 minutes before being slowly retracted. Animals were observed for a minimum of 28 days and then sacrificed.

Immunohistochemistry

Brains were removed and fixed for two minutes in Isopentane at a temperature of -50°C. Brains were then kept in -80°C until coronal sectioning on a freezing cryotome was performed. Six μ m thick sections were cut and mounted directly onto glass slides. To investigate presence of tumor, every third section was stained with Mayer's Hematoxylin (DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark) and examined using light microscopy. For immuno-histochemical staining of tumors, sections were fixed in roomtempered acetone for 5 minutes and rinsed in PBS. To permeabilize the tissue, PBS containing 0.1% saponin (Riedel-de Haen, Seelze, Germany) was used as washing buffer and diluent in all steps. The cells were blocked with 5% goat serum (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc.) for 20 minutes and incubated with the same primary and secondary

antibodies as stated above for 60 minutes in room temperature (RT). Sections were then washed and incubated for 30 minutes in RT with the secondary antibodies. The slides were mounted wet using Pro-Long Gold anti-fading reagent, (Molecular Probes), with nuclear staining (DAPI). As negative control, the primary antibody was omitted.

Digital capturing of stained cells

Stained cells and tissues were analyzed by the use of a light microscope (BX-60, Olympus America Inc., Melville NY, USA), equipped with a mercury lamp and filters for fluorescence (U-MWG, U-MWB, U-MWU, Olympus). Images were taken in 10× or 40× magnification for tissue sections and 20× magnification for stained cells using an Olympus Color View digital camera and captured using the analySIS® Image analysis software (Olympus).

RESULTS

The N29 and N32 rat glioma cells form free-floating tumor spheres

Cancer stem cell-like cells possess the capacity to form free-floating tumor cell spheres when the cells are grown in specialized serum free medium with the addition of the growth factors bFGF and EGF. To determine if N29 and N32 glioma cells formed spheres, cells were cultured in stem cell medium (SCM, see Materials and Methods). After 4 days, both cell types had formed free-floating





Figure 2. N29 and N32 tumor cells express stem/progenitor cell markers.

Expression of the putative cancer stem cell marker CD133 (A, B, green, C, red) and the neural stem/progenitor marker nestin (A, B, green and C, red) was determined using immunocytochemistry. SVZ-derived neurospheres, obtained from normal rat brain, were used for comparison (C, red). As negative control, the primary antibody was omitted (D). Cells were counterstained with DAPI (A-D, blue). All images were taken in 20x magnification. Scale bar is 50μ m.



Figure 3. The majority of N29 and N32 tumor cells express CD133 and nestin.

Flow cytometric analysis was used to quantitatively assess CD133 and nestin staining of adherent N29 and N32 cells. More than 96% of the N29 and N32 cells stained positive for CD133 (Fig. 3A, B, peak to the right). More than 99% of N29 as well as of N32 cells stained positive for nestin (Fig. 3A, B, peak to the right).

tumor spheres (Fig. 1). Due to a slower proliferation rate of N29 compared to N32, a few more days were required for all N29 cells to form spheres. The spheres could be dissociated mechanically and passaged for at least five times. The N29 and N32 cells grow as an adherent layer when kept in cell culturing medium containing 10% FBS (R10, see Materials and Methods). Interestingly, both N29 and N32 glioma cells consistently form free-floating spheres following extensive confluent growth in R10 medium. Thus, both N29 and N32 rat glioma cells exhibit sphereformation capacity and this was independent of the growth conditions tested.

N29 and N32 tumor cells co-express stem/progenitor cell markers

The expression profile of the putative cancer stem cell marker CD133 and neural stem/progenitor marker nestin in vitro was analyzed. Both tumor cell lines exhibited a homogenous staining of CD133 and nestin (Fig. 2A, B). N29 cells clearly displayed a stronger immunopositivity of nestin compared to N32 cells, while the intensity of CD133 was similar between the two tumor types. There was no difference in the staining intensity or in the number of stained cells between tumor spheres and the adherently growing cells, therefore only the adherent cells are shown in figure 2. Normal SVZ-derived NSCs grown as neurospheres were used as positive control for CD133 and nestin staining. Normal SVZderived neurospheres contained a heterogenous population of cells that were either clearly labeled by CD133 and nestin or devoid of labeling.

Flow cytometric analysis was performed to verify and quantita-

tively assess CD133 and nestin expression of N29 and N32 cells from adherent cultures. The absolute majority (>96%) of the N29 and the N32 cells were positive for CD133 and nestin with a higher mean fluorescence intensity of nestin as compared to CD133 (Fig. 3 A, B).



Figure 4. *N29 and N32 tumor cells express neural lineage markers.* Immunocytochemistry was used to determine the expression of the astrocyte marker glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (A, B, green and C, red), the oligodendrocyte marker CNPase (A, B, green and C, red) and the neuronal marker BIII-tubulin (A, B, green and C, red). For comparison, SVZ-derived neurospheres obtained from normal rat brain were used (C, red). As negative control the primary antibody was omitted (D). Cells were counterstained with DAPI (A-D, blue). All images were taken in 20× magnification. Scale bar is 50μ m.

N29 and N32 tumor cells express neural lineage markers

Next, we assessed the immunolabeling profile of different neural lineage markers *in vitro*; the astrocytic marker GFAP, the oligodendrocyte marker CNPase and the neuronal marker ßIII-tubulin. Both tumor types were immunopositive for CNPase and ßIII-tubulin (Fig. 4A, B). Both N29 and N32 cells also displayed weak labeling of GFAP (Fig. 4A, B) as compared to SVZ cells (Fig. 4C). The staining intensity was generally distributed homogenously on all tumor cells. Within SVZ spheres, cells with different levels of staining of the markers were seen. SVZ-derived cells that displayed a strong immunopositivity within the sphere had a characteristic morphology, for example cells positive for CNPase had a typical oligodendrocytic appearance and the morphology of ßIII-tubulin positive cells resembled neuronal cells with long processes (Fig. 4C). There was no difference in the staining intensity or in the number of stained cells between tumor spheres and the adherently growing cells, therefore only the adherent cells are shown in figure 4. In contrast to the broad expression pattern of neural stem- and lineage markers, N29 and N32 glioma cells did not express the endothelial cell marker RECA or the T lymphocyte marker TCR $\alpha\beta$ (data not shown).

In conclusion, N29 and N32 glioma cells coexpress both stem/progenitor and neural lineage markers and the expression is homogenously distributed on all cells. There was no difference in the expression pattern between tumor spheres or adherently growing tumor cells.

N29 and N32 glioma cells retain their phenotype upon exposure to conditions promoting differentiation in vitro

Multipotentiality of neural stem cells (NSCs) implies that the cells have the capacity to differentiate into astrocytes, neurons and oligodendrocytes. Differentiation capacity can be confirmed by exposing stem cells to growth conditions deprived of the growth factors bFGF and EGF and with addition of FBS. It has been suggested that CSC-like cells also have the capacity to differentiate into cells of multiple lineages when subjected to differentiation conditions¹¹. We subjected N29 and N32 tumor spheres to various differentiation conditions and compared the staining profile of the putative cancer stem cell marker CD133, as well as the stem/progenitor cell marker nestin with the adherently growing tumor cells as well as to differentiated neurospheres from SVZ.

Neither N29 nor N32 glioma cells, grown adherently or as tumor spheres, changed their phenotype or morphology when subjected to differentiation conditions. In contrast, SVZ-derived neurospheres contained cells with different levels of immunolabeling, when subjected to differentiation conditions. Cells that migrated from the SVZ neurospheres, and hence had started to differentiate, displayed a weaker staining (Fig. 2C). Thus, both N29 and N32 tumor cells retained their phenotype when subjected to various conditions promoting differentiation *in vitro*.

N29 and N32 glioma cells express stem- and lineage markers in vivo

The marker expression profile of N29 and N32 tumors in vivo was investigated. For this purpose, 1000 tumor cells of either cell type were inoculated intracranially and animals were sacrificed on day 28 following tumor cell inoculation. At the time of sacrifice, tumors had grown to a considerable size, occupying a large part of the striatum. Immunohistochemistry of tissue sections demonstrated clear CD133 expression within N29 and N32 tumors (Fig. 5A, B). CD133-positive ependymal cells along the lateral ventricles were used as positive control¹⁷ (Fig. 5C). In contrast, normal neural tissue was negative for CD133. Nestin immunolabeling was more intense in N29 compared to N32 tumors (Fig. 5A, B). Endogenous nestin positive cells were also present in the SVZ of the normal brain (Fig. 5C). Weak expression of GFAP, CNPase and BIIItubulin was found within both N29 and N32 tumors (Fig.6A, B). Endogenous expression of GFAP, CN-Pase and BIII-tubulin was found within the SVZ, corpus callosum (CC) and striatum respectively (Fig. 6C).

The N29 and N32 rat glioma cells are clonogenic in vitro

To investigate the glioma cells capacity of clonogenicity *in vitro*, a single-cell cloning assay was performed. Unsorted N29 and N32 cells were counted and diluted to achieve concentrations of 0.5, 1 as well as 5 cells in $200 \,\mu$ l per well in 96-well plates. Colony formation was calculated. After 22 days, the percentage of N29 colony formation was 33% for the concentration of 0.5 cells, 55% for the concentration of 1 cell and for 5 cells 94%, and N32 colony formation was 30% for 0.5 cells, 54% for the concentration of 1 cell and for 5 cells 99% (Table 1).

The N29 and N32 rat glioma cells display tumorigenic properties in vivo



Figure 5. Expression of CD133 and nestin is retained in intra-cerebral N29 and N32 tumors.

Immunohistochemistry was used to determine the expression of CD133 and nestin in intra-cerebral N29 (A) and N32 (B) tumors. CD133-expressing cells in the ependymal cell layer (ECL) and nestin-expressing cells in the subventricular zone (SVZ) served as positive controls (LV, lateral ventricle) (C). As negative control the primary antibody was omitted (D). Cells were counterstained with DAPI (inserted figures A-D). All images were taken in $40\times$ magnification. Scale bar is 20μ m.



Figure 6. Expression of neural lineage markers is retained in N29 and N32 intra-cerebral tumors.

Immunohistochemistry was used to determine the expression of GFAP, CNPase and β III-tubulin in intra-cerebral N29 (A) and N32 (B) tumors. Cells within the SVZ, the corpus callosum (CC) and normal brain tissue were used as positive controls (C). As negative control the primary antibody was omitted (D). Cells were counterstained with DAPI (inserted figures A-D). All images were taken in 40× magnification. Scale bar is 20 μ m.

In vivo tumorigenicity of unsorted N29 and N32 tumor cells were determined by stereotactic intra-cranial inoculation of 10, 100 or 1000 N29 and N32 cells, respectively. The percentage of established N29 tumors following inoculation of 1000 cells was 100% (n=2), 100 cells: 78% (n=9) and 10

cells: 75% (n=4). For N32 tumors, the corresponding percentage of established tumors was for 1000 cells: 100% (n=2), 100 cells: 25% (n=8) and for 10 cells: 25% (n=4), (Fig. 7A-C).

DISCUSSION

The present study was designed in order to challenge the current iteration of the CSC hypothesis that purports the existence of a low frequency of CSC-like cells in experimental glioma models. Both N29 and N32 tumor models gave rise to freefloating tumor spheres when cultured in the presence of bFGF and EGF in serum-free medium. However, sphere-formation was not necessary to enrich for tumorigenic cells. Both tumor types showed a homogenous and uniform immunostaining for the putative CSC marker CD133, as well as the stem/progenitor cell marker nestin in vitro. Immunopositivity for the neural lineage markers GFAP (astrocyte and putative NSC marker), ßIII-tubulin (neuronal marker) and CNPase (oligodendrocyte marker) was also found in both tumor types concomitantly with the expression of CD133 and nestin. Interestingly, neither N29 nor N32 tumor cells changed their phenotype upon exposure to differentiation conditions in culture. The tumors largely retained the expression of CD133, nestin and neural lineage markers following intracranial implantation of tumor cells into syngeneic hosts. Single unsorted N29 and N32 tumor cells formed clones in vitro, and intracerebral inoculation of as few as 10 N29 and N32 tumor cells, respectively, resulted in tumor growth. Thus, in contrast to most previous findings in other experimental glioma models, N29 and N32 tumors are composed of a homogenous population of tumorigenic CSC-like cells.

Table 1. Colony formation of N29 and N32 tumorcells following single-cell cloning.

N29 and N32 tumor cells were diluted to achieve concentrations of 0.5, 1 and 5 cells per well and distributed in 96-well plates. Colony formation was calculated following 22 days of incubation.

No. of cells	5	1	0.5
N29	94%	55%	33%
N32	99%	54%	30%

The existence of cells with CSC properties in experimental gliomas has recently been addressed. Tumor-initiating cells were claimed to be enriched using sphere formation as a selection tool in the rat 9L model¹¹ and the mouse GL261 model¹². We show that when subjected to conditions proposed to promote enrichment of CSC-like cells, both N29 and N32 tumor cultures readily form free-floating spheres. However, when adherently growing N29 and N32 cells loose adherence due to overgrowth, spheres are also formed in ordinary cell culture media containing 10% FBS. As discussed by Singec et al.¹⁸, nearly all dividing cells form spheres when grown in serum-free media. Furthermore, the commonly used neurosphere assay, which has been used as a tool to isolate and expand NSCs and CSCs, has clear limitations. For example, it has been shown that the majority of cells within a neurosphere



Figure 7. In vivo tumorigenicity of low numbers of N29 and N32 glioma cells.

Table showing the percentage of established intracerebral tumors following inoculation of 10, 100 or 1000 cells of N29 and N32, respectively (A). N29 tumor growth in the cortex, 42 days following inoculation of 10 N29 tumor cells. N29 tumors display a disseminated growth pattern with invasive tumor extensions and distant tumor microsatellites separated from the main tumor mass (B). N32 tumor growth in the cortex, 35 days following inoculation of 10 N32 tumor cells (C). N32 tumor displays a more circumscribed growth pattern compared to the N29 tumor, although the growth pace of N32 is higher. Scale bar is 100 μ m.

are non-stem cells and that neurospheres readily fuse, hence making it difficult to assay the sphereforming capacity of individual cells unless single cells are plated in separate wells^{18, 19}. Considering the abovementioned limitations of in vitro sphere formation in assessing CSC properties of tumor cells, we pursued to study tumor cell clonogenicity in vitro and in vivo tumorigenicity. Single-cell cloning of adherently growing unsorted tumor cells resulted in colony formation from the vast majority of single cells. The clonogenic capacity at singlecell level is in line with findings from Zheng et. al., demonstrating high clonogenicity of rat C6 glioma cells in vitro13. Furthermore, intracerebral inoculation of as few as 10 N29 and N32 tumor cells grown adherently, respectively, gave rise to intracerebral tumors. In light of the clonogenic capacity of single cells and the robust tumorigenic ability of very low numbers of adherently growing N29 and N32 tumor cells, we suggest that sphere-forming capacity is not necessary to determine presence and clonogenic potential of CSC-like cells in experimental gliomas. We propose that in vivo tumorigenicity constitutes a relevant assay to identify CSC-like cells in experimental glioma models.

The N29 and the N32 tumor cells were found to express the putative CSC marker CD133 as well as the stem/progenitor cell marker nestin. CD133 has been suggested to specifically label human CSCs, however CD133-negative cells with CSC characteristics have also been derived from human GBM^{1.} ^{2, 20, 21}. The importance of CD133 expression in the initiation and maintenance of brain tumors is thus not clear. Nestin is expressed by NSCs²² and is also found in human malignant brain tumors, predominantly in high-grade gliomas (including GBM)²³⁻²⁵, and a correlation between nestin expression within tumor and patient survival has been shown²⁵.

In the serum-cultured 9L and GL261 glioma cell lines, sphere-derived cells were reported to differentiate upon growth in differentiation conditions in vitro^{11, 12}. In contrast, Lee et al. has demonstrated that serum-culturing of glioblastoma cell lines causes irreversible loss of differentiation capacity²⁶. In line with this, we found no noticeable change in tumor cell phenotype of serum-cultured N29 and N32 glioma cells after growth in differentiation conditions *in vitro* or following intracranial implantation of tumor cells. The neural lineage

markers GFAP, BIII-tubulin and CNPase, which also are expressed in human glial tumors and human glioma cell lines^{27, 28}, were found to co-exist with the stem/progenitor cell markers within the same tumor cells. The immunolabeling profile of N29 and N32 glioma cells showed marked difference as compared to the labeling pattern of non-malignant neural cells. For instance, CD133 and BIII -tubulin are not co-expressed in the normal brain. However, BIII-tubulin is expressed in many types of human non-neural cancers including breast cancer, lung cancer and ovarian cancer²⁹⁻³¹. The expression of ßIII-tubulin in N29 and N32 glioma cells does therefore not necessarily imply a neuronal phenotype of these cells. We therefore avoid far-drawn conclusions concerning the nature of the N29 and N32 glioma cells (such as naming these cells "cancer stem cells") purely based on marker protein expression profile. However, proteins expressed in GBM and associated with high-grade malignancy and tumor cell migration²³⁻²⁵ are also expressed by the N29 and N32 rat glioma cells.

In brief, N29 and N32 rat tumor cells grow as tumor spheres, express GBM associated stem/progenitor cell markers, are clonogenic in vitro and highly tumorigenic in vivo. Our results indicate that neither sphere growth nor expression profile of stem/progenitor cell markers per se define CSC-like cells in experimental gliomas. CSC-characteristics in experimental gliomas should rather be based on functional properties such as clonogenic capacity in vitro and in vivo tumorigenicity. While it is not clear whether CSCs exist in human brain tumors^{3,6}, the N29 and N32 glioma models consist of homogenous populations of clonogenic and tumorigenic cells. Experimental therapy using these glioma models is thus directed against a practically pure population of tumorigenic glioma cells. It has been shown that serum-culturing of glioblastoma cells favors the development of a clone of tumor cells and not a heterogenous population²⁶. This could explain our findings of a homogenous population of tumor cells in the N29 and N32 glioma models. However, it also raises questions on how a fraction of CSC-like cells can persist in the 9L and GL261 glioma models despite years of culturing in serumcontaining medium. The lack of heterogeneity within these glioma models needs to be recognized and may complicate for prediction of therapeutic efficacy of certain experimental treatment modalities like gene therapy of specific GBM-associated gene defects. The models may be more useful for studies on general GBM features such as neovascularization and immunosuppression, and for the development of anti-angiogenic therapy and immunotherapy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank professors Leif G. Salford and Olle Lindvall for generously providing support and laboratory facilities. Catarina Blennow for excellent technical assistance and Gesine Paul for establishment of SVZ neurospheres. This work was supported by the Hans and Märit Rausing Charitable Fund, the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, the Crafoord, Elsa Schmitz, Magnus Bergvall and Lund University Hospital Foundations, the Gunnar Nilsson Cancer Foundation and the Royal Physiographic Society in Lund. The Lund Stem Cell Center is supported by a Center of Excellence grant in Life Sciences from the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research.

REFERENCES

- Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J, Dirks PB. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res 2003;63:5821-8.
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelman RM, Cusimano MD, Dirks PB. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 2004;432:396-401.
- Hill RP. Identifying cancer stem cells in solid tumors: case not proven. Cancer Res 2006;66:1891-5; discussion 0.
- Kim CF, Dirks PB. Cancer and stem cell biology: how tightly intertwined? Cell Stem Cell 2008;3:147-50.
- 5. Stiles CD, Rowitch DH. Glioma stem cells: a midterm exam. Neuron 2008;58:832-46.
- Adams JM, Strasser A. Is tumor growth sustained by rare cancer stem cells or dominant clones? Cancer Res 2008;68:4018-21.
- Bao S, Wu Q, McLendon RE, Hao Y, Shi Q, Hjelmeland AB, Dewhirst MW, Bigner DD,

Rich JN. Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. Nature 2006;444:756-60.

- Kang MK, Kang SK. Tumorigenesis of chemotherapeutic drug-resistant cancer stemlike cells in brain glioma. Stem Cells Dev 2007;16:837-47.
- Liu G, Yuan X, Zeng Z, Tunici P, Ng H, Abdulkadir IR, Lu L, Irvin D, Black KL, Yu JS. Analysis of gene expression and chemoresistance of CD133+ cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. Mol Cancer 2006;5:67.
- Stupp R, Hegi ME. Targeting brain-tumor stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25:193-4.
- 11. Ghods AJ, Irvin D, Liu G, Yuan X, Abdulkadir IR, Tunici P, Konda B, Wachsmann-Hogiu S, Black KL, Yu JS. Spheres isolated from 9L gliosarcoma rat cell line possess chemoresistant and aggressive cancer stem-like cells. Stem Cells 2007;25:1645-53.
- 12. Pellegatta S, Poliani PL, Corno D, Menghi F, Ghielmetti F, Suarez-Merino B, Caldera V, Nava S, Ravanini M, Facchetti F, Bruzzone MG, Finocchiaro G. Neurospheres enriched in cancer stem-like cells are highly effective in eliciting a dendritic cell-mediated immune response against malignant gliomas. Cancer Res 2006;66:10247-52.
- Zheng X, Shen G, Yang X, Liu W. Most C6 cells are cancer stem cells: evidence from clonal and population analyses. Cancer Res 2007;67:3691-7.
- 14. Siesjo P, Visse E, Lindvall M, Salford L, Sjogren HO. Immunization with mutagen-treated (tum-) cells causes rejection of nonimmunogenic rat glioma isografts. Cancer Immunol Immunother 1993;37:67-74.
- 15. Badn W, Visse E, Darabi A, Smith KE, Salford LG, Siesjo P. Postimmunization with IFN-gamma-secreting glioma cells combined with the inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitor mercaptoethylguanidine prolongs survival of rats with intracerebral tumors. J Immunol 2007;179:4231-8.
- 16. Visse E, Siesjo P, Widegren B, Sjogren HO. Regression of intracerebral rat glioma isografts by therapeutic subcutaneous immunization with interferon-gamma, interleukin-7, or B7-1-transfected tumor cells. Cancer Gene Ther

1999;6:37-44.

- 17. Pfenninger CV, Roschupkina T, Hertwig F, Kottwitz D, Englund E, Bengzon J, Jacobsen SE, Nuber UA. CD133 is not present on neurogenic astrocytes in the adult subventricular zone, but on embryonic neural stem cells, ependymal cells, and glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res 2007;67:5727-36.
- Singec I, Knoth R, Meyer RP, Maciaczyk J, Volk B, Nikkhah G, Frotscher M, Snyder EY. Defining the actual sensitivity and specificity of the neurosphere assay in stem cell biology. Nat Methods 2006;3:801-6.
- Reynolds BA, Rietze RL. Neural stem cells and neurospheres--re-evaluating the relationship. Nat Methods 2005;2:333-6.
- 20. Beier D, Hau P, Proescholdt M, Lohmeier A, Wischhusen J, Oefner PJ, Aigner L, Brawanski A, Bogdahn U, Beier CP. CD133(+) and CD133(-) glioblastoma-derived cancer stem cells show differential growth characteristics and molecular profiles. Cancer Res 2007;67:4010-5.
- 21. Wang J, Sakariassen PO, Tsinkalovsky O, Immervoll H, Boe SO, Svendsen A, Prestegarden L, Rosland G, Thorsen F, Stuhr L, Molven A, Bjerkvig R, et al. CD133 negative glioma cells form tumors in nude rats and give rise to CD133 positive cells. Int J Cancer 2008;122:761-8.
- 22. Lendahl U, Zimmerman LB, McKay RD. CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. Cell 1990;60:585-95.
- Dahlstrand J, Collins VP, Lendahl U. Expression of the class VI intermediate filament nestin in human central nervous system tumors. Cancer Res 1992;52:5334-41.
- Ehrmann J, Kolar Z, Mokry J. Nestin as a diagnostic and prognostic marker: immunohistochemical analysis of its expression in different tumours. J Clin Pathol 2005;58:222-3.
- 25. Strojnik T, Rosland GV, Sakariassen PO, Kavalar R, Lah T. Neural stem cell markers, nestin and musashi proteins, in the progression of human glioma: correlation of nestin with prognosis of patient survival. Surg Neurol 2007;68:133-43; discussion 43-4.
- 26. Lee J, Kotliarova S, Kotliarov Y, Li A, Su Q, Donin NM, Pastorino S, Purow BW, Christopher N, Zhang W, Park JK, Fine HA. Tumor

stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. Cancer Cell 2006;9:391-403.

- Kleihues P, Cavenee W. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, ed. 2: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- Studer A, de Tribolet N, Diserens AC, Gaide AC, Matthieu JM, Carrel S, Stavrou D. Characterization of four human malignant glioma cell lines. Acta Neuropathol 1985;66:208-17.
- 29. Gan PP, Pasquier E, Kavallaris M. Class III beta-tubulin mediates sensitivity to chemotherapeutic drugs in non small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res 2007;67:9356-63.
- 30. Mozzetti S, Ferlini C, Concolino P, Filippetti F, Raspaglio G, Prislei S, Gallo D, Martinelli E, Ranelletti FO, Ferrandina G, Scambia G. Class III beta-tubulin overexpression is a prominent mechanism of paclitaxel resistance in ovarian cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:298-305.
- 31. Tommasi S, Mangia A, Lacalamita R, Bellizzi A, Fedele V, Chiriatti A, Thomssen C, Kendzierski N, Latorre A, Lorusso V, Schittulli F, Zito F, et al. Cytoskeleton and paclitaxel sensitivity in breast cancer: the role of beta-tubulins. Int J Cancer 2007;120:2078-85.

CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SUBVENTRICULAR ZONE NEUROGENIC RESPONSE TO RAT MALIGNANT BRAIN TUMORS

CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SUBVENTRICULAR ZONE NEUROGENIC RESPONSE TO RAT MALIGNANT BRAIN TUMORS

D. BEXELL, a,b* S. GUNNARSSON, a,b J. NORDQUIST a,b AND J. BENGZON a,b

^aThe Rausing Laboratory, Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

^bLund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy, BMC B10, Lund University, SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden

Abstract-The subventricular zone (SVZ) is one of the neurogenic regions of the adult brain. We characterized the neurogenic response of the SVZ to the growth of brain tumors in the rat striatum. Abundant nestin positive cells, most likely representing reactive astrocytes, were found surrounding the tumor. However, we observed no substantial migration of nestin positive cells from the SVZ toward the tumor. Tumor growth resulted in decreased numbers of bromodeoxyuridine positive and Ki-67 positive proliferating cells and a concomitant increase in doublecortin and polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule immunoreactivity within the SVZ. Neuroblasts were observed in high numbers in the area between the SVZ and the tumor, most likely pointing to the SVZ as the principal source of these cells. Neuroblasts located between the SVZ and the tumor expressed the transcription factor Pbx, a marker for immature striatal neurons. However, no evidence of neuroblast differentiation into fully mature neurons was found. This study thus demonstrates increased neuroblast immunoreactivity within the SVZ ipsilateral to a brain tumor in the striatum. SVZ-derived neuroblasts attracted by the tumor adopt an immature striatal phenotype indicating a region specific reparative mechanism in response to a malignant tumor. © 2007 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Key words: brain tumor, neuroblast, doublecortin, glioma, rat, neurogenesis.

Glial tumors within the CNS present challenging clinical and scientific problems. Glioblastoma (WHO grade IV) is the most common and aggressive form of primary brain tumor. Due to the diffuse and invasive growth pattern of this tumor, complete surgical resection is, with few exceptions, impossible. Glioblastoma is also highly resistant to radiotherapy and chemotherapy and the mean survival time for patients with this disease is therefore only about 12 months with the currently offered therapy (Salcman, 1996; Surawicz et al., 1998). In the past few years, a number of studies have focused on transplantation of neural (and mesenchymal) stem cells carrying various therapeutic transgenes as experimental therapy for this disease, see e.g. (Aboody et al., 2000; Benedetti et al., 2000; Nakamizo et al., 2005), however, the endogenous neurogenic response of the brain to malignant tumor growth has only recently started to gain attention

Newly formed neurons, generated in the subventricular zone (SVZ), have a potent migratory capability and potential to replace damaged neurons following lesions of the adult rodent brain (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2000; Arvidsson et al., 2002). Research in the past years has largely been directed toward clarifying how new neurons from the SVZ are generated in response to brain lesions such as cerebral ischemia, epileptic seizures and mechanical trauma, see e.g. (Hallbergson et al., 2003) for review. Much less is known about the SVZ response to the growth of a malignant brain tumor. Duntsch et al. (2005) found an upregulation of glial progenitors, and Glass et al. (2005) reported an increase of nestin+ cells, of which a fraction co-expressed neuronal markers, in response to experimental brain tumors.

The present paper focuses on the neurogenic response of the SVZ to malignant tumor growth in the striatum of the adult rat and the main objectives of the study were: 1) to correlate proliferation in the SVZ with tumor growth; 2) to analyze SVZ neuroblast marker expression relative to tumor growth; 3) to analyze neuroblast migration toward the tumor at different time points and, finally, 4) to clarify the degree of differentiation of neuroblasts generated in the presence of a tumor.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Cell lines and culture

The rat glioma cell line N32, syngeneic with the Fischer 344 rat and originally induced by ethyl-N-nitrosourea *in vivo* as previously described (Siesio et al., 1993), were kindly provided by Anna Darabi (Glioma Immunotherapy Group, BMC, Lund University, Lund, Sweden). The cells were maintained in R10 medium, consisting of: RPMI 1640 medium (1×) with L-glutamine supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) (VWR, Chester, PA, USA), 10 mM Hepes buffer solution, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 50 μ g/mI gentamicin (all chemicals except FCS from GIBCO, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

Cells were thawed and transferred to 2 ml cold R10 medium, after 5 min another 2 ml R10 medium was added, and finally 5 ml R10 medium was added before the cells were spun down and

0306-4522/07\$30.00+0.00 © 2007 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.04.058

^{*}Correspondence to: D. Bexell, Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy, BMC B10, Klinikgaten 26, Lund University, SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden. Tel: +46-46-17-12-73; fax: +46-46-18-81-50. E-mail address: daniel.bexell@med.lu.se (D. Bexell).

Abbreviations: BrdU, 5-bromodeoxyuridine; DCx, doublecortin; DsRed2, Discosoma red fluorescent protein; FCS, fetal calf serum; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; MOI, multiplicity of infection; NeuN, neuronal nuclei; PBS, phosphate-buffered saline; Pbx, transcription factor; PFA, paraformaldehyde; PSA-NCAM, polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule; RMS, rostral migratory stream; S.E.M., standard error of the mean; SVZ, subventricular zone; TdT, terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase; TUNEL, terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferasemediated fluorescein-dUTP nick-end labeling; VEGF, vascular endotheilal growth factor.

D. Bexell et al. / Neuroscience 147 (2007) 824-832



Fig. 1. Experimental design of the time-course study (A) and the study of neuronal differentiation (B). (A) For the time-course study, the animals (n=40) were inoculated with either 500 N32DsRed2 tumor cells (n=4-6 per group) or cell medium (n=4 per group) into the striatum of the right hemisphere on day 1. Animals were perfused at four different time-points (on days 9, 16, 23 and 30) following tumor cell inoculation. Daily i.p. injections of BrdU were administered to all of the animals for 7 days prior to killing. (B) In the experiment for neuronal differentiation, 50 N32DsRed2 tumor cells were inoculated into the striatum on day 1 (n=6). BrdU was given twice daily during days 1–14. Animals were perfused on day 28.

resuspended in 5 ml R10 medium and transferred to a T25 flask. Cultured cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and detached using trypsin-EDTA (0.25% trypsin with EDTA 4Na) 1× (Invitrogen), resuspended in R10 medium and transferred to a new flask at the second passage. R10 medium was changed every 2–3 days and passaged about twice a week when kept in culture. Cells were never kept in culture for more than 6 weeks. Before inoculation *in vivo* the cells were washed and resuspended in medium without FCS and gentamicin (referred to as R0 medium). Cells were contend and resuspended in a volume corresponding to the target concentration. Cells were incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 6.0% CO₂.

Discosoma red fluorescent protein (DsRed2)-labeling of N32 tumor cells

At 80% confluency, tumor cells were transduced in R10 medium at different multiplicity of infection (MOI), from MOI=1-10, with a Moloney leukemia-derived virus. Cells were transduced with viruses encoding the DsRed2 under control of the CMV promoter (pCMMP-IRES2Dsred2-WPRE) (kindly provided and performed by Laurent Roybon, courtesy of Professor Patrik Brundin, Neuronal Survival, Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, Lund University, Lund, Sweden). Protamine sulfate was added to the medium to increase the transduction efficiency (4 µg/ml). Cells were incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 6.0% CO2. The day after addition of viral vector, tumor cells started to express the fluorescent protein DsRed2. Transduced cells were then purified through single cell cloning. Cells were counted and diluted to obtain concentrations of 5 and 0.5 cells/200 µl R10 medium per well in 96-well plates. An incubation period for 10 days followed in order for colonies to form. DsRed2 positive colonies formed from single cells were washed with PBS, trypsinated, resuspended in R10 medium and collected in a six-well plate. After a few days, when the cells had reached a higher confluence, cells were transferred to a T25 flask in 5 ml R10 medium. The single cell cloning resulted in a DsRed2 expression in vitro of 90% as analyzed by FACS.

Surgical procedure and experimental design

Fischer 344 male rats (8–9 weeks) from Scanbur, Stockholm, Sweden were used. Animal procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee for Use of Laboratory Animals at Lund University, Sweden. All experiments conformed to the Helsinki declaration on the ethical use of animals, and every effort was made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering. Animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (2.5% in O₂, Forene, Abbott Scandinavia AB, Solna, Sweden) and placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA, USA). The following coordinates were used for tumor cell inoculation and R0 cell medium inoculation (control group) into the right striatum, (relative to bregma): anterior-posterior: +2.2, medial-lateral: -2.5 and dorso-ventral: -5.0. Tumor cells were inoculated at 1 μ //min, using a 10 μ l Hamilton syringe (Hamilton, Reno, NV, USA). After tumor cell inoculation, the needle was kept in place for 5 min before being slowly retracted.

For the time-course study (Fig. 1A), either 500 N32DsRed2 tumor cells in 1 μ I R0 medium (tumor group) or 1 μ I R0 medium (control group) were inoculated in the right striatum. Rats were killed at different time-points (days 9, 16, 23 and 30) following tumor inoculation. At each time-point, tumor-bearing rats (*n*=4–6) as well as rats receiving control lesion (*n*=4) were killed. For the study of neuronal differentiation (Fig. 1B), 50 N32DsRed2 tumor cells in 1 μ I R0 medium (only 1 μ I R0 medium in control group) were inoculated. The animals were killed on day 28 following tumor inoculation.

5-Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) administration

The animals were given BrdU, (i.p. injections, 50 mg/kg, 20 mg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) dissolved in PBS, pH 7.4. In the time-course study, BrdU was injected once a day during the last 7 days before killing. In the experiment for neuronal differentiation, BrdU was given twice daily on days 1–14.

Immunohistochemistry

The rats were deeply anesthetized and perfused through the ascending aorta with PBS, pH 7.4, followed by cold 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS. The brains were removed and postfixed in cold 4% PFA overnight and then transferred to 20% sucrose solution in PBS. Coronal sectioning of the brains was performed on a freezing microtome (40 µm) and the sections were transferred to antifreeze solution. Free-floating sections were rinsed three times in PBS. For BrdU immunohistochemistry, sections were denaturated by incubation in 1 M HCl at 65 °C during 30 min. The sections were blocked with either 5% normal donkey serum or 5% normal goat serum in 0.25% Triton X-100 solution. Primary antibodies were mouse anti-rat nestin (1:1000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA, USA), rabbit anti-GFAP (1:1000, DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark), goat anti-doublecortin (DCx) (1:150, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), rabbit anti-transcription factor Pbx 1/2/3 (1:300, C-20, Santa Cruz), mouse anti-Ki-67 (1:100, Novocastra, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK), rat anti-BrdU (1:100, Oxford Biotechnology, UK), mouse anti-neuronal nuclei (NeuN) (1:100, Chemicon) and mouse anti-polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM) (1:500, Chemicon). Sections were incubated with primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight. The next day, sections were rinsed three times in appropriate sera in PBS and incubated during 1 h with a 1:400 solution of one or two of the following secondary antibodies: Alexa488 donkey anti-goat (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA), Alexa488 goat anti-mouse (Probes), Alexa594 goat anti-rabbit (Molecular Probes), Cy3 donkey anti-mouse (Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove, PA, USA), Cy3 donkey anti-rat (Jackson) or Cy5 goat anti-rabbit (Jackson). Sections were counterstained with Hoechst 33342, 10 μ g/ml for 5 min (Molecular Probes), mounted onto glass slides and coversilipped with DABCO mounting medium.

In situ detection of fragmented DNA was performed by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated fluorescein-dUTP nickend labeling (TUNEL). Free-floating sections were mounted on glass slides and dried. Sections were pretreated with 4% PFA for 20 min, 95% methanol for 30 min, proteinase K (10 μ g/ml PBS) for 10 min, 4% PFA for 5 min and 0.1% Triton X-100 in 0.1% sodium citrate for 2 min. Between each step, sections were rinsed in PBS. Sections were incubated at 37 °C for 60 min in terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) buffer, containing 20 μ l TdT solution and 150 μ l label solution with fluorescein-conjugated dUTP (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Sections were counterstained with Hoechst 33342, 10 μ g/ml for 10 min (Molecular Probes) and coverslipped with DABCO mounting medium.

Microscopic analysis

All sections were examined with an Olympus BX60 epifluorescence microscope using a ×40 objective (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). Quantification of cell numbers and SVZ and tumor area was performed on three coronal sections per animal and expressed as mean value per section. The first section for quantification was chosen at around +2.2 mm anterior from bregma (at the level of tumor inoculation) and from this section, the eighth rostral and the eighth caudal section were included.

SVZ area immunoreactive for DCx and PSA-NCAM and tumor area were manually delineated and quantified using the image analysis program analySIS (Soft Imaging System). The numbers of Ki-67+ and BrdU+ nuclei within the SVZ and the numbers of DCx+ cells in the striatum and in corpus callosum were manually counted using a ×40 objective. For quantification of nestin+ cells in close proximity to tumor, a 0.2×0.2 mm large grid was placed adjacent to the medial border of the tumor, facing the SVZ. For quantification of nestin+ cells in the area between the SVZ and tumor, the same grid was placed in the center between the SVZ and the medial border of the tumor. The numbers of nestin+ cell bodies within the grid were manually counted in three coronal sections per animal as described above.

Co-localization of DCx and Pbx, and nestin and GFAP, was assessed using confocal laser scanning microscopy (Leica Microsystems, Mannheim, Germany).

Statistical analysis

Student's unpaired *t*-test was used for comparison between groups. Data are presented as means \pm standard error of the mean (S.E.M.) and data are considered significant at *P*<0.05. Correlation between tumor area and SVZ cell proliferation was assessed using Spearman rank correlation test.

RESULTS

Nestin expression in response to malignant brain tumor growth

Although not invasively growing into the SVZ or the rostral migratory stream (RMS), the N32 malignant tumor occupied the major part of the striatum on day 30 and probably caused mechanical compression of the SVZ at this late stage. We observed nestin immunoreactivity in SVZ cells and in cells surrounding the tumor. Blood vessels in the normal brain and newly formed blood vessels within the tumor were also weakly immunoreactive for nestin and these cells were, based on morphology and microscopical appearance, excluded from our analysis. Abundant nestin+ cells were spread out homogenously around the periphery of the tumor and scattered nestin+ cells were seen infiltrating deep into the tumor at all time points (Fig. 2A and D). The vast majority of the nestin+ cells surrounding the tumor were of stellate morphology, indicating an astrocytic phenotype. Indeed, double-staining for nestin and the astrocyte marker glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) revealed that the absolute majority of the nestin+ cells in proximity to tumor co-labeled with GFAP, demonstrating that these cells were reactive astrocytes (Fig. 2B). Fig. 2C shows the typical stellate morphology of a nestin+ cell located in close proximity to tumor and Fig. 2D demonstrates co-expression of nestin and GFAP by the same cell.

The numbers of nestin expressing cells in close proximity to the medial side of the tumor were highest on day 9 following tumor inoculation. At later time-points, significantly lower numbers of nestin+ cells were observed and these numbers did not differ from the numbers of nestin+ cells found in animals receiving control lesion (Fig. 2E). Thus, increasing tumor growth did not increase nestin expression in proximity to the tumor.

In order to investigate tumor tropism of nestin+ cells from the SVZ, we counted the number of nestin+ cells in the area between the SVZ and the tumor. In contrast to the high numbers of nestin+ cells surrounding the tumor, only single nestin+ cells were found between the SVZ and the tumor at any given time-point. On day 9, when nestin expression peaked in the peritumoral rim, not even a single nestin+ cell was observed between the tumor and the SVZ.

Thus, at any given time-point, there were high numbers of nestin expressing cells in proximity to the tumor, but not in the area between the SVZ and the peritumoral rim of nestin + cells (Fig. 2E). The animals in the control group also displayed nestin immunoreactive astrocyte-like cells along the needle track. Based on these findings, the vast majority of the nestin + cells surrounding the tumor were most likely reactive astrocytes, originating from the brain parenchyma rather than from the SVZ.

Cell proliferation and cell death in the SVZ

For quantification of SVZ cell proliferation at the time of perfusion, cells expressing the cell-cycle marker Ki-67 within the SVZ were counted. To estimate cell proliferation during the week prior to killing, daily BrdU injections were given to the animals during 7 days prior to killing and the numbers of BrdU+ cells in the SVZ were counted. Malignant brain tumor growth significantly decreased the number of proliferating cells in the ipsilateral SVZ (Fig. 3), as analyzed both with BrdU (Fig. 3A, B, E, G) and with Ki-67 (Fig. 3C, D, F, H)). The number of BrdU+ cells per section in the SVZ was, on day 30, 64 ± 48 on the ipsilateral side in tumor group as compared with 221 ± 20 in the control



Fig. 2. Nestin expression in response to N32DsRed2 malignant brain tumor growth in the striatum. (A) Nestin+ cells (green) surround and infiltrate N32DsRed2 malignant brain tumor (red) in the striatum on day 23 following tumor inoculation. (B) Magnification of the marked area in A. Double-immunostaining for nestin (green) and GFAP (blue) demonstrates that the vast majority of the nestin+ cells in the peritumoral rim express GFAP. Weak nestin immunoreactivity is also found in tumor blood vessels. (C) High power magnification of a nestin+ cell located in proximity to tumor. (D) Nestin (green) and GFAP (blue) co-labeling of the same cell as shown in C. The stellate morphology and the expression of GFAP strongly speak for an astrocytic phenotype of this cell. The absolute majority of the nestin+ cells in tumor proximity exhibited a similar astrocyte-like morphology. (E) Numbers of nestin+ cells per section in close proximity to tumor, in close proximity to control lesion, in the area between the SVZ and control lesion. Note that high numbers of nestin+ cells are present in proximity to tumor (red). Weaker nestin immunoreactivity is seen in the SVZ. However, no nestin+ cells with migratory morphology can be found in the area between the SVZ and tumor (F) Strong nestin immunoreactivity (green) is seen around and within the tumor (red). Weaker nestin immunoreactivity is seen in the SVZ and tumor (G) and 15 μ m (D).

group, (Fig. 3E; *P*<0,05, *n*=4 in both groups, un-paired *t*-test). The number of Ki-67+ cells in the SVZ was, on the ipsilateral side in the tumor group, 58 ± 42 compared with 239 ± 27 in the control group (Fig. 3F; *P*<0,05, un-paired *t*-test). The Spearman rank correlation test revealed a strong negative correlation between tumor area and the number of proliferating cells in the SVZ (correlation coefficient r_s =-0.96 for BrdU and r_s =-0.95 for Ki-67, *P*<0,001, Fig. 3G and H). Animals killed on days 23 and 30 were included in the correlation test.

We investigated whether the decrease in SVZ cell proliferation on day 30 was coupled to a change in SVZ cell death. TUNEL detects fragmented DNA in apoptotic cells and was used as a marker for cell death. Massive TUNEL immunoreactivity in the tumor core served as positive control. There was, however, no difference in the numbers of TUNEL+ cells in the SVZ between the tumor and the control group on day 30. The number of TUNEL+ cells (per section) in the SVZ was in the tumor group 2.8 ± 1.2 and in the control group 4.6 ± 1.6 .

Increase of DCx and PSA-NCAM immunoreactivity in the SVZ

In the present study, we used DCx and PSA-NCAM immunostaining to detect neuroblasts. DCx, a phosphoprotein associated with microtubuli (Gleeson et al., 1999), has been validated as a specific immunohistochemical marker of newly generated neuroblasts within the CNS (Rao and Shetty, 2004; Couillard-Despres et al., 2005). PSA-NCAM is the polysialylated form of the neural cell adhesion molecule and is expressed by migrating neuronal precursors D. Bexell et al. / Neuroscience 147 (2007) 824-832



Fig. 3. Decreased cell proliferation in the SVZ in response to N32DsRed2 malignant brain tumor growth in the striatum. SVZ cells immunoreactive for BrdU (A, B) and for Ki-67 (C, D) in the SVZ on day 30. (A) Low numbers of BrdU+ cells (red) in the ipsilateral SVZ in response to tumor growth. (B) High numbers of BrdU+ cells are seen in the SVZ on day 30 following control lesion. (C, D) The numbers of Ki-67+ cells (green) in the SVZ also decreased significantly in tumor-bearing animals compared with controls on day 30. (E, F) Number (means \pm S.E.M.) of BrdU+ cells and Ki-67+ cells ger section in the SVZ on the ipsilateral side in the tumor group compared with the ipsilateral side in animals with control lesion. * P<0.05, un-paired *t*-test. (G, H) Spearman rank correlation test was used to assess the correlation between tumor area and the numbers of proliferating cells in the SVZ. Animals killed on days 23 and 30 were included in the correlation test. Spearman rank correlation coefficient revealed a strong negative correlation; for BrdU, r_{s} = -0.96 (G) and for Ki-67, r_{s} = -0.95 (H), P<0.001. Scale bar=200 μ m.

within the SVZ and the RMS (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996). We quantified the area of the SVZ immunoreactive for these markers. At early time-points, there was no difference between tumor and control groups. However, on day 30, there was a significant increase in the area of SVZ containing DCx+ cells and PSA-NCAM+ cells ipsilateral to the tumor compared with the ipsilateral SVZ in the control group. On day 30, the area of DCx+ cells in the

D. Bexell et al. / Neuroscience 147 (2007) 824-832



Fig. 4. Increased DCx and PSA-NCAM immunoreactivity (ir) in the SVZ in response to N32DsRed2 malignant brain tumor growth in the striatum. (A, B) The area of DCx ir and PSA-NCAM ir in the SVZ following tumor growth or control lesion. Data are shown as means \pm S.E.M. * *P*<0.05. (C, D) Increased DCx immunoreactivity (green) in the SVZ in response to tumor growth (red) compared with the SVZ on the ipsilateral side following control lesion. (E, F) Increased PSA-NCAM expression (green) in the rostral SVZ following tumor growth compared with the rostral SVZ in the control group. Scale bar=200 μ m. Tumor group, *n*=4–6. Control group, *n*=4.

SVZ was $0.13\pm0.01 \text{ mm}^2$ for the tumor group and $0.08\pm0.01 \text{ mm}^2$ for the control group (Fig. 4A, C, D; P < 0.05, un-paired *t*-test). The area of PSA-NCAM+ cells within the SVZ was $0.11\pm0.02 \text{ mm}^2$ for the tumor group and $0.06\pm0.01 \text{ mm}^2$ for the control group (Fig. 4B, E, F; P < 0.05, un-paired *t*-test. Quantification of Hoechst-stained cell nuclei revealed that the total number of cell nuclei within the ipsilateral SVZ did not differ significantly at any time-point between tumor and control group.

Neuroblast migration toward tumor in the striatum

There was a significant increase of DCx+ cells in the striatum and the corpus callosum following striatal brain tumor growth (Fig. 5). On day 30, the number of DCx+ cells in the ipsilateral striatum and corpus callosum per section was 26 ± 3 in tumor group, compared with 11 ± 2 in the control group (Fig. 5A; P<0,05, un-paired *t*-test). The DCx+ cells were mainly located in the striatum between the SVZ and the tumor (Fig. 5B). In this area, we also found a similar increase in the numbers of PSA-NCAM+ cells (Fig. 5C). The DCx+ and PSA-NCAM+ cells were found at highest density in the proximity to the SVZ and in

the area between the SVZ and the tumor, but there were also lower numbers of DCx+ and PSA-NCAM+ cells with migratory morphology in the corpus callosum and even on the lateral side of the tumor (Fig. 5D for DCx). Infiltration of neuroblasts into the tumor was sparsely noticed. DCx+ and PSA-NCAM+ cells located between the SVZ and the tumor displayed neuroblast morphology i.e. bipolar cells with elongated processes (Fig. 5E, F). Only a minority of the DCx+ cells outside the SVZ was co-labeled by BrdU. To further characterize the identity of the DCx+ cells, we performed double-staining with DCx and the transcription factor Pbx (a marker for immature striatal neurons). We found that the majority (81%) of the DCx+ cells co-localized with Pbx (Fig. 5G).

No evidence of neuroblast differentiation into mature neurons

In another experiment, we investigated whether DCx+ neuroblasts differentiated into mature neurons. BrdU was given twice daily during days 1-14 following tumor inoculation and the animals were killed on day 28. In the striatum, where the DCx+ cells were located, we found no cells
D. Bexell et al. / Neuroscience 147 (2007) 824-832



Fig. 5. Neuroblast migration from the SVZ toward malignant brain tumor growth in the striatum. (A) Number of DCx+ cells per section in the str and cc in brain tumor–bearing rats compared with the ipsilateral side of animals with control lesion. Means \pm S.E.M., * *P*<0.05. (B, C) A large number of (B) DCx+ cells (green) and (C) PSA-NCAM+ cells (green) are found in the area between the rostral SVZ and the N32DsRed2 malignant brain tumor (red) in the str. (D) DCx+ cells were also seen to surround the tumor (located in the striatum). (E) DCx+ cells with typical neuroblast morphology (bipolar cells with elongated processes) were found in close proximity to the tumor. However, infiltration of DCx+ cells (green) also expressed Pbx (red), a marker for immature striatal neurons. Scale bar=200 µm for B, C and D, for E 40 µm, for F 10 µm and for G 20 µm. Tumor group, *n*=4–6. Control group *n*=4. str, striatum; cc, corpus callosum.

expressing the mature neuronal marker, NeuN, that were co-labeled with BrdU. A few NeuN+ cells, located in the cerebral cortex, displayed weak BrdU immunoreactivity. However, the weak BrdU immunoreactivity and the location of these cells in the cortex (where no DCx+ cells were found), suggest that these cells were undergoing DNA repair or aberrant DNA synthesis rather than cell division. Thus, at the time-point investigated, there was no evidence of differentiation of neuroblasts into mature neurons.

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrates a marked neurogenic response of the SVZ to a malignant brain tumor. Proliferation within the SVZ, as measured by BrdU incorporation and Ki-67 immunostaining, decreased with tumor growth. Thus, there was a negative correlation between the tumor size and the number of Ki-67- and BrdU-labeled cells in the SVZ. However, the size of the SVZ, as assessed by DCx and PSA-NCAM immunostaining, increased markedly with growth of the tumor. Neuroblasts were observed in high numbers in the area between the SVZ and the tumor, and in the immediate vicinity to the tumor, most likely pointing to a directed migration of neuroblasts from the SVZ toward the tumor. Neuroblasts expressed a marker (Pbx) for developing striatal neurons but no evidence of neuroblast differentiation into NeuN+ neurons was seen in our experimental paradigm.

We found that the number of cell nuclei immunopositive for BrdU and Ki-67 within the ipsilateral SVZ decreases when the tumor has grown to a considerable size. The decrease in BrdU and Ki-67 labeling is likely to reflect an actual decrease in the rate of stem cell and/or precursor cell proliferation within the SVZ at a late stage in tumor growth. Such an antiproliferative effect on the SVZ could, potentially, be due to several factors including an inflammatory reaction surrounding the growing tumor (Morris and Esiri, 1991: Monie et al., 2003) or mechanical compression of the SVZ. Interestingly, and perhaps seemingly paradoxically, we found a concomitant increase in the area immunoreactive for neuroblasts (DCx and PSA-NCAM) in the SVZ ipsilateral to the tumor. The latter finding reflects either an increased number of neuroblasts within the SVZ or neuroblast hypertrophy including increased length of fibers. The total number of cell nuclei (visualized by Hoechst nuclear staining) within the SVZ was not different between tumor and control group, suggesting that the increase in neuroblast immunoreactivity in the SVZ was due to hypertrophy rather than increased number of cells

within this region. We observed no difference in the number of apoptotic cells within the SVZ or in the area between the tumor and SVZ, speaking against alterations in the rate of cell death as the major cause for the decrease in proliferation marker labeling. Expression of DCx occurs in post-mitotic neuroblasts (Couillard-Despres et al., 2005) and previous data have shown that increased neuroblast immunoreactivity in the SVZ is not necessarily coupled to increased SVZ cell proliferation. In mice, cortical lesions were followed by a similar increase in PSA-NCAM immunoreactivity within the ipsilateral SVZ, although the total numbers of SVZ cells were unchanged, and a biphasic decrease in the number of proliferating, BrdU+ cells (Goings et al., 2002).

The source of neuroblasts in our study could, in principle, be the SVZ/RMS or the parenchyma surrounding the tumor. Despite the fact that there is a decrease in proliferating cell markers within the SVZ at a late stage of tumor growth, it is most likely that the neuroblasts observed in the zone between the SVZ and the tumor emanate from the SVZ. The SVZ has previously been implicated in the generation of cells in response to the growth of a malignant tumor (Glass et al., 2005) and the distribution pattern of the neuroblasts seen in the present paper clearly points to the SVZ as the source of the migrating neuroblasts. DCx expressing cells were found at highest density in proximity to the SVZ and clusters of neuroblasts with their bipolar processes arranged in parallel were seen in the area between the SVZ and the tumor. Following ischemic stroke, neuroblasts born in the SVZ have been shown to migrate in the striatum toward the lesion (Ohab et al., 2006; Yamashita et al., 2006) and tracing experiments revealed the SVZ, not the striatal parenchyma, to be the principal source of neuroblasts following stroke. The fact that only a minority of the DCx+ neuroblasts outside of the SVZ was co-labeled with the proliferation marker BrdU in the present study suggests that the majority of the migrating DCx+ cells were post-mitotic already at the time of tumor inoculation.

Nestin is expressed in proliferating glial and neuronal precursor populations and in reactive astrocytes but not in migrating neuroblasts (Lin et al., 1995; Couillard-Despres et al., 2005). In contrast to previous data (Duntsch et al., 2005; Glass et al., 2005), we found only single nestin+ cells between the SVZ and the tumor, except for a dense peritumoral rim of nestin+ cells with astrocyte like morphology. Thus, no substantial signs of migration of nestin+ cells from the SVZ toward the tumor were found in our study. The peritumoral rim of nestin+/GFAP+ cells most likely represents reactive astrocytes residing in the brain parenchyma without any certain origin in the SVZ.

Signals governing the migration of neural stem and precursor cells toward gliomas have started to be elucidated. Soluble factors expressed at high levels by brain tumor cells, tumor endothelium, infiltrating inflammatory cells or by the surrounding reactive brain parenchyma might attract neural precursor cells specifically toward the site surrounding the tumor. A correlation was found between the levels of brain tumor production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and the capacity of human neural stem cells to migrate toward tumor cells in vitro (Schmidt et al., 2005). Local intracerebral infusion of VEGF induced a long-range attraction of transplanted neural stem cells from distant sites in the adult brain. Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor presumably produced by tumor microvasculature, was also found to be a powerful chemoattractant for neural stem cells (Heese et al., 2005; Schmidt et al., 2005). Stromal cell-derived factor 1, which is upregulated on tumor vasculature, has also been reported to specifically attract stem cells (Ehtesham et al., 2004). In addition to factors produced by tumor cells and tumor endothelium, soluble chemoattractants produced by inflammatory cells surrounding and infiltrating the tumor might direct the specific migration of neuroblasts toward the site of tumor. Activated microglial cells infiltrate human gliomas (Morris and Esiri, 1991) and surround and infiltrate experimental N32 brain tumors (our unpublished observations) and these cells have the capacity to attract neural precursor cells (Aarum et al., 2003). Chemokines such as monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, produced by activated microglia, have recently been shown to play an important role in directing neural progenitors to sites of neuroinflammation (Belmadani et al., 2006). It is conceivable that similar mechanisms to those described above, at least to some extent, are responsible for redirecting and attracting endogenous neuroblasts from their normal migratory route in the RMS toward the site of a tumor.

We show here that migrating neuroblasts adopt an immature striatal phenotype, suggesting that these cells are on their way to differentiate into striatal mature neurons; i.e. the phenotype of the neurons that have died. We did not, however, find any signs of newly formed, fully differentiated neurons. Whether this is due to a permanent halt of differentiation or simply due to insufficient time for maturation is not clear. In addition, we cannot exclude the possibility that some BrdU neuroblasts mature fully. Consistent with our findings, aspiration lesions of the sensorimotor cortex in adult rats induced a marked increase in immunoreactivity to PSA-NCAM, expressed by the majority of cells of the SVZ during development (Goings et al., 2004). In contrast, immunolabeling for molecules found in mature neurons and glia did not increase in the SVZ after this lesion, and immunoreactivity for factors inducing differentiation of SVZ cells in vitro decreased or remained undetectable, suggesting that a lack of appropriate maturation signals may contribute to the halt in differentiation seen in vivo in this experimental model (Goings et al., 2004). It is also possible that the tumor environment in our study is nonpermissive for the further maturation of the neuroblasts.

The function of neuroblast recruitment to the site of tumor remains speculative at this stage. Co-culture experiments showed that SVZ neural precursors suppressed the increase in tumor cell number and induced glioma cell apoptosis. Furthermore, co-injection of mouse glioma cells with SVZ precursors prolonged survival, although only in old mice (Glass et al., 2005). However, direct evidence demonstrating a neuroblast-mediated antitumor effect *in*

vivo remains to be shown. Another potential function of the migrating neuroblasts is that they may constitute the source for neuronal replacement in the striatum following tumor- or tumor treatment–induced neuronal cell death.

Our findings point to a marked reactive response from the neurogenic SVZ region in the adult rat ipsilateral to a tumor located in the striatum. Factors within the tumor microenvironment promoting and limiting the migration and differentiation of cells from the SVZ need to be determined before strategies to enhance this potentially beneficial neurogenic response can be developed.

Acknowledgments—This work was supported by the Märit and Hans Rausing Charitable Foundation, the Crafoord, Elsa Schmitz, Elsa and Thorsten Segerfalk, Magnus Bergwall, Gunnar Nilsson Cancer Foundations and the Royal Physiographic Society in Lund. We thank professors Olle Lindvall and Leif G. Salford for kindly providing laboratory facilities, Dr. Anna Darabi for help with culturing of tumor of cells and Dr. Laurent Roybon for viral transduction.

REFERENCES

- Aarum J, Sandberg K, Haeberlein SL, Persson MA (2003) Migration and differentiation of neural precursor cells can be directed by microglia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:15983–15988.
- Aboody KS, Brown A, Rainov NG, Bower KA, Liu S, Yang W, Small JE, Herrlinger U, Ourednik V, Black PM, Breakefield XO, Snyder EY (2000) Neural stem cells display extensive tropism for pathology in adult brain: evidence from intracranial gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:12846–12851.
- Alvarez-Buylla A, Herrera DG, Wichterle H (2000) The subventricular zone: source of neuronal precursors for brain repair. Prog Brain Res 127:1–11.
- Arvidsson A, Collin T, Kirik D, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O (2002) Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke. Nat Med 8:963–970.
- Belmadani A, Tran PB, Ren D, Miller RJ (2006) Chemokines regulate the migration of neural progenitors to sites of neuroinflammation. J Neurosci 26:3182–3191.
- Benedetti S, Pirola B, Pollo B, Magrassi L, Bruzzone MG, Rigamonti D, Galli R, Selleri S, Di Meco F, De Fraja C, Vescovi A, Cattaneo E, Finocchiaro G (2000) Gene therapy of experimental brain tumors using neural progenitor cells. Nat Med 6:447–450.
- Couillard-Despres S, Winner B, Schaubeck S, Aigner R, Vroemen M, Weidner N, Bogdahn U, Winkler J, Kuhn HG, Aigner L (2005) Doublecortin expression levels in adult brain reflect neurogenesis. Eur J Neurosci 21:1–14.
- Doetsch F, Alvarez-Buylla A (1996) Network of tangential pathways for neuronal migration in adult mammalian brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:14895–14900.
- Duntsch C, Zhou Q, Weimar JD, Frankel B, Robertson JH, Pourmotabbed T (2005) Up-regulation of neuropoiesis generating glial progenitors that infiltrate rat intracranial glioma. J Neurooncol 71: 245–255.

- Ehtesham M, Yuan X, Kabos P, Chung NH, Liu G, Akasaki Y, Black KL, Yu JS (2004) Glioma tropic neural stem cells consist of astrocytic precursors and their migratory capacity is mediated by CXCR4. Neoplasia 6:287–293.
- Glass R, Synowitz M, Kronenberg G, Walzlein JH, Markovic DS, Wang LP, Gast D, Kiwit J, Kempermann G, Kettenmann H (2005) Glioblastoma-induced attraction of endogenous neural precursor cells is associated with improved survival. J Neurosci 25:2637–2646.
- Gleeson JG, Lin PT, Flanagan LA, Walsh CA (1999) Doublecortin is a microtubule-associated protein and is expressed widely by migrating neurons. Neuron 23:257–271.
- Goings GE, Sahni V, Szele FG (2004) Migration patterns of subventricular zone cells in adult mice change after cerebral cortex injury. Brain Res 996:213–226.
- Goings GE, Wibisono BL, Szele FG (2002) Cerebral cortex lesions decrease the number of bromodeoxyuridine-positive subventricular zone cells in mice. Neurosci Lett 329:161–164.
- Hallbergson AF, Gnatenco C, Peterson DA (2003) Neurogenesis and brain injury: managing a renewable resource for repair. J Clin Invest 112:1128–1133.
- Heese O, Disko A, Zirkel D, Westphal M, Lamszus K (2005) Neural stem cell migration toward gliomas in vitro. Neurooncology 7: 476–484.
- Lin RC, Matesic DF, Marvin M, McKay RD, Brustle O (1995) Reexpression of the intermediate filament nestin in reactive astrocytes. Neurobiol Dis 2:79–85.
- Monje ML, Toda H, Palmer TD (2003) Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science 302:1760–1765.
- Morris CS, Esiri MM (1991) Immunocytochemical study of macrophages and microglial cells and extracellular matrix components in human CNS disease. 1. Gliomas. J Neurol Sci 101:47–58.
- Nakamizo A, Marini F, Amano T, Khan A, Studeny M, Gumin J, Chen J, Hentschel S, Vecil G, Dembinski J, Andreeff M, Lang FF (2005) Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas. Cancer Res 65:3307–3318.
- Ohab JJ, Fleming S, Blesch A, Carmichael ST (2006) A neurovascular niche for neurogenesis after stroke. J Neurosci 26:13007–13016.
- Rao MS, Shetty AK (2004) Efficacy of doublecortin as a marker to analyse the absolute number and dendritic growth of newly generated neurons in the adult dentate gyrus. Eur J Neurosci 19: 234–246.
- Salcman M (1996) Neurosurgery. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Schmidt NO, Przylecki W, Yang W, Ziu M, Teng Y, Kim SU, Black PM, Aboody KS, Carroll RS (2005) Brain tumor tropism of transplanted human neural stem cells is induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. Neoplasia 7:623–629.
- Siesjo P, Visse E, Lindvall M, Salford L, Sjogren HO (1993) Immunization with mutagen-treated (turn-) cells causes rejection of nonimmunogenic rat glioma isografts. Cancer Immunol Immunother 37:67–74.
- Surawicz TS, Davis F, Freels S, Laws ER Jr, Menck HR (1998) Brain tumor survival: results from the National Cancer Data Base. J Neurooncol 40:151–160.
- Yamashita T, Ninomiya M, Hernandez Acosta P, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Sunabori T, Sakaguchi M, Adachi K, Kojima T, Hirota Y, Kawase T, Araki N, Abe K, Okano H, Sawamoto K (2006) Subventricular zonederived neuroblasts migrate and differentiate into mature neurons in the post-stroke adult striatum. J Neurosci 26:6627–6636.

(Accepted 24 April 2007) (Available online 20 June 2007)

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF RAT BONE MARROW-DERIVED AND SUBVENTRICULAR ZONE-DERIVED PRECURSOR CELLS AS CELLULAR VECTORS IN GLIOMA GENE THERAPY

Comparative analysis of rat bone marrow-derived and subventricular zone-derived precursor cells as cellular vectors in glioma gene therapy

Daniel Bexell, M.D.^{1,2} *, Salina Gunnarsson, M.Sc.^{1,2}, Ariane Tormin, M.Sc.², Anna Catarina Oliveira, M.Sc.³, Gesine Paul, M.D., Ph.D.³, Stefan Scheding, M.D., Ph.D.², Johan Bengzon, M.D., Ph.D.^{1,2}

¹The Rausing Laboratory, Division of Neurosurgery, Dept. of Clinical Sciences ²Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy ³Neuronal Survival Unit, Department of Experimental Medical Science Lund University. SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden

Objective: To study migratory and proliferative properties of adult neural precursor cells (NPCs) and multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) following grafting to cerebral experimental gliomas in order to choose the most effective vector system for delivery of therapeutic transgenes to gliomas.

Methods: Adult rat subventricular zone-derived NPCs and bone marrow-derived MSCs, transduced to express enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP), were grafted into or at a distance from established syngeneic N32 rat intracerebral gliomas in Fischer344 rats. NPC and MSC migratory patterns were analyzed at three time-points and the amount of MSCs relative to NPCs within tumors was quantified. Proliferation of grafted NPCs and MSCs within tumors was assessed using confocal microscopy to determine co-expression of eGFP and Ki67.

Results: Intratumorally grafted NPCs and MSCs migrated specifically within N32 gliomas and avoided normal brain tissue. NPCs and MSCs were distributed preferentially in the tumor periphery and at later time-points in the tumor core. eGFP+ MSCs displayed approximately 11-fold higher survival compared to eGFP+ NPCs following grafting. NPCs and MSCs grafted at a distant site in the normal brain parenchyma displayed no substantial migration toward tumors. Grafted NPCs and MSCs did not proliferate within tumors.

Conclusion: MSCs display higher survival and better intratumoral migratory capacity, compared to NPCs, following grafting to gliomas. The absence of proliferation of grafted NPCs and MSCs within tumors indicates a low risk of secondary malignancies and might facilitate clinical development of this vector system. Taken together, our data indicate that adult MSCs are better suited than adult NPCs as a vector system for gene therapy of malignant brain tumors.

Keywords: glioma, rat, multipotent mesenchymal stromal cell, neural precursor cell

INTRODUCTION

Malignant gliomas have been the target for clinical gene therapy trails using viral vectors with a limited success in the past¹. Because of inefficient spread of viral vectors in vivo, gene delivery into brain tumors still presents a major obstacle. As an alternative to gene delivery by means of viral vectors, grafted stem- and precursor cells have emerged. Malignant gliomas have been shown to attract grafted neural precursor cells (NPCs), multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), as well as endothelial and hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells²⁻¹⁰. The ability of these cells to track and home to malignant brain tumors makes them potentially more efficient than viral vectors for local delivery of therapeutic tumoricidal substances. Primary or immortalized murine and human NPCs

* Corresponding author.

Address: D. Bexell, Rausing Laboratory, Division of Neurosurgery, EA-blocket plan 4, Dept. of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden.

Fax: +46 46 18 81 50. Tel: +46 46 17 12 73 E-mail address: daniel.bexell@med.lu.se (D.Bexell)

have been allo- or xenografted into immunocompetent mice and rats and into immunodeficient nude mice in order to track and attack experimental brain tumors^{2-5, 11-15}. Intracerebral injection of immortalized neural stem cell (NSC) lines at a distance from tumors or in the contralateral hemisphere results in infiltration of tumors^{2,14}. As an alternative to NPCs, bone marrow-derived MSCs have been used. MSCs are precursors to adipocytes, chondrocytes and osteoblasts that form the bone marrow stroma. Bone marrow-derived MSCs have been demonstrated to infiltrate gliomas following intratumoral, intracerebral and intraarterial administration^{8,9,16}. The use of skin-derived, endothelial and hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells has also been explored and these cells might constitute useful sources of cellular vehicles for glioma therapy^{7, 10, 17}.

To treat glioma patients with tumor-tracking stem and progenitor cells, several criteria have to be met by the cellular vehicles: 1) easy access, 2) efficient and specific migration within tumors, 3) immunologic compatibility with host, and 4) nontumorigenicity *in vivo*¹⁸. Previous studies have demonstrated promising tumor-tropic capacities of MSCs and NPCs ^{2,3,8,9} but quantitative studies evaluating the capacity and limitations of these cells are lacking and highly warranted in order to choose the best possible system for therapeutic gene delivery to brain tumors.

In the present study, we therefore grafted rat bone marrow-derived MSCs and subventricular zone-derived adult NPCs into established syngeneic N32 experimental gliomas. Rat N32 gliomas are fast proliferative tumors which show characteristics of anaplastic astrocytomas¹⁹. The aims were to semiquantitatively quantify and compare survival, migration and proliferation of MSCs and NPCs following grafting to experimental malignant brain tumors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Rat N32 glioma cell line

The rat glioma cell line N32, syngeneic with the Fischer344 rat was originally induced by transplacental injection of ethyl-N-nitrosourea to pregnant rats whose offsprings developed malignant brain tumors²⁰. Tumor cells were maintained in R10 medium, consisting of: RPMI 1640 medium (1X) with L-glutamine supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) (VWR, West Grove, PA), 10 mM HEP-ES buffer solution, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 50 μ g/ml gentamicin (all chemicals except FCS from GIBCO, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA).

R10 medium was changed every 2-3 days and cells were passaged about twice a week and detached using trypsin-EDTA (0.25% trypsin with EDTA 4Na) 1X (Invitrogen). Cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 6.0% CO₂. Cells were kept in culture for a maximum of 6 weeks. Before inoculation *in vivo*, cells were washed and resuspended in medium without FCS and gentamicin (referred to as R0 medium). Cells were counted and resuspended in a volume corresponding to the target concentration.

Establishment and culture of SVZ-derived rat adult NPCs

Brains of male Fischer344 rats (8 weeks old) were dissected, placed into ice-cold Pipes-buffer and kept on ice. The SVZ was dissected under sterile conditions and pieces collected in ice-cold Pipes-buffer. Tissue pieces were enzymatically digested in papain solution for 30 min at 37° C. The supernatant was carefully removed and the tissue resuspended in 1 ml control media containing DMEM/F12/N2 (Gibco), 30% glucose, 1 M HEPES, and penicillin/streptomycin and 1 mg/ml DNAse, mechanically triturated and spun for 10 min at 1000 rpm and then resuspended in 1 ml proliferation media (control media with bovine serum albumin, heparin solution and 20 ng/ml EGF and 10 ng/ml bFGF). Cells were plated at a density of 1x10⁵ cells /ml in uncoated T25 flasks in proliferation medium at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2. Cells were grown as neurospheres and fresh growth factors were added every other day. For passaging, spheres were collected into a Falcon tube, allowed to settle, the supernatant aspirated and 1 ml fresh medium added. Cells were mechanically triturated, counted and plated at desired density in T25 flasks.

Establishment and culture of bone marrow-derived rat MSCs

MSC cultures were derived from Fischer344 male rat bone marrow (8 weeks old). The animal was deeply anaesthetized with Isoflurane (2.5% in O₂, Forene, Abbott Scandinavia AB, Solna,



Fig. 1 Experimental design. On day 1, 3000 N32wt tumor cells were inoculated into the striatum of male rats. Either 2.5 x 10^5 adult bone marrow-derived eGFP+ multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs, n = 14) or 2.5 x 10^5 adult subventricular zone-derived eGFP+ neural precursor cells (NPCs, n = 14) were grafted into tumors on day 14. Animals were sacrificed on day 15, 18 and 22, corresponding to day 1, 4 and 8 following MSC/NPC grafting (n = 4-5 for each time-point).

Sweden), sacrificed and femur was dissected and adherent tissue removed. The marrow cavity was flushed with PBS supplemented with 2% FCS (GIBCO). MSCs were generated by adherent culture of Ficoll-isolated nucleated bone marrow cells in NH expansion medium (Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) or minimum essential medium-alpha supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic-Solution (Sigma). Non-adherent cells were removed after three days and culture medium was changed weekly thereafter. Cells were passaged at 80-90% confluency.

eGFP retroviral production and transduction of MSCs and NPCs

The Moloney leukemia retroviral vector pC-MMP-IRES2eEGFP-WPRE used in this study has been described elsewhere ²¹. The viral particles were produced using the producer cell line 293VSVG²². Concentrated particles were resuspended into 0.5 ml of DMEM medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The titer was measured by FACSCalibur analysis, based on eGFP reporter gene expression, 3 days after infection of the HT1080 cells and varied from $0.7x10^9$ to $1.2x10^9$ TU/ml depending on the

batches. When at 60-70% confluency, MSCs and NPCs were transduced at a multiplicity of infection of 5. To increase transduction efficiency, protamine sulfate was added to the medium at a final concentration of 1μ g/ml (Sigma).

Animal procedure and experimental design

Adult male Fischer344 rats (8-9 weeks old) from Scanbur, Stockholm, Sweden were used. Animal procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee for Use of Laboratory Animals at Lund University, Sweden. Animals were anaesthetized with Isoflurane (2.5% in O_2 , Forene, Abbott Scandinavia AB, Solna, Sweden) and placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, USA). The following coordinates were used for tumor cell inoculation (relative to bregma): anterior-posterior (AP): +1.7, medial-lateral (ML) -2.5 and dorso-ventral (DV) -5.0. The tooth bar was set at -3.3 mm.

For the experiment comparing MSC and NPC migratory capacity, 3000 N32wt tumor cells were inoculated into the right striatum of male rats (n = 28) on day 1. eGFP+ MSCs (2.5 x 10^5 cells) or NPCs (2.5 x 10^5 cells), suspended as single cells in 5 μ l cell medium, were grafted on day 14 using the same coordinates as for tumor cell inoculation. Tumor cells were inoculated at 1 μ l/min, using a 10 μ l Hamilton syringe. MSCs and NPCs were grafted at 0.5 μ l/min, using a 10 μ l Hamilton syringe with a glass micropipette attached to the needle tip. After cell inoculation, the micropipette was kept in place for 5 minutes before being slowly retracted. Animals were sacrificed on day 1, 4 and 8 following stem cell grafting (n = 4-5 for each time-point, fig. 1 for experimental design).

In the experiment studying MSC and NPC migration throughout the normal brain parenchyma toward a distant malignant brain tumor, we established N32wt tumors (3000 cells) in the right striatum. 14 days later, eGFP+ MSCs or NPCs (2.5 x 10^5 cells, n = 5 in each group) were grafted 2.5 mm caudally and 2.0 mm lateral of the inoculation coordinates of the tumor. Animals were sacrificed 8 days following MSC/NPC grafting.

In another experiment, proliferation rate of grafted MSCs and NPCs was determined. eGFP+ cells were grafted intratumorally into established N32wt intracerebral tumors (n = 3 for MSCs, n = 3 for NPCs). Animals were sacrificed on day seven or

around day 30 following MSC and NPC grafting.

Immunohistochemistry

The rats were deeply anaesthetized and perfused through the ascending aorta with PBS, pH 7.4, followed by cold 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS. The brains were removed and postfixed in cold 4% PFA overnight and then transferred to 20% Sucrose solution in PBS. Transversal sectioning of the brains was performed on a freezing microtome (40 μ m) and the sections were put in anti-freeze solution. Free-floating sections were rinsed three times in KPBS (Potassium Phosphate Buffer Solution). Sections were blocked with 5% Normal Goat Serum and 5% Normal Donkey Serum in 0.25% Triton X-100 solution. Sections were incubated with the primary antibodies chicken anti-EGFP (1:1500, Chemicon, Temecula, CA), mouse anti- Ki67 (1:50, Novocastra), mouse anti-NG2 (1:500, Chemicon), rabbit anti- α -sma (1:400, Abcam), mouse anti-rat nestin (1:1000, Chemicon), rabbit anti-GFAP (1:1000, DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark), goat anti-doublecortin (1:150, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) at 4°C over night. The next day the sections were rinsed three times in appropriate sera in KPBS and incubated for 1 hour with one or two of the following secondary antibodies: Alexa488 goat anti-chicken (1:400, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR), Alexa594 goat anti-rabbit (1:400, Probes), Alexa568 donkey anti-goat (1:400, Probes), Cy3 donkey anti-mouse (1:400, Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove, PA). The sections were counterstained with Hoechst nuclear staining to visualize tumors, mounted onto glass slides and cover-slipped with DABCO mounting medium.

For quantitative analysis of eGFP within tumors, sections were rinsed three times in KPBS and incubated in 3% H₂O₂ and 10% methanol in KPBS for 10 minutes to quench endogenous peroxidase activity. Sections were incubated in 5%NGS containing 0.25% Triton X-100 solution for 1 h and with the primary antibody chicken anti-GFP (1:1500) over night. The next day, sections were rinsed in KPBS and incubated in biotinylated goat anti-chicken (1:200, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) followed by avidin-biotin-peroxidase solution (ABC Elite, Vector) for 1 h and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) solution for 10 minutes. Sections were mounted onto glass slides, dehydrated in alcohol solutions, cleared in Xylene and finally cover-slipped with Pertex mounting media (Histolab, Göteborg, Sweden).

Image analysis

Sections were examined with an Olympus TX60 light microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan), an Olympus BX60 epifluorescence microscope or by confocal laser scanning microscopy (Leica Microsystems, Mannheim, Germany).

For calculation of eGFP area within tumors, three tissue sections including tumor periphery and tumor core were analyzed for each animal. Sections were visualized using a light microscope and captured by a Color View II digital camera (Olympus) in 10X magnification. Analysis-Pro[™] software (Olympus) was used to distinguish the area of eGFP-labeled cells within tumors from tumor area with no eGFP-labeled cells and, subsequently, for quantification of eGFP-labeled area within tumors.

Statistical analysis

Student's unpaired t-test was used for comparison between groups. Data are presented as means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and data are considered significant at p<0.05.

RESULTS

Bone marrow-derived MSC characteristics in vitro

Bone marrow-derived MSCs used in our study have previously been characterized²³. Briefly, adherently growing spindle-shaped cells were isolated from the bone marrow. These cells were positive for the mesenchymal markers CD73 and C90, negative for the hematopoietic marker CD45, as assessed by flow cytometry, and displayed capacity to differentiate into osteoblasts and adipocytes upon exposure to conditions promoting differentiation²³.

SVZ-derived NPC characteristics in vitro

SVZ-derived NPCs used in our study were previously characterized²⁴. Briefly, NPCs were grown as free-floating neurospheres. The cells within the spheres displayed capacity to differentiate into β III-tubulin+ neuronal cells, GFAP+ astrocytes and CNPase+ oligodendrocytes²⁴.

eGFP expression of MSCs and NPCs

In order to visualize the MSCs and NPCs, we



eGFP+ NPCs



Fig. 2 Migration patterns of adult syngeneic bone marrow-derived MSCs and adult subventricular zone-derived NPCs following grafting into established N32 malignant brain tumors (depicted by Hoechst nuclear staining, light blue) in the striatum. (A) eGFP+ MSCs (green) grafted into malignant brain tumors. One day following grafting, eGFP+ MSCs are mainly located within the elongated graft. On day 4, MSCs are predominantly found in tumor periphery. High numbers of MSCs are found in both tumor periphery and tumor core on day 8. Only single eGFP+ MSCs are seen in the normal brain parenchyma. (B) eGFP+ NPCs (green) are found within the graft on day 1. NPCs are spread out in tumor peripheral zone on day 4. On day 8, NPCs are located within tumor periphery and tumor core. Note the relative high numbers of MSCs compared to the numbers of NPCs. Scale bar, 200 µm.

genetically modified them to express eGFP. Both MSCs and NPCs were transduced with a Moloney leukemia based-retroviral vector, which has the characteristic of infecting dividing cells. More than 90% of the cells expressed eGFP as assessed in an inverted microscope 4 days following transduction.

MSC and NPC migration following intratumoral grafting

N32wt brain tumors were established in the

striatum of all animals (n = 28). MSCs (n = 14) or NPCs (n = 14), transduced to express eGFP, were grafted into tumors and migration pattern was assessed at three time-points (n = 4-5 for each timepoint) following grafting. On day 1 postgrafting, eGFP+ MSCs were found within a well-defined elongated cluster at the inoculation site adjacent to or surrounding the tumor. Single MSCs were located in the outer periphery of the tumor or in the normal brain parenchyma but the absolute majority of the grafted cells were seen at the inoculation site

A	Animal No	Days after MSC grafting	MSCs in tumor periphery	MSCs in tumor core	Animal No	Days after NPC grafting	NPCs in tumor periphery	NPCs in tumor core
	1	1	+	-	15	1	+	-
	2	1	+(+)	-	16	1	+	-
	3	1	+	-	17	1	-	-
	4	1	+	-	18	1	(+)	-
	5	1	+	-	19	1	(+)	-
	6	4	+	-	20	4	+	-
	7	4	(+)	-	21	4	++	(+)
	8	4	++	-	22	4	-	-
	9	4	++	+	23	4	+	(+)
	10	8	+(+)	(+)	24	8	+	-
	11	8	++	+	25	8	(+)	(+)
	12	8	++	++	26	8	++	(+)
	13	8	+++	++	27	8	(+)	-
	14	8	++	++	28	8	+	+

Table 1 (A) The table shows the relative grading of the numbers of eGFP+ MSCs and NPCs within N32 tumor periphery and tumor core at three time-points following grafting (+++, high numbers; ++, moderate numbers; +, low numbers; -, no cells). (B) Representative examples illustrating grading of cell numbers within tumors. Scale bar is 50 μ m.



(Fig. 2A). Already on day 4 postgrafting, numerous MSCs were found within the peripheral zone of the tumor (Fig. 2A). Single MSCs were found in the core of the tumor. On day 8 postgrafting, abundant numbers of MSCs were located in both tumor periphery and tumor core (Fig. 2A). The vast majority of MSCs were located within the graft or within the tumor, and only very low numbers of MSCs were found in the normal brain parenchyma at any time-point.

SVZ-derived NPCs displayed similar tumor tropism and distribution pattern following intratumoral grafting as shown by the MSCs. One day following grafting, eGFP+ NPCs were located within a coherent graft at the inoculation site. On day 4, NPCs were predominantly found in the peripheral part of the tumor, and on day 8, NPCs were spread out both in tumor periphery and tumor core (Fig. 2B). Only minimal numbers of NPCs were found outside the tumor in the normal brain parenchyma.

A semiquantitative analysis of the numbers of eGFP+ MSCs and eGFP+ NPCs within N32wt tumors is presented in table 1. Quantitative analysis of eGFP area within tumors on day 8 following grafting of eGFP+ MSCs or eGFP+ NPCs was performed to give an indication of the numbers of eGFP+ MSCs relative to the numbers of eGFP+ NPCs within tumors. Tumors receiving eGFP+ MSCs displayed an approximately 11-fold larger area of eGFP compared to tumors that received eGFP+ NPCs ($7.6x10^4 \pm 2.5x10^4 \mu m^2$ eGFP area for MSCs and $6.8x10^3 \pm 3.7x10^3 \mu m^2$ eGFP area for NPCs, p < 0.05).



Fig. 3 Minimal MSC and NPC migration toward tumors following grafting at a distant site. eGFP+ MSCs and NPCs (green) grafted 2.5 mm behind and 2.0 mm lateral of established malignant N32 brain tumor (Hoechst nuclear staining, blue) in the striatum. (A) Eight days following grafting, MSCs are found within a coherent cluster of cells at the inoculation site. (B) NPCs are also mainly located at the inoculation site. There is no evidence of eGFP+ cells migrating from the graft toward tumors. Scale bar, 200 μ m.

No substantial MSC and NPC migration toward tumors following grafting into the normal brain parenchyma

We investigated whether adult syngeneic MSCs and NPCs, grafted at a distant site to established N32wt tumors, migrated throughout the normal brain parenchyma toward tumors. eGFP+ MSCs and eGFP+ NPCs were grafted 2.5 mm behind and 2.0 mm lateral of established N32wt tumors in the striatum. Migration capacity was assessed 8 days following MSC and NPC grafting. In contrast to the intratumoral MSC and NPC distribution pattern seen following intratumoral grafting, grafting into the normal brain parenchyma did not result in any substantial MSC and NPC migration toward tumors. MSCs were seen in a coherent cluster of cells at the inoculation site and NPCs were spread out around the inoculation site (Fig.3). NPCs were found to migrate along the corpus callosum and this was also seen in animals without tumors.

In order to evaluate potential eGFP transgene silencing of MSCs and NPCs upon intracranial grafting, expression of endogenous markers (NG2 and α -sma for MSCs, and nestin, doublecortin and GFAP for NPCs) was used to assess potential migration of non-eGFP-expressing MSCs and NPCs in normal brain tissue toward tumors. These endogenous markers are expressed by MSCs and NPCs *in vitro* and by grafted eGFP+ cells within tumors (²³, own unpublished observations). We found no evidence of spindle-shaped cells expressing NG2 or a-sma that were migrating from the MSC graft

toward tumors. We found no nestin, GFAP or doublecortin expressing cells with migratory morphology between the NPC graft and tumors (data not shown).

To study long-time survival and migration in the adult normal brain, eGFP+ MSCs were grafted into either the striatum or the corpus callosum of non-tumor bearing animals. Animals were sacrificed 118 days following intracranial MSC grafting. Low numbers of MSCs were seen preferentially at the site of the inoculation coordinate. We did not find any MSCs at any other location of the analyzed sections. To elucidate tropism to other organs, the liver, spleen and the deep cervical lymph nodes were analyzed for presence of eGFP+ MSCs. We did not find any eGFP+ MSCs in sections from the liver, spleen or the cervical lymph nodes.

Grafted MSCs and NPCs are essentially non-cycling in vivo

Confocal microscopy analysis of eGFP and Ki67 expression was used to investigate cell-cycle state of MSCs and NPCs grafted into N32 malignant brain tumors. Ki67 is a marker of cells in G1, S, M and G2 cell-cycle phases, i.e. dividing cells. MSCs and NPCs were grafted into established N29 and N32 tumors and analyzed seven days following grafting. One hundred eGFP+ cells in each tumor model were randomly chosen and analyzed by confocal microscopy for expression of Ki67. Grafted eGFP+ cells located within the core of the graft as well as migratory eGFP+ cells located far away



Fig. 4 MSCs and NPCs are essentially non-dividing seven days following grafting into established N32wt malignant brain tumors. (A) eGFP+ MSCs (green) and eGFP+ NPCs (green) grafted into the highly proliferative N32 tumor. No co-expression of eGFP and Ki67 (red) can be seen. (B) Confocal microscopy analysis demonstrating single eGFP+ MSCs and eGFP+ NPCs not co-expressing Ki67 but located in close association to Ki67+ cells. Scale bar is 60 μ m in A and 30 μ m in B.

from the graft were analyzed. We did not find a single eGFP+ MSC or NPC that expressed Ki67. Fig. 4 shows representative examples of non-Ki67 expressing eGFP+ MSCs and NPCs within highly proliferative tumors. We conclude that the absolute majority of intratumorally grafted MSCs and NPCs are in a non-cycling state seven days following grafting.

DISCUSSION

Neural and bone marrow-derived stem- and progenitor cells, engineered to produce anti-tumor substances, have shown promise as cellular delivery vehicles to experimental gliomas ^{2, 3, 8, 9}. Here, we quantified and compared the migratory and proliferative pattern of adult rat bone marrow-derived MSCs and SVZ-derived NPCs grafted to rat N32 malignant brain tumors. Grafting was performed into or at a distance from established syngeneic tumors in order to simulate a clinical scenario where

cells might be grafted into tumor remnants. Following intratumoral grafting, both MSCs and NPCs migrated specifically within tumors, however MSCs showed much better survival and displayed higher migratory capacity. When MSCs and NPCs were grafted at a distant site to tumors, no substantial tropism toward tumors was seen. Intratumorally grafted MSCs and NPCs showed no signs of proliferative activity within highly proliferative tumors.

Our findings indicate that grafted MSCs possess higher survival and better intratumoral migratory capacity than grafted NPCs within gliomas. The quantitative analysis performed in the present study gives an estimation of the relative amounts of eGFP within tumors. The results are affected by other parameters than cell numbers, such as the size of MSCs and NPCs. Nevertheless, the magnitude of the difference in GFP amounts clearly suggests that grafted eGFP+ MSCs persist in much higher numbers within tumors as compared to eGFP+ NPCs.

A large number of soluble and membrane bound factors produced by tumor cells, tumor vasculature and inflammatory cells can attract stem and progenitor cells to gliomas²⁵, but the factors that mediate the higher survival and intratumoral migratory capacity displayed by MSCs compared to NPCs remain to be elucidated. The substantial intratumoral MSC migration and virtual absence of MSC migration in normal brain tissue suggest that the tumor microenvironment, e.g. tumor vasculature and inflammatory cells, is permissive for survival and migration of grafted MSCs. Systemic administration of bone marrow-derived cells into tumor-bearing animals results in homing to tumors and incorporation into tumor vessels^{8, 26, 27}. MSCs also home to sites of wounds28 where they contribute to wound healing²⁹ and tumors, considered as "wounds that never heal"³⁰ provide a site with high numbers of inflammatory cells and cytokines which can attract MSCs³¹. Thus, our findings that grafted MSCs show better survival and display higher migratory capacity compared to NPCs within gliomas might be explained by the attraction and participation of MSCs to tumor stroma. In addition, the much higher numbers of grafted MSCs, compared to NPCs, found already at day one following grafting could also, at least in part, be explained by differences in cell survival during the process of MSC/ NPC intracranial grafting.

Initial findings of stem cell tropism toward tumors reported wide-spread migration of the immortalized mouse NSC line C17.2, implanted in the contralateral hemisphere, across the corpus callosum, toward human or rat malignant brain tumors². Human and rat MSCs have also been shown to migrate along the corpus callosum toward brain tumors in the contralateral hemisphere^{8, 9}. Furthermore, mouse C17.2 NSCs and rat embryonic NPC lines Hib5 and ST14A have been reported to migrate throughout normal brain tissue toward tumors following injection at a distance to tumors with no connection to the corpus callosum^{2, 32}. We investigated whether adult rat MSCs and NPCs, syngeneic to both tumor and host, migrate toward tumors when grafted at a distant site in the same hemisphere as tumors and with no connections to the corpus callosum. In this experimental setting, we found no substantial MSC and NPC migration toward tumors which may imply that MSC/NPC

migration toward tumors in normal brain tissue is restricted to when the grafted cells and tumors are located adjacent to the corpus callosum or possibly to other white matter tracts. The discrepant findings between our results and previous studies using immortalized NSC/NPC lines^{2, 32} might be due to species-specific interactions (i.e. between mouse NSCs lines and human or rat gliomas), to tumorspecific capacities in attracting grafted stem/precursor cells, and/or to different tumor-tropic migratory properties between immortalized NSC/NPC lines and adult primary MSCs/NPCs.

A major safety issue in the development of stem cell therapies for neurological disorders is the risk of tumor formation of the grafted stem cells³³. Approximately 2% of immortalized human fetal NSCs continue to proliferate following grafting into glioma-bearing immune-compromised mice34. We therefore investigated the proliferative pattern of adult non-immortalized MSCs and NPCs grafted directly into gliomas and we found no indication of MSC or NPC proliferation in vivo seven and 30 days following grafting into the highly proliferative N32 tumor. These results point to a low risk of development of secondary malignancies of grafted MSCs and NPCs within gliomas. This favors adult MSCs and NPCs, compared to immortalized NSC lines, as the choice of cellular vector system for development of therapy of patients with gliomas.

Furthermore, grafting of immortalized NSCs into the brain faces the problem of immunorejection. HLA-matched allogeneic stem and precursor cells, as used in this study, are immunologically compatible with the host, which may favor their survival and migration within tumors. HLA-matched allogeneic MSCs are already used clinically for the treatment of severe graft-versus-host disease³⁵.

Conflicting data exists on the effects of MSCs on tumor growth. Nakamura et al. reported that grafted rat MSCs prolong survival of glioma-bearing rats⁹. In contrast, MSCs have been reported to favor tumor growth through production of immunosuppressive factors and inihibition of lymphocyte proliferation³⁶. Our previous findings indicate that grafting of unmodified MSCs into gliomas does not affect the survival of glioma-bearing animals²³. This implies that grafted MSCs need to be genetically modified in order to achieve a therapeutic benefit. Human SVZ-derived NPCs can be harvested during endoscopic surgery of the ventricular system³⁷ and NPCs hold the potential of neuronal replacement in the damaged brain. Endogenous NPCs migrate specifically from the SVZ toward malignant brain tumors in the striatum^{38, 39}. The SVZ-derived NPCs are associated with anti-tumor effects³⁹ and a high proportion of the migrating NPCs display a region-specific phenotype of immature striatal neurons indicating a possible attempt toward endogenous repair of damaged neurons³⁸. An intriguing, but yet speculative, use of NPCs in glioma therapy thus includes both therapeutic and regenerative functions.

Taken together, this study provides novel data on the behavior of adult MSCs and NPCs as delivery vehicles in experimental gliomas and points to MSCs as the best suited vector system for delivery of therapeutic transgenes. In addition, we describe differences in tumor-tropic migratory capacities between adult MSCs/NPCs and commonly used immortalized NSC lines. While the migratory capacities possibly may favor the use of NSC lines as vector system, the absence of proliferation of grafted MSCs and NPCs speaks for adult non-immortalized precursor cells as a safer vector system in glioma therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank professors Leif G. Salford and Olle Lindvall for generously providing support and laboratory facilities. This work was supported by the Hans and Märit Rausing Charitable Fund, the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, the Segerfalk, the Crafoord, Elsa Schmitz, Magnus Bergvall and Lund University Hospital Foundations, the Gunnar Nilsson Cancer Foundation and the Royal Physiographic Society in Lund. The Lund Stem Cell Center is supported by a Center of Excellence grant in Life Sciences from the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research.

REFERENCES

- Pulkkanen KJ, Yla-Herttuala S. Gene therapy for malignant glioma: current clinical status. Mol Ther 2005;12:585-98.
- Aboody KS, Brown A, Rainov NG, Bower KA, Liu S, Yang W, Small JE, Herrlinger U, Ourednik V, Black PM, Breakefield XO, Snyder EY.

Neural stem cells display extensive tropism for pathology in adult brain: evidence from intracranial gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:12846-51.

- Benedetti S, Pirola B, Pollo B, Magrassi L, Bruzzone MG, Rigamonti D, Galli R, Selleri S, Di Meco F, De Fraja C, Vescovi A, Cattaneo E, et al. Gene therapy of experimental brain tumors using neural progenitor cells. Nat Med 2000;6:447-50.
- Ehtesham M, Kabos P, Gutierrez MA, Chung NH, Griffith TS, Black KL, Yu JS. Induction of glioblastoma apoptosis using neural stem cellmediated delivery of tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand. Cancer Res 2002;62:7170-4.
- Ehtesham M, Kabos P, Kabosova A, Neuman T, Black KL, Yu JS. The use of interleukin 12-secreting neural stem cells for the treatment of intracranial glioma. Cancer Res 2002;62:5657-63.
- Herrlinger U, Woiciechowski C, Sena-Esteves M, Aboody KS, Jacobs AH, Rainov NG, Snyder EY, Breakefield XO. Neural precursor cells for delivery of replication-conditional HSV-1 vectors to intracerebral gliomas. Mol Ther 2000;1:347-57.
- Moore XL, Lu J, Sun L, Zhu CJ, Tan P, Wong MC. Endothelial progenitor cells' "homing" specificity to brain tumors. Gene Ther 2004;11:811-8.
- Nakamizo A, Marini F, Amano T, Khan A, Studeny M, Gumin J, Chen J, Hentschel S, Vecil G, Dembinski J, Andreeff M, Lang FF. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas. Cancer Res 2005;65:3307-18.
- Nakamura K, Ito Y, Kawano Y, Kurozumi K, Kobune M, Tsuda H, Bizen A, Honmou O, Niitsu Y, Hamada H. Antitumor effect of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells in a rat glioma model. Gene Ther 2004;11:1155-64.
- Tabatabai G, Bahr O, Mohle R, Eyupoglu IY, Boehmler AM, Wischhusen J, Rieger J, Blumcke I, Weller M, Wick W. Lessons from the bone marrow: how malignant glioma cells attract adult haematopoietic progenitor cells. Brain 2005;128:2200-11.
- 11. Barresi V, Belluardo N, Sipione S, Mudo G,

Cattaneo E, Condorelli DF. Transplantation of prodrug-converting neural progenitor cells for brain tumor therapy. Cancer Gene Ther 2003;10:396-402.

- 12. Kim SK, Cargioli TG, Machluf M, Yang W, Sun Y, Al-Hashem R, Kim SU, Black PM, Carroll RS. PEX-producing human neural stem cells inhibit tumor growth in a mouse glioma model. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:5965-70.
- 13. Kim SK, Kim SU, Park IH, Bang JH, Aboody KS, Wang KC, Cho BK, Kim M, Menon LG, Black PM, Carroll RS. Human neural stem cells target experimental intracranial medulloblastoma and deliver a therapeutic gene leading to tumor regression. Clin Cancer Res 2006;12:5550-6.
- 14. Li S, Tokuyama T, Yamamoto J, Koide M, Yokota N, Namba H. Bystander effect-mediated gene therapy of gliomas using genetically engineered neural stem cells. Cancer Gene Ther 2005;12:600-7.
- Staflin K, Honeth G, Kalliomaki S, Kjellman C, Edvardsen K, Lindvall M. Neural progenitor cell lines inhibit rat tumor growth *in vivo*. Cancer Res 2004;64:5347-54.
- 16. Lee J, Elkahloun AG, Messina SA, Ferrari N, Xi D, Smith CL, Cooper R, Jr., Albert PS, Fine HA. Cellular and genetic characterization of human adult bone marrow-derived neural stemlike cells: a potential antiglioma cellular vector. Cancer Res 2003;63:8877-89.
- 17. Pisati F, Belicchi M, Acerbi F, Marchesi C, Giussani C, Gavina M, Javerzat S, Hagedorn M, Carrabba G, Lucini V, Gaini SM, Bresolin N, et al. Effect of human skin-derived stem cells on vessel architecture, tumor growth, and tumor invasion in brain tumor animal models. Cancer Res 2007;67:3054-63.
- Corsten MF, Shah K. Therapeutic stem-cells for cancer treatment: hopes and hurdles in tactical warfare. Lancet Oncol 2008;9:376-84.
- Janelidze S, Bexell D, Badn W, Darabi A, Enell-Smith K, Fritzell S, Gunnarsson S, Milos P, Bengzon J, Salford L, Siesjö P, Visse E. Immunizations with IFN-gamma secreting tumor cells can eradicate fully established and invasive rat gliomas. Submitted manuscript 2008.
- 20. Siesjo P, Visse E, Lindvall M, Salford L, Sjogren HO. Immunization with mutagen-treated (tum-)

cells causes rejection of nonimmunogenic rat glioma isografts. Cancer Immunol Immunother 1993;37:67-74.

- Roybon L, Hjalt T, Christophersen NS, Li JY, Brundin P. Effects on differentiation of embryonic ventral midbrain progenitors by Lmx1a, Msx1, Ngn2, and Pitx3. J Neurosci 2008;28:3644-56.
- 22. Ory DS, Neugeboren BA, Mulligan RC. A stable human-derived packaging cell line for production of high titer retrovirus/vesicular stomatitis virus G pseudotypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:11400-6.
- 23. Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Tormin A, Darabi A, Gisselsson D, Roybon L, Scheding S, Bengzon J. Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells act as pericyte-like migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas. Molecular Therapy 2008.
- Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Siesjö P, Bengzon J, Darabi A. CD133+ Tumor Initiating Cells Dominate in N29 and N32 Experimental Gliomas. Conditionally accepted, International Journal of Cancer 2008.
- Aboody KS, Najbauer J, Danks MK. Stem and progenitor cell-mediated tumor selective gene therapy. Gene Ther 2008;15:1072.
- 26. Davidoff AM, Ng CY, Brown P, Leary MA, Spurbeck WW, Zhou J, Horwitz E, Vanin EF, Nienhuis AW. Bone marrow-derived cells contribute to tumor neovasculature and, when modified to express an angiogenesis inhibitor, can restrict tumor growth in mice. Clin Cancer Res 2001;7:2870-9.
- Yung YC, Cheshier S, Santarelli JG, Huang Z, Wagers A, Weissman I, Tse V. Incorporation of naive bone marrow derived cells into the vascular architecture of brain tumor. Microcirculation 2004;11:699-708.
- 28. Sasaki M, Abe R, Fujita Y, Ando S, Inokuma D, Shimizu H. Mesenchymal stem cells are recruited into wounded skin and contribute to wound repair by transdifferentiation into multiple skin cell type. J Immunol 2008;180:2581-7.
- 29. Wu Y, Chen L, Scott PG, Tredget EE. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance wound healing through differentiation and angiogenesis. Stem Cells 2007;25:2648-59.
- 30. Dvorak HF. Tumors: wounds that do not

heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med 1986;315:1650-9.

- 31. Spaeth E, Klopp A, Dembinski J, Andreeff M, Marini F. Inflammation and tumor microenvironments: defining the migratory itinerary of mesenchymal stem cells. Gene Ther 2008;15:730-8.
- Staffin K, Lindvall M, Zuchner T, Lundberg C. Instructive cross-talk between neural progenitor cells and gliomas. J Neurosci Res 2007;85:2147-59.
- Lindvall O, Kokaia Z, Martinez-Serrano A. Stem cell therapy for human neurodegenerative disorders-how to make it work. Nat Med 2004;10 Suppl:S42-50.
- 34. Shah K, Hingtgen S, Kasmieh R, Figueiredo JL, Garcia-Garcia E, Martinez-Serrano A, Breakefield X, Weissleder R. Bimodal viral vectors and *in vivo* imaging reveal the fate of human neural stem cells in experimental glioma model. J Neurosci 2008;28:4406-13.
- 35. Le Blanc K, Frassoni F, Ball L, Locatelli F, Roelofs H, Lewis I, Lanino E, Sundberg B, Bernardo ME, Remberger M, Dini G, Egeler RM, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graftversus-host disease: a phase II study. Lancet 2008;371:1579-86.
- 36. Djouad F, Plence P, Bony C, Tropel P, Apparailly F, Sany J, Noel D, Jorgensen C. Immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stem cells favors tumor growth in allogeneic animals. Blood 2003;102:3837-44.
- Westerlund U, Svensson M, Moe MC, Varghese M, Gustavsson B, Wallstedt L, Berg-Johnsen J, Langmoen IA. Endoscopically harvested stem cells: a putative method in future autotransplantation. Neurosurgery 2005;57:779-84; discussion -84.
- Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Nordquist J, Bengzon J. Characterization of the subventricular zone neurogenic response to rat malignant brain tumors. Neuroscience 2007;147:824-32.
- 39. Glass R, Synowitz M, Kronenberg G, Walzlein JH, Markovic DS, Wang LP, Gast D, Kiwit J, Kempermann G, Kettenmann H. Glioblastomainduced attraction of endogenous neural precursor cells is associated with improved survival. J Neurosci 2005;25:2637-46.

BONE MARROW MULTIPOTENT MESENCHYMAL STROMA CELLS ACT AS PERICYTE-LIKE MIGRATORY VEHICLES IN EXPERIMENTAL GLIOMAS

126 Paper IV

original article

Bone Marrow Multipotent Mesenchymal Stroma Cells Act as Pericyte-like Migratory Vehicles in Experimental Gliomas

Daniel Bexell^{1,2}, Salina Gunnarsson^{1,2}, Ariane Tormin², Anna Darabi¹, David Gisselsson³, Laurent Roybon⁴, Stefan Scheding² and Johan Bengzon^{1,2}

¹The Rausing Laboratory, Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden; ²Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy, Lund University, Lund, Sweden; ³Department of Clinical Genetics, Lund University Hospital, Lund, Sweden; ⁴Neuronal Survival Unit, Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, Department of Experimental Medical Science, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

Bone marrow-derived multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) have emerged as cellular vectors for gene therapy of solid cancers. We implanted enhanced green fluorescent protein-expressing rat MSCs directly into rat malignant gliomas to address their migratory capacity, phenotype, and effects on tumor neovascularization and animal survival. A single intratumoral injection of MSCs infiltrated the majority of invasive glioma extensions (72 ± 14%) and a substantial fraction of distant tumor microsatellites (32 \pm 6%). MSC migration was highly specific for tumor tissue. Grafted MSCs integrated into tumor vessel walls and expressed pericyte markers a-smooth muscle actin, neuron-glia 2, and platelet-derived growth factor receptor- β but not endothelial cell markers. The pericyte marker expression profile and perivascular location of grafted MSCs indicate that these cells act as pericytes within tumors. MSC grafting did not influence tumor microvessel density or survival of tumor-bearing animals. The antiangiogenic drug Sunitinib markedly reduced the numbers of grafted MSCs migrating within tumors. We found no MSCs within gliomas following intravenous (i.v.) injections. Thus, MSCs should be administered by intratumoral implantations rather than by i.v. injections. Intratumorally grafted pericyte-like MSCs might represent a particularly well-suited vector system for delivering molecules to affect tumor angiogenesis and for targeting cancer stem cells within the perivascular niche.

Received 7 June 2008; accepted 20 September 2008; advance online publication 4 November 2008. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.229

INTRODUCTION

Solid tumors are dependent of neovascularization to grow beyond a certain size.³ Several antiangiogenic drugs have therefore been developed to target the tumor vasculature.² The tumor vasculature consists of endothelial cells which form the inner lining of vessels, and pericytes (perivascular cells) which provide structural support to endothelial cells. Pericytes also play an important role for tumor vessel function and survival by providing, e.g., vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) to endothelial cells.^{3,4} It has been suggested that bone marrow–derived endothelial cells and pericytes are recruited to contribute to the neovasculature of tumors,⁴⁻⁸ although recent data question the contribution of bone marrow circulating endothelial precursors to tumor vascular endothelium.⁹ Impaired recruitment of endothelial cells from the bone marrow leads to inhibition of tumor angiogenesis and decreased tumor growth.⁶ Depletion of pericytes causes hyper-dilation of tumor vessels and increased apoptosis of tumor cell endothelium.⁴ Therapeutic targeting of tumor vasculature may thus involve targeting of both endothelial cells and pericytes.¹⁰

Glioblastoma multiformae (GBM) is a highly malignant brain tumor which displays extensive neovascularization. The growth pattern of GBM is characterized by tumor extensions and tumor microsatellites growing far away from the main tumor mass into the normal brain. Conventional therapy is not curative and the shortcomings of GBM treatment have, in part, been attributed to the failure to target the infiltrating tumor cells.11 Antiangiogenic treatment has been explored in malignant gliomas.12 Systemic administration of angiogenic inhibitors as well as local delivery of antiangiogenic factors by means of viral-vector mediated gene delivery and encapsulated producer cells have been utilized. Although these modes of delivery have shown some promising results against gliomas there are serious shortcomings, such as short half-life of systemically administered inhibitors, host immune response to viral vectors and inefficient intratumoral spread of viral vectors and encapsulated cells.12

Neural, mesenchymal, and endothelial stem or progenitor cells have, because of their tumor-tropic migratory capacity, emerged as promising delivery vehicles of antitumoral substances in therapy of malignant tumors, including GBM.¹³⁻¹⁷ Culture-derived mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs), also called mesenchymal stem cells or marrow stroma cells, possess tropism for experimental tumors, including gliomas, following intraarterial and intracranial injections.^{16,17} Moreover, MSCs genetically modified to produce antitumoral substances have been shown to prolong survival in experimental brain tumor therapy.^{16,17} Because of the infiltrative

Correspondence: Daniel Bexell, Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy, BMC B10, Klinikgatan 26, Lund University, SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden. E-mail: daniel.bexell@med.lu.se

growth pattern of GBM, the success of MSCs as delivery vehicles in human GBM therapy will likely depend on their capacity to migrate to invasive tumor extensions and to distant tumor microsatellites. A quantitative assessment of the capacity and specificity of intratumorally grafted MSCs to infiltrate tumor tissue is highly warranted. Furthermore, their phenotype and relation to tumor microvessels need to be clarified.

In this study, we grafted bone marrow-derived rat MSCs into established orthotopic N29 and N32 rat malignant brain tumors. These glioma models are syngeneic when implanted in Fischer344 rats and exhibit characteristics of human high-grade malignant brain tumors. From a clinical perspective, grafting of MSCs into tumor remnants following surgical tumor resection is a potentially efficient route of delivery of therapeutic transgenes. MSCs can be isolated from the bone marrow, expanded in culture, and genetically modified to produce antitumoral substances before grafting. The aims of this study were to explore the capacity of intratumorally grafted and intravenously (i.v.) injected MSCs to migrate to invasive tumor cells, and to investigate the association between MSCs and tumor vasculature as well as the phenotype of MSCs in brain tumors.

RESULTS

MSCs characteristics in vitro

Following seeding in mesenchymal culture medium, typical fibroblastoid colonies could be detected after a few days rapidly forming a monolayer of adherent cells. MSC cultures contained a homogenous population of spindle-shaped cells (Figure 1a). To assay the differentiation potential of the MSCs, second passage cells were grown to near confluency and assayed for differentiation into osteoblasts or adipocytes. When MSC cultures were incubated in the adipogenic medium, lipid vacuoles could be clearly detected by Oil-red-O staining (Figure 1b). When cells were grown in the osteogenic medium, a change in cell morphology was found from spindle shaped to cuboidal shaped and calcium mineral deposits could be observed (Figure 1c). MSCs grown in control medium, on the other hand, showed no signs of differentiation.

Flow cytometric analysis revealed that MSCs were positive for the typical mesenchymal markers CD73 and CD90 but negative for the hematopoietic marker CD45. While CD73 expression was homogenous in all MSCs, CD90 was heterogeneously expressed in one high (60% of total cells)- and one low (40%)-expressing subpopulation (Figure 1d).

Enhanced green fluorescent protein expression of MSCs

To visualize the MSCs following grafting *in vivo*, we genetically modified the cells to express enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP). MSCs were transduced with a Moloney leukemia-based retroviral vector, which has the characteristic of infecting dividing cells. Flow cytometry revealed that >98% of MSCs expressed eGFP *in vitro*.

MSC migration to tumor extensions and tumor microsatellites

The growth pattern of the malignant N29 tumor resembles the invasive growth pattern of human GBM, which means that the tumor grows with infiltrative tumor extensions reaching far into the normal brain and with distant tumor microsatellites separated



Figure 1 In vitro characteristics of bone marrow-derived rat multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs). (a) Spindle-shaped morphology of MSCs generated from adult bone marrow. Cultures were stained with crystal violet. (b) Differentiation capacity of MSCs into adipocytes and (c) osteoblasts was assessed for passage 2 cells. (b) Lipid vacuoles were stained with Oil-red-O. (c) Osteogenic differentiation was detected by staining with Alizarin Red. Bar = 60 µm. (d) Flow cytometric analysis of MSCs using antibodies against CD73 (left panel), CD90 (middle panel), and the hematopoietic marker CD45 (right panel).



Days following MSC grafting	Tumor extensions infiltrated by MSCs	Distant tumor microsatellites infiltrated by MSCs
5	58 ± 16%	19 ± 9%
10	71 ± 6%	$25 \pm 8\%$
15	72 ± 14%	32 ± 6%

Figure 2 eGFP+ MSCs grafted into established N29DsRed tumor migrate along infiltrative tumor extensions and to distant microsatellites. The invasive growth pattern of the N29 tumor resembles that of glioblastoma multiformae. (a) eGFP+ MSCs (green) are mainly located within the main tumor mass but several mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) are also found along tumor extensions (arrow) and at distant tumor microsatellites (asterisks) infiltrating into the normal brain parenchyma. Only minimal numbers of grafted eGFP+ MSCs can be found in normal brain tissue adjacent to tumor. Bar = 100 µm. (b) Number of tumor extensions and distant tumor microsatellites infiltrated by eGFP+ MSCs at various time points following MSC grafting into established N29DsRed tumor. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, n = 4-5 animals for each time point. eGFP, enhanced green fluorescent protein. from the main tumor mass. The numbers of tumor extensions and distant tumor microsatellites were 7.2 \pm 1.4 and 4.6 \pm 1.0 per section on day 15 following tumor cell inoculation, 9.9 \pm 0.7 and 9.4 \pm 0.6 on day 20, and 10.1 \pm 1.2 and 12.7 \pm 2.2 on day 25. We estimated the capacity of intratumorally grafted eGFP+ MSCs to migrate to tumor extensions and to distant tumor microsatellites. The majority of tumor extensions contained at least one, but most often several, eGFP+ MSCs and MSCs were also found in a substantial fraction of distant tumor microsatellites 5, 10, and 15 days following MSC grafting (Figure 2a,b). The capacity of MSCs to migrate to distant tumor extensions and microsatellites was persistent in parallel with the infiltrative growth of the N29 tumor (Figure 2b). Only minimal numbers of intratumorally grafted



Figure 3 Whole-chromosome fluorescent *in situ* hybridization (FISH) painting for the Y chromosome in mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) derived from a male rat. (a) A metaphase spread with a Y chromosome (large red signal) and several interphase nuclei with a corresponding signal pattern. (b) Tissue section showing parts of normal brain parenchyma and N29 tumor. Male-derived MSCs are grafted into N29 tumors (female-derived tumor) established in female hosts (n = 4). Cell nuclei are depicted by 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole staining (blue). The intratumoral localization of male-derived MSCs is confirmed by Y chromosome signals (red). Enhanced green fluorescent protein expression was lost because of heavy enzymatic pretreatment. No Y carrying cells can be seen in the normal brain. FISH for chromosome 12 (green) is used as positive control. Bar = 10 µm in **a** and 15 µm in **b**.

MSCs were found in normal brain parenchyma adjacent to tumor (Figure 2a). The numbers of grafted eGFP+ MSCs were, 15 days following MSC grafting, 0.5 ± 0.1 per section in normal brain tissue adjacent to tumor, 41.5 ± 5.0 in tumor extensions (P < 0.05, compared to MSCs numbers in normal brain tissue) and 7.1 ± 2.7 in tumor microsatellites (P < 0.05).

Fluorescent in situ hybridization

In addition to analysis of eGFP+ cells, fluorescent *in situ* hybridization (FISH) was used to independently assess MSC migration *in vivo*. MSCs, derived from a male rat, were grafted into female animals, carrying the N29wt tumor developed in a female animal. MSC migration pattern was analyzed on day 15 following intratumoral grafting. FISH for the Y chromosome (red signal) was performed to specifically label MSCs (*in vitro*, **Figure 3a**). eGFP expression of the MSCs was lost in this experiment because of heavy enzymatic pretreatment of the tissue sections. However, cells carrying the Y chromosome were clearly visualized, locating within the N29wt tumor. No Y chromosome-positive cells were seen in the normal brain. FISH for rat chromosome 12 (green signal) was performed as positive control (**Figure 3b**).

Grafted MSCs migrate to tumor endothelium and do not express endothelial markers or affect tumor microvessel density

Colabeling of eGFP and rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA) was performed to assess the association between grafted MSCs and tumor endothelium. There was a strong tropism of grafted MSCs to RECA+ tumor vessels (Figure 4a), but not to RECA+ blood vessels in normal brain tissue adjacent to tumor (Figure 4b). Quantitative analysis revealed that $84 \pm 4\%$ of the migratory MSCs closely associated to RECA+ tumor vessels and a significant fraction of MSCs also integrated into the vessel wall (Figure 4a). Highly vascularized tumor extensions attracted higher numbers



Figure 4 Grafted eGFP+ MSCs closely associate to tumor endothelium and do not express endothelial cell markers. (a) eGFP+ MSCs (green) 8 days following grafting into established N32wt brain tumor. Tumor endothelium is delineated by rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA; red). The majority of mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) are closely associated to tumor endothelium. (b) Intratumorally grafted MSCs migrate along RECA+ tumor vessels and do not associate with RECA+ blood vessels in normal brain tissue adjacent to tumor. Asterisks indicate major blood vessels in normal brain. (c) Grafted eGFP+ MSCs closely attached to a major RECA+ tumor vessel. Asterisk indicates tumor vessel lumen. (d) Confocal microscopy analysis was used to determine coexpression of grafted eGFP+ MSCs with endothelial markers RECA or VE-Cadherin. Bar = 60 μ m in a, 100 μ m in b, 20 μ m in c, and 10 μ m in d. (e) Quantification of RECA+ tumor microvessel s revealed no difference in tumor microvessel density in tumors receiving eGFP+ MSCs. Compared to tumors with no MSCs. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, n = 4 in each group. eGFP, enhanced green fluorescent protein; VE-Cadherin, vascular endothelia-Cadherin.

of MSCs compared to tumor extensions with a lower vascular density. Migratory MSCs, clearly separated from the core of the graft, could be found closely attached to major tumor vessels (**Figure 4c**), whereas minimal numbers of MSCs were seen in the surrounding nonvascularized tumor area.

We determined whether MSCs themselves are differentiating into endothelial cells and directly contribute to tumor endothelium. There was no MSC expression of the endothelial cell markers RECA or vascular endothelial-Cadherin (VE-Cadherin) *in vitro* (data not shown). Confocal microscopy analysis was used to determine coexpression of grafted eGFP+ MSCs, integrated to tumor vessels, with RECA or VE-Cadherin. We found no evidence of grafted eGFP+ MSCs that coexpressed RECA or VE-Cadherin (**Figure 44**). We therefore conclude that MSCs are nonendothelial cells which become closely associated and integrate to tumor neovasculature following intratumoral grafting.

To investigate the effect of MSC grafting on tumor microvessel density, we quantified the numbers of RECA+ tumor vessels in tumors receiving eGFP+ MSCs and in tumors with no eGFP+ MSCs. Results indicate that there was no difference in tumor microvessel density between the two groups (17.8 ± 0.9 for tumors with no MSCs and 17.6 ± 0.5 for tumors with MSCs, Figure 4e).

MSCs express pericyte markers in vitro and in vivo

In light of the tropism and close association of grafted MSCs to tumor vasculature, we analyzed the MSC expression pattern of perivascular cell (pericyte) markers α -smooth muscle actin (α -sma),^{4,18} neuron-glia 2 (NG2),^{19,20} and platelet-derived growth factor receptor- β (PDGF-receptor- β),^{4,21} *In vitro*, the absolute majority (>99%) of MSCs expressed pericyte markers α -sma, NG2, and PDGF-receptor- β (Figure 5a). A high fraction of eGFP+ MSCs grafted into established tumors continued to express pericyte markers α -sma (~60%, Figure 5b) and NG2 (~80%, Figure 5c). We found PDGF receptor- β –expressing cells with migratory morphology within tumors receiving MSCs; however eGFP expression was lost in the tissue processing and we were therefore unable to colocalize eGFP with PDGF-receptor- β in vivo (Figure 5d). Thus, MSCs utilized in our experiments display a pericyte-like phenotype *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Sunitinib treatment inhibits MSC migration into tumors

N32wt glioma-bearing animals were treated with either vehicle or the antiangiogenic drug Sunitinib which inhibits multiple tyrosine kinase receptors including PDGF-receptor- α and - β , VEGF receptor-1 and -2, KIT (stem cell factor receptor), and Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3 receptor.²² The numbers of tumor microvessels and grafted MSCs within tumors were quantified 4 days following MSC grafting. As expected, the numbers of tumor microvessels decreased in animals receiving Sunitinib treatment. The numbers of RECA+ microvessels within tumors were, after vehicle treatment, 20 ± 1.8 , compared to 8 ± 0.7 following treatment with Sunitinib (Figure 6a, P < 0.05, unpaired *t*-test). We counted the numbers of eGFP+ MSCs that migrated from the injection site, within or outside tumor, to tumor periphery. Treatment with Sunitinib effectively reduced the numbers of eGFP+ MSCs migrating to tumor periphery compared to the numbers of migrating MSCs following



Figure 5 Mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) express pericyte markers in vitro and in vivo. (a) The absolute majority (>99%) of MSCs express pericyte markers α -smooth muscle actin (α -sma), neuron-glia 2 (NG2) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor- β (PDGF-receptor- β) in vitro. Cells are counted-stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole nuclear staining (blue). (b) eGFP+ MSCs grafted into established tumors continue to express pericyte marker α -sma (red) and localize closely to a tumor vessel [rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA), blue)]. Other eGFP+ MSCs display no or very weak α -sma expression. Asterisks indicate tumor vessel lumen. (c) eGFP+ MSCs expressing NG2 within tumor. (d) Fresh-frozen tissue section showing a representative PDCF receptor- β -expressing migratory cell with typical MSC morphology found within tumors containing grafted MSCs. The expression of enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) was lost in tissue processing. Bar = 50 µm in **a** an 30 µm in **b**-d.

administration of vehicle. The numbers of eGFP+ MSCs within tumor periphery were, after vehicle treatment, 40 ± 2.2 , compared to 10 ± 1.9 following treatment with Sunitinib (Figure 6b, P < 0.05, unpaired *t*-test). High numbers of grafted MSCs were found migrating into the tumor core in vehicle-treated animals while grafted MSCs were found mainly in the outer tumor periphery in Sunitinib-treated animals.

Grafted MSCs do not prolong survival of tumor-bearing animals

To investigate the effect of MSC grafting on survival of gliomabearing animals, we grafted MSCs intratumorally on day 2 into N29 or N32 tumor-bearing animals. Animals were killed when symptoms of tumor growth emerged. There was no significant difference in survival of tumor-bearing animals that received eGFP+ MSCs intratumorally compared to animals that received eGFP+ MSCs intratumorally compared to animals that received control medium. The mean survival for N32 tumor-bearing animals receiving MSCs was 24 (range: 21–27) days and for tumor-bearing animals receiving control medium 23 (range: 21–25) days. N29 tumor-bearing animals that received MSCs survived 44 (range: 32–56) days and animals that received control medium 49 (range: 40–54) days.

No evidence of MSC homing to established gliomas following i.v. injections

N29 or N32 glioma cells were inoculated intracerebrally and eGFP+ MSCs were administered systemically by i.v. injections



Figure 6 The antiangiogenic drug Sunitinib decreases tumor vascularization and the numbers of grafted mesenchymal stroma cells (MSCs) migrating to the periphery of N32 gliomas. (a) Tumor microvessels [rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA), red] in N32wt tumors (Hoechst nuclear staining, blue) following administration of either vehicle or Sunitinib. Treatment with Sunitinib significantly decreased the numbers of RECA+ tumor microvessels. (b) High numbers of grafted eGFP+ MSCs (green) were found migrating from the injection site to tumor periphery (Hoechst, blue) following administration of vehicle. Treatment with Sunitinib effectively reduced the numbers of grafted MSCs found within tumor periphery. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. **P* < 0.05, *n* = 4 in each group. Bar = 170 µm in **a** and **b**. eGFP, enhanced green fluorescent protein.

14 days later. Animals were killed 2 and 7 days following MSC injections. At both time points, we found vascularized tumors in the striatum of all animals but careful microscopic analysis of serial sections revealed no evidence of eGFP+ MSCs within tumors. Neither did we detect NG2 or α -sma expressing cells with spindle-shaped morphology within tumors.

DISCUSSION

The principal findings of this study are that bone marrow-derived MSCs, grafted into malignant brain tumors, associate closely and integrate to tumor vessels and express typical pericyte markers in vitro as well as in vivo within tumors. MSCs, identified by their adherent growth, marker expression profile, and mesenchymal differentiation capacity, have been used as cellular delivery vehicles in various types of cancers, including melanoma, breast cancer, Kaposi's sarcoma, lung cancer, and brain tumors.16,17,23-26 Our findings suggest that the cells used in these previous studies might associate to tumor vessels and possibly act like pericytes within tumors. Furthermore, we demonstrate by quantitative analysis that intratumorally grafted bone marrow-derived MSCs migrate effectively to infiltrative tumor extensions and display capacity to migrate to distantly located tumor microsatellites. MSC grafting did not affect tumor microvessel density or survival of gliomabearing animals. Our findings indicate that tumor angiogenic signaling factors, and possibly tumor vessels per se, are important in the recruitment of grafted MSCs within tumors. However, we found no evidence of MSC homing to established gliomas following i.v. injections.

Tumor neovasculature is critical for tumor growth¹ and the finding that grafted MSCs associates to and integrates into tumor vessels indicates that these cells may act as very potent vehicles for delivery of antiangiogenic substances to vascularized tumors. Antiangiogenic therapy of gliomas and of brain metastases have previously shown that tumors might adopt to decreased vessel density and hypoxia by increased migration along preexisting microvessels and by increased perivascular satellite formation, a phenomenon known as vascular co-option.^{27,28} This needs to recognized when designing antiangiogenic trials for gliomas but it is possible that MSCs robust capacity to track tumor extensions and microsatellites might overcome this therapeutic challenge.

Human MSCs can be found in human glioma xenografts in immunocomprised mice following intracarotid injections.16 We pursued to investigate whether i.v. injected rat MSCs home to established syngeneic orthotopic gliomas and we found no evidence of i.v. injected MSCs within tumors following single injections. Another study reported tropism of i.v. injected human MSCs to melanomas in immunocompromised mice.26 MSC homing efficiency to subcutaneous tumors was, however, very low because five MSC injections during a 20-day period resulted in homing to only a fraction of melanoma-bearing animals. Furthermore, melanoma lung metastasis were established by i.v. melanoma cell inoculation, and i.v. administered MSCs were found randomly distributed in both the lung parenchyma and tumor at 1 day after injection.26 This suggests a lack of tumor-specific homing of i.v. injected MSCs in the melanoma lung metastasis model. Although we performed systematic analysis of serial sections, we cannot exclude the possibility that very low numbers of MSCs home to glioma vasculature following i.v. injections. In contrast, a single intratumoral injection of MSCs resulted in infiltration of the majority of the invasive tumor extensions and to a significant fraction of distantly located tumor microsatellites in the invasive N29 glioma model. Thus, our results clearly show that the MSC cellular vector system in glioma therapy should be administered by intratumoral implantation rather than by i.v. injections.

MSCs as Pericyte-like Vehicles in Gliomas

Using two independent methods, retroviral eGFP labeling of MSCs and FISH to track male-derived MSCs grafted into female hosts, we showed that MSC migration was largely restricted to tumor and not to normal brain parenchyma. The tumor-specific migratory capacity of MSCs makes these cells promising cellular vehicles for delivery of cytotoxic substances that specifically can kill tumor cells without substantially damaging normal brain tissue. Moreover, our finding that grafted MSCs intermingled with tumor endothelial cells and tumor pericytes implies that an approach to locally target both endothelial cells and pericytes within tumors is possible. Combinatorial targeting of both tumor endothelium and tumor pericytes by systemic administration of VEGF receptor and PDGF receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors indeed diminish tumor vascularization more than any of the respective inhibitors individually.10 The therapeutic implication of the perivascular tropism of grafted MSCs within tumors is further strengthened by recent findings by Calabrese et al. demonstrating that cancer stem cells within brain tumors are maintained within a perivascular niche. This study suggests that tumor endothelial cells secrete factors that maintain brain cancer stem cells in a stem celllike state.29 Grafted MSCs are therefore strategically well located to deliver substances that can either directly attack cancer stem cells within the perivascular niche, or indirectly by eliminating tumor endothelial cells necessary for cancer stem cell growth. In cancer immunotherapy, blood-borne immune cells, e.g., cytotoxic T cells and natural killer cells, cross the blood-brain barrier to reach the tumor. MSCs, genetically modified to produce proinflammatory substances such as interleukin-2, interferon-β, and interleukin-23, can decrease tumor growth and prolong survival of tumor-bearing animals.16,17,30 The close association of grafted MSCs to tumor vessels found in the present study may thus explain their capacity to attract blood-borne immune cells to tumors.

Our findings indicate that grafted MSCs utilize tumor vessels as their migratory route. The tumor-specific migratory behavior of MSCs has previously shown to be associated to glioma-produced angiogenic cytokines. In vitro assays have revealed that specifically VEGF-A, interleukin-8, transforming growth factor-\$1, and neurotrophin-3, all involved in tumor angiogenesis, mediate recruitment of MSCs to gliomas.31,32 Findings from our study suggest that tumor angiogenic signaling factors regulate MSC migration intratumorally in vivo. Although we cannot exclude decreased MSC survival following Sunitinib treatment, the MSC migratory pattern was radically changed by Sunitinib, thus suggesting that tumor vascularization is important for substantial migration of grafted MSCs within tumors. The pericyte-like phenotype of MSCs indicates that endothelial interactions and specifically PDGF-B, sphingosine-1-phosphate, and angiopoietin-1 may mediate MSC recruitment to tumors as these factors contribute to recruit pericytes to tumor vessels.33,34

We could not detect an effect of grafted MSCs on tumor microvessel density. This is in contrast to previous findings showing that systemic administration of human MSCs can contribute to angiogenesis in the pathological brain.³⁵ No effect on survival of tumor-bearing animals was seen in the present study. However, the pericytic phenotype of MSCs gives an indication of their potential functions within tumors. Normal pericytes are essential for endothelial cell survival and function and tumor pericytes may regulate tumor vessel stability, maintenance, and function.^{33,36} Recent findings suggest that pericyte maturation within tumors contributes to vascular normalization which in turn enhances the influx of immune effector cells leading to decreased tumor growth.³⁷ It would be interesting to see whether grafted pericyte-like MSCs can contribute to normalization of tumor vasculature and in this way facilitate immunotherapy of the tumor. In addition, the role of MSCs and pericytes in tumor cell metastasis has recently been addressed. Xian *et al.* demonstrated that pericytes within tumors limit tumor cell metastasis via neural cell adhesion molecule–dependent normalization of tumor vasculature.³⁸ On the other hand, Karnoub *et al.* showed that MSCs, when mixed with breast cancer cells, can increase the metastatic potency of the cancer via CCL5 signaling.³⁹ Further studies are needed to clarify the role of grafted pericyte-like MSCs in glioma cell invasion and metastasis.

Future studies should also aim at optimizing the infiltrative capacity of grafted MSCs because not all tumor extensions and microsatellites were infiltrated by MSCs. Grafting of MSCs genetically modified to overexpress receptors crucial for tumor-specific migration,⁴⁰ and identification of potential MSC subpopulations more prone to migrate, could in combination with multiple MSC injections, improve the MSC tumor infiltration.

In brief, our results indicate that bone marrow-derived MSCs act as pericyte-like cells following intratumoral grafting, efficiently migrating to and integrating into the tumor neovasculature to which they likely are recruited by factors involved in neoangiogenesis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Tumor cell lines and culture. The rat glioma cell lines N29 and N32 were originally induced by transplacental injection of ethyl-N-nitrosourea to pregnant Fischer344 rats.⁴¹ Tumor cell culturing was performed as previously described (see Supplementary Materials and Methods).⁴²

Flow cytometry. MSCs were detached using Trypsin/0.5% EDTA (GIBCO, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and washed in phosphate-buffered saline plus 1% bovine serum albumin. Primary antibodies were mouse anti-rat CD45 (1:25; BD Bioscience, Franklin Lakes, NJ), mouse anti-rat CD73 (1:400; BD Bioscience), and mouse anti-rat CD90 (1:400; BD Bioscience). Cells were blocked in 5% normal goat serum in phosphate-buffered saline and stained with secondary antibody goat anti-mouse-IgG F(ab')₂ APC (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA). Secondary antibody alone served as control for unspecific binding. Samples were measured on a FACSCalibur flow cytometer with CellQuest software (BD Bioscience) and data were analyzed using Flowjo software (Tree star, Ashland, OR).

Animal procedure and experimental design. Adult male and female Fischer 344 rats (8–9 weeks old) from Scanbur, Stockholm, Sweden, were used. Animal procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee for Use of Laboratory Animals at Lund University, Sweden. Animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (2.5% in O₂, Forene; Abbott Scandinavia AB, Solna, Sweden) and placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA). The following coordinates were used for tumor cell inoculation and stem cell grafting (relative to bregma): anterior–posterior: +1.7, medial– lateral: -2.5, and dorso–ventral: -5.0. Tooth bar was set at -3.3 mm. Tumor cells were inoculated at 1 µl/min, using a 10-µl Hamilton syringe. eGFP+ MSCs (2.5 × 10⁶ cells) were grafted at 0.5µl/min, using a 10-µl Hamilton syringe with a glass micropipette attached to the needle tip. After cell inoculation, the micropipette was kept in place for 5 minutes before being slowly retracted. The above–mentioned parameters were used in all experiments unless otherwise mentioned.

MSCs as Pericyte-like Vehicles in Gliomas

To study MSC migration along tumor extensions and to distant tumor microsatellites, 3,000 N29DsRed tumor cells were inoculated on day 1 into the striatum of adult rats (n = 15). eGFP+ MSCs were grafted on day 10 and the animals were killed on day 5, 10, and 15 following MSC grafting (n = 4-5 animals for each group). For FISH, eGFP+ MSCs were grafted intratumorally into N29wt tumor–bearing female rats (n = 4) using the above-mentioned parameters.

Animals (n = 4 in each group) were treated p.o. once daily for 6 days with either vehicle solution (0.5% Polysorbate80; Sigma, St. Louis, MO, and 10% polyethylene glycol; Sigma, dissolved in water, pH adjusted to 3.5) or Sunitinib (50 mg/kg, kindly provided by Pfizer, New York, NY) dissolved in vehicle solution. Three thousand N32wt glioma cells were inoculated on day 1 and treatment with either vehicle or Sunitinib started on day 12. On day 14, eGFP+ MSCs were grafted into tumors and animals were killed on day 18. Animals were continuously observed for signs of illness.

We performed two survival studies to assess the effect of grafted MSCs on tumor growth. Three thousand N32 tumor cells were inoculated on day 1 and eGFP+ MSCs (n = 8) or control medium (n = 8) was inoculated intratumorally on day 2. In a similar experiment utilizing the invasive N29 tumor model, 5,000 N29 tumor cells were inoculated on day 1 and eGFP+ MSCs (n = 10) or medium (n = 10) was stereotactically injected intratumorally on the following day. Animals were continuously observed and immediately killed when symptoms of tumor growth (*e.g.*, reduced motor activity, reduced washing, weight loss) were seen.

MSCs were administered i.v. to glioma-bearing animals. N29 tumor cells (5,000 cells/5 µl) or N32 tumor cells (3,000 cells/5 µl) were inoculated intracerebrally as previously described and eGFP+ MSCs (2×10^6 cells in 500 µl) were administered during 5 minutes via the tail vein 14 days later. Animals were killed either 2 or 7 days following MSC injections (n = 5 animals for each tumor type and time point).

Immunohistochemistry. Processing of brains and immunohistochemistry on tissue sections were performed as previously described.42 Alternatively, for PDGF-receptor-\beta immunohistochemistry, brains were removed and placed for 2 minutes in isopentane at a temperature of -50 °C. Brains were kept in -80 °C until sectioned (6 µm) on a freezing microtome. Fresh-frozen tissue sections were mounted onto glass slides and fixated with Acetone for 10 minutes. Primary antibodies were chicken anti-GFP (1:1,500; Chemicon, Temecula, CA), mouse anti-rat RECA (1:100; Serotec, Oxford, UK), mouse anti-VE-Cadherin (1:150; Abcam, Cambridge, UK), mouse anti-NG2 (1:500; Chemicon), rabbit anti-a-sma (1:400; Abcam), and rabbit anti-PDGF-receptor-ß (1:100; Abcam). The following secondary antibodies were used: Alexa488 goat anti-chicken (1:500; Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR), Alexa594 goat anti-mouse (Molecular Probes), Alexa594 goat anti-rabbit (Molecular Probes), and Cy5 goat anti-mouse (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). Free-floating sections were mounted onto glass slides. All glass slides were cover-slipped with 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2] octane mounting medium.

FISH. FISH was performed on 25-µm thick tissue sections pretreated with 1 mg/ml proteinase K in phosphate-buffered saline for 1 hour, followed by 20 mg/ml pepsin in 0.01 mol/l HCl for 1 hour. After protease treatment, sections were washed in buffered saline, dehydrated in 70–85–96% ethanol, and codenatured for 10 minutes with the rat Y/12 Probe (Y Cy3; 12 FITC, CA-1631; Cambio, Cambridge, UK) for the rat Y chromosome and rat chromosome 12. Hybridization was performed overnight at 37°C. Stringency washing was performed in 0.2x saline-sodium citrate for 5 minutes and sections were counterstained by 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole.

Microscopic analysis. Sections were examined with an Olympus BX60 epifluorescense microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) using x20 objective or by confocal laser scanning microscopy (Leica Microsystems, Mannheim, Germany).

The capacity of grafted eGFP+ MSCs to migrate within invasive N29DsRed tumors was estimated. A tumor extension was defined as an arm of the tumor, coherent with the main tumor mass, infiltratively growing into the normal brain parenchyma. A distant tumor microsatellite was defined as a cluster of tumor cells, clearly separated from the main tumor mass. Systematic histological analysis of tumor area of interest was performed to determine whether clusters of cells were cross-sections of tumor extensions or microsatellites. The number of tumor extensions and distant tumor microsatellites containing at least one eGFP+ MSC were counted and divided by the total number of tumor extensions and distant tumor microsatellites, respectively. For each animal, one section containing dorsal tumor periphery, one section containing tumor center, and one section containing ventral tumor periphery were quantified. However, 3-10 sections, depending on the size of the microsatellite, were analyzed (to distinguish cross-sections of tumor extensions from microsatellites) for every section that was quantified. Four to five animals at each time point were analyzed.

To assess eGFP+ cells in close association with tumor blood vessels, the number of eGFP+ cells located within the distance of one cell body from tumor vessels (delineated by RECA) were counted within a 0.2 mm \times 0.2 mm grid, using a $\times 20$ objective, and divided by the total number of eGFP+ cells within the area. Five animals from day 8 to 12 following MSC grafting were included and three sections per animal were quantified.

Tumor microvessel density was assessed by quantification of the numbers of RECA+ tumor vessels within a $0.2 \text{ mm} \times 0.2 \text{ mm}$ grid, using a $\times 20$ objective. The numbers of RECA+ tumor vessels were counted in tumors with high numbers of migratory eGFP+ MSC and in tumors with no eGFP+ MSCs. Four animals from each group were chosen and five fields of each tumor were analyzed.

In the Sunitinib experiment, tumor microvessel density was assessed by quantification of the numbers of RECA+ tumor vessels within a 0.2 mm \times 0.2 mm grid, using a \times 20 objective. The numbers of eGFP+ MSCs, found migrating from the injection site within or outside tumor to tumor periphery, were counted within a 0.2 mm \times 0.2 mm grid, using a \times 40 objective. Four fields of each tumor were analyzed.

Statistical analysis. Student's unpaired t-test was used for comparison between groups. Data are presented as means \pm SEM and considered significant at P < 0.05. Survival curves were compared using a log rank test. Survival is presented as mean (range).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL Materials and Methods.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Leif G. Salford (Department of Neurosurgery, Lund University) and Olle Lindvall (Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy) for kindly providing laboratory facilities, Catarina Blennow, Susanne Strömblad, and Petra Bergman (Department of Neurosurgery, Lund University) for excellent technical assistance and Henrik Semb (Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy) for excellent comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by the Hans and Märit Rausing Charitable Fund, the Svedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, the Crafoord, Segerfalk, Elsa Schmitz, Magnus Bergvall and Lund University Hospital Foundations, the Gunnar Nilsson Cancer Foundation and the Royal Physiographic Society in Lund. The Lund Stem Cell Center is supported by a Center of Excellence grant in Life Sciences from the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research.

REFERENCES

- Hanahan, D and Folkman, J (1996). Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. *Cell* 86: 353–364.
 Neri, D and Bicknell, R (2005). Tumour vascular targeting. *Nat Rev Cancer*
- Neri, D and Bicknell, R (2005). Tumour vascular targeting. Nat Rev Cancer 5: 436–446.

MSCs as Pericyte-like Vehicles in Gliomas

- Benjamin, LE, Golijanin, D, Itin, A, Pode, D and Keshet, E (1999). Selective ablation 3 of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. / *Clin Invest* **103**: 159–165.
- 4 Song S Ewald AI Stallcup W Werb 7 and Bergers G (2005) PDGERbetaperivascular progenitor cells in tumours regulate pericyte differentiation and vascular survival. Nat Cell Biol **7**: 870–879.
- Bababeygy, SR, Cheshier, SH, Hou, LC, Higgins, DM, Weissman, IL and Tse, VC (2008). Hematopoietic stem cell-derived pericytic cells in brain tumor angio-5
- Lyden, D, Hattori, K, Dias, S, Costa, C, Blaikie, P, Butros, L et al. (2001). Impaired 6 recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth. Nat Med 7: 1194–1201.
- Peters, BA, Diaz, LA, Polyak, K, Meszler, L, Romans, K, Guinan, EC *et al.* (2005) Contribution of bone marrow-derived endothelial cells to human tumor vascul 7 Nat Med 11: 261–262.
- 8 Spring, H, Schuler, T, Arnold, B, Hammerling, GJ and Ganss, R (2005). Chemokines direct endothelial progenitors into tumor neovessels. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102: 18111-18116
- Purhonen, S, Palm, J, Rossi, D, Kaskenpaa, N, Rajantie, I, Yla-Herttuala, S et al. (2008). 9 Bone marrow-derived circulating endothelial precursors do not contribute to vascular endothelium and are not needed for tumor growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105: 6620-6625
- Bergers, G, Song, S, Meyer-Morse, N, Bergsland, E and Hanahan, D (2003). Benefits 10. of targeting both pericytes and endothelial cells in the tumor vasculature with kinase inhibitors. J Clin Invest 111: 1287–1295.
- 11. Pulkkanen, KJ and Yla-Herttuala, S (2005). Gene therapy for malignant glioma: current linical status. Mol Ther 12: 585-598.
- Jansen, M, de Witt Hamer, PC, Witmer, AN, Troost, D and van Noorden. CI (2004). 12. Current perspectives on antiangiogenesis strategies in the treatment of malignani gliomas. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 45: 143–163.
- gliomas. arain Kes Brain Kes KeV 45: 143–163. Aboody, KS, Brown, A, Rainov, NG, Bower, KA, Liu, S, Yang, W et al. (2000). Neural stem cells display extensive tropism for pathology in adult brain: evidence from intracranial gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 12846–12851. Bendetti, S, Pirola, B, Pollo, B, Magrassi, L, Bruzzone, MG, Rigamonti, D et al. (2000).
- 14. Gene therapy of experimental brain tumors using neural progenitor cells. Nat Med 6: 447–450
- 15 Moore, XL, Lu, J, Sun, L, Zhu, CJ, Tan, P and Wong, MC (2004). Endothelial progenitor cells' "homing" specificity to brain tumors. *Gene Ther* 11: 811–818.
- 16 Nakamizo, A, Marini, F, Amano, T, Khan, A, Studeny, M, Gumin, J *et al.* (2005). Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas Cancer Res 65: 3307-3318.
- Nakamura, K, Ito, Y, Kawano, Y, Kurozumi, K, Kobune, M, Tsuda, H et al. (2004). 17. Antitumor effect of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells in a rat glioma model. Gene Ther 11: 1155–1164.
 Skalli, O, Pelte, MF, Peclet, MC, Gabbiani, G, Gugliotta, P, Bussolati, G et al. (1989).
- 18. Alpha-smooth muscle actin, a differentiation marker of smooth muscle cells, is present in microfilamentous bundles of pericytes. J Histochem Cytochem 37: 315–321.
- Ozerdem, U, Monosov, E and Stallcup, WB (2002). NG2 proteoglycan expression by pericytes in pathological microvasculature. *Microvasc Res* **63**: 129–134. 19. 20
- Schlingemann, RO, Rieveld, FJ, de Waal, RM, Ferrone, S and Ruiter, DJ (1990). Expression of the high molecular weight melanoma-associated antigen by pericytes during angiogenesis in tumors and in healing wounds. *Mn J Pathol* **136**: 1393–1405. Lindahl, P, Johansson, BR, Leveen, P and Betsholtz, C (1997). Pericyte loss and 21.
- Erican, J. Johnson, M., Ericci, M., & Karley, E. K. Sterner, J. Sterner, S. K. Sterner, S. Sterner, S. Sterner, S. Sakamoto, KM (2004). Su-11248 Sugen. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 5: 1329–1339. Elzaouk, L. Moelling, K and Pavlovic, J (2006). Anti-tumor activity of mesenchymal
- 23. stem cells producing IL-12 in a mouse melanoma model. Exp Dermatol 15: 865–874.

- 24. Khakoo, AY, Pati, S, Anderson, SA, Reid, W, Elshal, MF, Rovira, II et al. (2006). Human Nataco, A., Tak, J., Anderson, S., Red, Y., Estai, M., Konty, H. et al. (2005). Haman mesenchyma lstem cells exert potent antitumorigenic effects in a model of Kaposi's sarcoma. J Exp Med 203: 1235–1247. Maestroni, GJ, Hertens, E and Galli, P (1999). Factor(s) from nonmacrophage bone
- 25 marrow stronal cells inhibit Lewis lung carcinoma and B16 melanoma growth in mice. Cell Mol Life Sci **55**: 663–667.
- Studeny, M, Marini, FC, Champlin, RE, Zompetta, C, Fidler, IJ and Andreeff, M (2002). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells as vehicles for interferon-beta delivery Kusters, B, Leenders, WP, Wesseling, P, Smits, D, Verrijp, K, Ruiter, DJ *et al.* (2002).
- Vascular endothelial growth factor-A(165) induces progression of melanoma brain metastases without induction of sprouting angiogenesis. Cancer Res 62: 341_345
- Rubenstein, JL, Kim, J, Ozawa, T, Zhang, M, Westphal, M, Deen, DF et al. (2000). Anti-VEGF antibody treatment of glioblastoma prolongs survival but results in increased vascular cooption. Neoplasia 2: 306–314.
- Calabrese, C, Poppleton, H, Kocak, M, Hogg, TL, Fuller, C, Hamner, B *et al.* (2007). A perivascular niche for brain tumor stem cells. *Cancer Cell* **11**: 69–82. Yuan, X, Hu, J, Belladonna, ML, Black, KL and Yu, JS (2006). Interleukin-23-expressing 29.
- 30. bone marrow-derived neural stem-like cells exhibit antitumor activity against intracranial glioma. Cancer Res 66: 2630–2638.
- Birnbaum, T, Roider, J, Schankin, CJ, Padovan, CS, Schichor, C, Goldbrunner, R et al. (2007). Malignant gliomas actively recruit bone marrow stromal cells by secreting 31
- angiogenic cytokines. J Neurooncol 83: 241–247. Schichor, C, Birnbaum, T, Etminan, N, Schnell, O, Grau, S, Miebach, S et al. (2006). Vascular endothelial growth factor A contributes to glioma-induced migration of human marrow stromal cells (hMSC). *Exp Neurol* **199**: 301–310.
- 33 Abramsson, A. Lindblom, P and Betsholtz, C (2003), Endothelial and nonendothelial sources of PDGF-B regulate pericyte recruitment and influence vascular pattern formation in tumors. *J Clin Invest* **112**: 1142–1151.
- Bergers, G and Song, S (2005). The role of pericytes in blood-vessel formation and maintenance. *Neuro Oncol* **7**: 452–464.
- Chen, J., Zhang, Z.G., Li, Y., Wang, L., Xu, YX, Gautam, SC *et al.* (2003). Intravenous administration of human bone marrow stromal cells induces angiogenesis in the ischemic boundary zone after stroke in rats. Circ Res 92: 692-699
- Lindblom, P, Gerhardt, H, Liebner, S, Abramsson, A, Enge, M, Hellstrom, M et al. (2003). Endothelial PDGF-B retention is required for proper investment of pericytes in 36
- the microvessel wall. Genes Dev 17: 1835–1840. Hamzah, J, Jugold, M, Kiessling, F, Rigby, P, Manzur, M, Marti, HH et al. (2008). Vascular normalization in Rgs5-deficient tumours promotes immune destruction Nature 453: 410-414.
- Xian, X. Hakansson, I. Stahlberg, A. Lindblom, P. Betsholtz, C. Gerhardt, H et al. 38 (2006). Pericytes limit tumor cell metastasis. J Clin Invest 116: 642–651.
 Karnoub, AE, Dash, AB, Vo, AP, Sullivan, A, Brooks, MW, Bell, CW et al. (2007).
- 39. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature **449**: 557–563.
- Sato, H, Kuwashima, N, Sakaida, T, Hatano, M, Dusak, JE, Fellows-Mayle, WK et al. (2005). Epidermal growth factor receptor-transfected bone marrow stromal cells 40 Coop, Epotemia governmeet receptor Human Products John March Receptor Hum
- isografts. Cancer Immunol Immunother 37: 67-74.
- Bexell, D, Gunnarsson, S, Nordquist, J and Bengzon, J (2007). Characterization of the subventricular zone neurogenic response to rat malignant brain tumors. Neuroscience 147: 824-832

Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells act as pericyte-like migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas

Supplementary Information: Supplementary Materials and Methods

Tumor cell lines and culture

The cells were maintained in R10 medium, consisting of: RPMI 1640 medium (1X) with L-glutamine supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (VWR, West Grove, PA), 10 mM HEPES buffer solution, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 50 μ g/ml gentamicin (all chemicals except FCS from GIBCO, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). R10 medium was changed every 2-3 days and cells were passaged about twice a week and detached using trypsin-EDTA (0.25% trypsin with EDTA 4Na) 1X (Invitrogen). Cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 6.0% CO₂. Cells were kept in culture for a maximum of 6 weeks. Before inoculation *in vivo*, cells were washed and resuspended in medium without FBS and gentamicin (referred to as R0 medium). Cells were counted and resuspended in a volume corresponding to the target concentration.

DsRed2-labeling of N29 tumor cells

At 80% confluency, N29 tumor cells were transduced in R10 medium at different multiplicity of infection (MOI), from MOI=1 to 10, with a Moloney leukemia-derived viral vector encoding the Discosoma red fluorescent protein (DsRed2) under control of the viral promoter and a splicing acceptor sequence (pCMMP-IRES2Dsred2-WPRE). Protamine sulfate was added to the medium to increase the transduction efficiency (4 μ g/ml, Sigma). Cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 6.0% CO₂. The day after addition of viral vector, tumor cells started to express the fluorescent protein DsRed2. Transduced cells were then purified through single cell cloning. Cells were counted and diluted to obtain concentrations of 5 cells and 0.5 cells/200 μ l R10 medium per well in 96-well plates. An incubation period for 10 days followed in order for colonies to form. DsRed2 positive colonies formed from single cells were washed with PBS, trypsinated, resuspended in R10 medium and collected in a 6-well plate. After a few days, when the cells had reached a higher confluence, cells were transferred to a T25 flask in 5 ml R10 medium. Single cell cloning resulted in a DsRed2 expression *in vitro* of 98% as analyzed by flow cytometry.

eGFP retroviral production and transduction of MSCs

The Moloney leukemia retroviral vector pCMMP-IRES2eGFP-WPRE used in this study has been described elsewhere^{1, 2} The viral vector is replication incompetent due to both a deletion mutation in its 3' long term repeat region and a lack of genes that are vital for its replication: *gag, pol* and *env*. The retrovirus backbone contains the following elements: a 5' long terminal repeat (LTR) sequence, a downstream splicing acceptor sequence, which, together with the LTR drive the expression of the enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) reporter gene, an internal ribosomal entry sequence, upstream to the eGFP reporter sequence and woodchuck hepatitis virus post-transcriptional regulatory sequences. The viral particles were produced as described using the producer cell line 293VSVG³. Concentrated particles were resuspended into 0.5 ml of DMEM medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The titer was measured by FACSCalibur analysis, based on eGFP reporter gene expression, 3 days after infection of the HT1080 cells and varied from $0.7x10^9$ to $1.2x10^9$ TU/ml depending on the batches. When at 60-70% confluency, MSCs were transduced at a multiplicity of infection of 5. To increase transduction efficiency, protamine sulfate was added to the medium at a final concentration of 1µg/ml (Sigma).

MSC isolation and culture

MSC cultures were derived from the Fischer344 male rat bone marrow (8 weeks old). The animal was deeply anaesthetized with Isoflurane (2,5% in O_2 , Forene, Abbott Scandinavia AB, Solna, Sweden), sacrificed and femur was dissected and adherent tissue removed. The marrow cavity was flushed with PBS supplemented with 2% FBS (GIBCO). MSCs were generated by adherent culture of Ficoll-isolated nucleated bone marrow cells in NH expansion medium (Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) or minimum essential medium-alpha supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic-Solution(Sigma). Non-adherent cells were removed after three days and culture medium was changed weekly thereafter. Cells were passaged at 80-90% confluency.

MSC differentiation potential was assessed using 2nd passage MSCs. Adipogenic differentiation was induced by supplementation of MSC cultures with 10% adipogenic stimulatory supplements (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada). The differentiation medium was changed every third day. After two weeks, the cells were fixed with 10% formalin, and stained with fresh Oil-red-O solution (Sigma)⁴. Osteogenic differentiation was induced by incubating the cells with medium supplemented with 0.1 μ M dexamethasone (Sigma), 0.05 mM ascorbic acid-2-phosphate (Wako, Osaka, Japan), and 10 mM β -glycerophosphate (Sigma). Medium was changed every third day for two weeks. Cultures were washed with PBS, fixed in ice-cold 70% ethanol for 1h, and stained for 10 min with 40 mM Alizarin red (Sigma)⁵.

Immunocytochemistry of MSCs

Cultured MSCs were harvested and transferred to multi-chamber culture slides (BD Bioscience, Franklin Lakes, NJ) four days before immunocytochemistry. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 30 min, and permeabilized using 0.3% Triton X-100 for 5 min. The cells were blocked with 5% NGS for 20 min and incubated with the primary antibodies; chicken anti-GFP (1:2000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA), mouse anti-rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA), (1:100, Serotec, Oxford, UK), mouse anti-neuron-glia 2 (NG2), (1:500, Chemicon), rabbit anti- α smooth muscle actin (α -sma), (1:400, Abcam, Cambridge, U.K) and rabbit anti-platelet derived growth factor (PDGF)- receptor- β , (1:100, Abcam) for 2.5 hours at 37°C. The cells were washed in PBS and incubated with the secondary antibodies Alexa488 goat anti-chicken (Molecular Probes, Eugene, Oregon) and either Alexa594 goat anti-rabbit (Probes) or Alexa594 goat anti-mouse (Probes) for 30 min at 37°C. The chamber-slides were mounted wet using Pro-Long Gold anti-fading reagent (Probes) with nuclear staining (DAPI). Omission of primary antibodies was used as negative control.

References for Supplementary Information

1. Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Nordquist J, Bengzon J. Characterization of the subventricular zone neurogenic response to rat malignant brain tumors. Neuroscience. Jul 13 2007;147(3):824-832.

2. Roybon L, Hjalt T, Christophersen NS, Li JY, Brundin P. Effects on differentiation of embryonic ventral midbrain progenitors by Lmx1a, Msx1, Ngn2, and Pitx3. J Neurosci. Apr 2 2008;28(14):3644-3656.

3. Ory DS, Neugeboren BA, Mulligan RC. A stable human-derived packaging cell line for production of high titer retrovirus/vesicular stomatitis virus G pseudotypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. Oct 15 1996;93(21):11400-11406.

4. Nakamura K, Ito Y, Kawano Y, Kurozumi K, Kobune M, Tsuda H, et al. Antitumor effect of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells in a rat glioma model. Gene Ther. Jul 2004;11(14):1155-1164.

5. Colter DC, Sekiya I, Prockop DJ. Identification of a subpopulation of rapidly self-renewing and multipotential adult stem cells in colonies of human marrow stromal cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. Jul 3 2001;98(14):7841-7845.